ZNENIrOIESdth =

D% / \ —_—
IFRMESEBEGRAT
Zhenro Properties Group Limited
(REASAREEMRINERAR )

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
5K 8% Stock Code : 6158
e |

ANNUAL REPORT

2024
= 35

JiiNEEREEEE

AEEEEEEEEER

/A E IAEER iEH i

EEE
- =






Hi Contents

A

a2l

£

TR A i B

- b i

AR B R

EREEREE
o SRR &
P8 37 A% R
ek
5 AT W AT R
B B AIK OL&
BRo MEdn B R
GeBlafiER
S5 i 2 B 5
T4 B 75 A

Corporate Information

Chairman’s Statement

Management Discussion and Analysis

Land Bank

Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management
Directors’ Report

Corporate Governance Report

Independent Auditor’s Report

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to Financial Statements

Five Years’ Financial Summary

28

42

48

73

93

97

98

99

102

103

107

260



NEEF

CORPORATE INFORMATION

EHG
WiTES
BRI S 2L ()
2 Sk

FHHATES

R ) e 4 A=

(A Z=F _HF—H £ HEFAT)
B EHfTE R
e v ARfE

(B =& 4+ — H =+— H#EHT)
F AT A
A e A
o ik A 2 &=

(B =ZFpgEf—H=+—H

JEZAT)

EHREEG

e VA MK T A ()
(H ~F _FE+—H=+—HE#FT)
M vk B o £ ()
(= FEZpWFE+ ZH=1—HiE&
JEZT)
R ) A 4 A=
(F =2 H4F—H £ HEFAT)
AT e A
A e A
(A =FZ#HF—H L HEHEZE)

RHUZHRE

PR ST ()
EMHFEAE
it B 56 R

HMEZE e

EAH e ()
B se ek
it B e

Wk B > ) B

okt 358 i e AR
&k 46 ¥ 4 1 (FCG, HKFCG)

EFRMEREERAT
02 zhenro Properties Group Limited

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. LIU Weiliang (Chairman)
Mr. LI Yang

Non-executive Director

Mr. OU Guowei
(resigned with effect from 17 January 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. LOKE Yu (alias LOKE Hoi Lam)
(resigned with eftect from 31 December 2024)
Mr. WANG Chuanxu
M:r. XIE Jun
Ms. YANG Yongyi
(appointed with effect from 31 December 2024)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Dr. LOKE Yu (alias LOKE Hoi Lam) (Chairman)
(resigned with effect from 31 December 2024)
Ms. YANG Yongyi (Chairman)
(appointed with effect from 31 December 2024)

Mr. OU Guowei

(resigned with eftect from 17 January 2025)
Mr. WANG Chuanxu
Mzr. XIE Jun

(appointed with eftect from 17 January 2025)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. LIU Weiliang (Chairman)
Mr. WANG Chuanxu
Mr. XIE Jun

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. WANG Chuanxu (Chairman)
Mr. LIU Weiliang
Mr. XIE Jun

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. CHAN King Tak
Ms. KWONG Yin Ping, Yvonne (FCG, HKFCG)
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AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Ms. KWONG Yin Ping, Yvonne
Mr. LIU Weiliang

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.zhenrodc.com

STOCK CODE
06158

CAYMAN ISLANDS REGISTERED OFFICE,
PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER AGENT

Walkers Corporate Limited
190 Elgin Avenue, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-9008, Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong

HEAD OFFICE IN THE PRC

3/F, Building 7, Hongqiao Zhenro Center
666 Shenhong Road, Minhang District, Shanghai, PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 3201, 32/F, China Resources Building
No. 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
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Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, I hereby present to you the results and business
review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 and its outlook
for 2025.

RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue of the Group was
RMB33,416.9 million; the loss was RMB7,539.0 million; and the loss
attributable to owners of the parent was RMB6,829.8 million. The Board
did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2024.

MARKET AND BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, China’s real estate sector remained in a phase of deep adjustment.
Key indicators such as national real estate development investment, newly
started construction area, and sales area of newly built commercial housing
continued to decline, residents’ willingness to purchase houses remained
weak, and real estate companies were under huge operational pressures.
However, since September 2024, on the basis of previous supportive
policies, the meeting of the Political Bureau of the Central Committee
proposed the goal of “promoting the stabilization and recovery of the real
estate market”. Governments at all levels have further implemented multi-
dimensional policy measures to effectively stabilize the market, bringing

hope for the industry’s steady recovery.

Over the past year, amid severe circumstances, the Group’s operations and
liquidity were significantly impacted. In the face of numerous pressures
and challenges, the Group braved difficulties, maintained overall
operational stability, ensured orderly progress in production and
construction, and achieved breakthroughs in some key and challenging
projects. The Group prioritized “ensuring delivery” as a core mission, and
approximately 26,900 new homes were delivered in 2024. Committed to
providing high-quality products and services to meet customer needs, the
Group also bolstered customers’ confidence and established corporate
reputation. In the “Report of Housing Satisfaction of Urban Residents in
China in 2024” released by China Index Academy, the Group’s customer

satisfaction score was significantly higher than the industry average.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Meanwhile, in order to address liquidity issues, the Group has continued to
implement liquidity management and cost saving measures since 2022 and
2023, including seeking financing extension and exemption, accelerating
sales and cash collection, further streamlining the corporate organisational
structure, and significantly reducing administrative expenses. The Group
has been actively working with its legal advisor and financial advisers on
its offshore holistic liability management solutions to assist it with a
holistic restructuring of its offshore indebtedness, in order to achieve a
long-term sustainable capital structure and stabilise the Group’s operations,

taking into account the interest of all stakeholders.

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead to 2025, China’s real estate industry will continue to move
forward in difficulties. The Group will brave difficulties by actively seeking
new growth opportunities while striving to maintain operational stability,
so as to drive the long-term development of the Company. At the end of
2024, the meeting of the Political Bureau of the Central Committee
further proposed “stabilizing the property market”, and the Central
Economic Work Conference once again emphasized “continuous efforts to
promote the stabilization and recovery of the real estate market”, releasing
an even more resolute tone for stabilizing the PRC property market. The
Group will seize the opportunity from the recovery of the economy and the
real estate market by increasing marketing efforts and improving the sales
quality, so as to further improve the outcome of asset value recovery. The
Group will continue to adhere to the operating principles of “safety, health,
and sustainability”, strengthen financial risk management, optimise asset
structure and strictly control operating costs to ensure the financial
stability the Group. In addition, the Group will continue to improve
product and service quality to win customer favor. The Group will also
continue to enhance its internal management system and operational
efficiency to improve business quality, thereby promoting its sustainable

development.
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APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, I would like to express our sincere
appreciation to all shareholders, investors, business partners and customers
for their support, and all employees for their dedication and hard work.
The Company will continue to uphold our core value of “prosperity from
integrity” and achieve stable and sustainable development while bringing

value to shareholders, investors and other stakeholders of the Company.

Zhenro Properties Group Limited
LIU Weiliang
Chairman of the Board

Shanghai, PRC
28 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

Contracted Sales

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (“Year 2024”), the Group, together
with its joint ventures and associated companies, recorded contracted sales
of RMB6,729.0 million, representing a 56.3% year-over-year decrease from
the year ended 31 December 2023 (“Year 2023”); total contracted gross
floor area (“GFA”) sold amounted to approximately 458,886 million
sq.m., representing a 55.3% vyear-over-year decrease from Year 2023.
Contracted average selling price (“ASP”) for Year 2024 was RMB14,664
per sq.m., whilst that for Year 2023 was RMB14,986 per sq.m.

The following table sets forth the geographic breakdown of the contracted
sales of the Group, together with its joint ventures and associated

companies, in Year 2024.

aRHEE GHAHE GHFH S8

4% T B & 1H Aok

% of

Contracted  Contracted Contracted Contracted

GFA Sold Sales ASP Sales

AR ¥~

Pk ARMET T 75 ok %

sq.m. RMB’000 RMB/sq.m. %

R=MAH Yangtze River Delta Region 205,017 3,026,088 14,760 45.0

T IR 7Y R Hb [ Western Taiwan Straits Region 105,502 1,717,511 16,279 25.5

Tt i 1 b L Bohai Rim Region 17,014 373,362 21,944 5.5

e H 3l [ Central China Region 65,377 647,502 9,904 9.6

3 P ;b [ Western China Region 7,996 137,765 17,230 2.0

TR = £ b Pearl River Delta Region 57,980 826,762 14,259 12.4

#a 5t Total 458,886 6,729,990 14,664 100.0
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Revenue Recognized from Sales of Properties

Revenue recognized from sales of properties decreased by 13.8% from
RMB38,648.3 million for Year 2023 to RMB33,331.1 million for Year
2024, primarily due to a decrease in GFA being delivered. The Group’s
recognized ASP from sales of properties for Year 2024 was RMB17,340 per
sq.m., representing a 12.4% increase from RMB15,433 per sq.m. for Year
2023, primarily due to the increase in the proportion of properties with
higher selling price being delivered in Year 2024.

During Year 2024, the properties delivered by the Group included Fuzhou
Riverview Zhenro Mansion, Suzhou Poly Zhenro Oriental Mansion, Fuyang
Yingzhou Zhenro Mansion, Foshan Jinmao Country Garden Zhenro
Mansion, Xiamen Lianfa Zhenro Mansion and others.

The following table sets forth the geographic breakdown of the revenue

recognized from sales of properties of the Group for the years indicated:

20,405,330 1,156,372 17,646
8,297,508 570,774 14,537
6,184,660 482,727 12,812
3,760,833 294,372 12,776

2,504,245

Completed properties held for sale represent completed properties

38,648,331

Completed Properties Held for Sale

remaining unsold at the end of each financial period and are stated at the
lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost of properties held for sale is
determined by an apportionment of related costs incurred attributable to
the unsold properties.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had completed properties held for sale
of RMB29,483.4 million, representing a 1.0% decrease from
RMB29,801.2 million as at 31 December 2023. The decrease was
primarily due to a decrease in GFA for completed properties by the Group
in Year 2024. The Group has obtained the construction completion

certificates in respect of all completed properties held for sale.

Properties Under Development

Properties under development are properties intended to be held for sale
after completion. Properties under development are stated at the lower of
cost comprising land costs, construction costs, capitalized interests and
other costs directly attributable to such properties incurred during the
development period and net realizable value. Upon completion, the

properties are transferred to completed properties held for sale.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had properties under development of
RMB33,373.4 million, representing a 48.2% decrease from RMB64,430.2
million as at 31 December 2023. The decrease was primarily due to an
increase in completed properties and a decrease in the number of projects
developed by the Group in Year 2024.

PROPERTY INVESTMENT

Rental Income

The Group’s rental income for Year 2024 was RMB76.5 million,
representing a 1.4% decrease from RMB77.5 million for Year 2023. Rental
income in Year 2024 fell due to poor overall market conditions.

Investment Properties

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 11 investment properties with a
total GFA of 684,476 sq.m. Out of the investment properties portfolio of
the Group, eight investment properties with a total GFA of 429,429 sq.m.

had commenced leasing.
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TR TR R R AR OR A A TS AT AT In Year 2024, the Group did not replenish any land parcel. As at 31
T mMEEZ_WAES A =+ — December 2024, the Group, together with its joint ventures and associated

H o> AL B[R G 8 S R E S w B companies, had a land bank with an aggregate GFA of 9.95 million sq.m.
I TR COMNEI: e Sy N i o

fAG -
4 % Bl g FINANCIAL REVIEW
‘[5( Foa Revenue

AEEMP G S - F D =FEN AR The Group’s revenue decreased by 13.8% from RMB38,774.9 million for
38,7749 H G P 13.8% F & " U 4E Year 2023 to RMB33,416.9 million for Year 2024, which was primarily
N ¥E33416.9H o0 - 22 Bk attributable to a decrease in GFA being delivered. The following table sets
ZEAT R S BT D o T R WA A forth the Group’s revenue for each of the components, the percentage of
JIT 7 AR JEE A% AELISCETE 20 B AR A AR U AR total revenue represented and the relevant changes for the years indicated.
97 EL R AR B S )

LBk Sales of properties 38,648,331 99.7 (13.9)
/e~y Property lease 77,529 0.2 (1.4)
B AL R Management consulting

services 42,851 0.1 (78.2)
SR Sales of goods 6,224 0.0 (100.0)
At Total 38,774,935 100.0 (13.9)
B i - Note:
@ EE B rﬁ] & % A3 BB~ A LR (1) Primarily includes revenue generated from provision of design consultation services to

=7 g aa ah A s BT A9 WA o joint ventures, associated companies and third parties.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Cost of Sales

The Group’s cost of sales primarily represents the costs directly incurred for
the property development activities as well as leasing operations and
management consulting services. The principal components of cost of sales
for property development include cost of properties sold, which represents
direct construction costs, land use right costs and capitalized interest costs
on related borrowings for the purpose of property development during the

period of construction.

The Group’s cost of sales decreased by 14.1% from RMB36,596.2 million
for Year 2023 to RMB31,453.1 million for Year 2024, primarily due to a
decrease in GFA being delivered by the Group during Year 2024.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s gross profit decreased by 9.9%
from RMB2,178.7 million for Year 2023 to RMB1,963.8 million for Year
2024. Gross profit margin for Year 2024 increased by 0.3 percentage point
t0 5.9% from 5.6% for Year 2023.

Other Income and Gains

The Group’s other income and gains primarily consist of interest income,
government grants, commercial compensation and others. Interest income
primarily consists of interest income on bank deposits. Commercial
compensation primarily represents forfeited deposits received from certain
potential customers who did not subsequently enter into sales contracts
with the Group and penalties received from certain customers due to their

breach of sales or pre-sales contracts.

Other income and gains decreased by 62.8% from RMB82.2 million for
Year 2023 to RMB30.6 million for Year 2024, primarily due to the
decrease in interest income, forfeiture of deposits and government grants
during Year 2024.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses primarily consist of advertising,
marketing and business development expenses, sales and marketing staff
costs, office expenses, fees paid to third-party sales agents, rental and other

expenses relating to sales of properties and property leasing services.

BT FFRK

Annual Report 2024 17



=R S

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

A A B B R AT BB S R =
JE RN R ¥o23.0H &t D 13.6% E
FOEENARKI73AE L £ 8
JE E R A A A D AT B R K
A3 1 BE SO0 5 R 4 A0 B K 4 B I B K
B A BT I8 BT B o

A7 BB 32

7 BB S0 B AL AE R AT BN B
A BB S WA S g kB S B
TE B B H Al B IH ~ A A - W3 iR
P 8 - B - 2R B S
SRAT T A6 2 B U A — MO O B ST DL R
THBA S -

AEEATER SR O S EFRA
655 ol Bt V4.0 2 —F U
BN R #6205 Bt > EEJEHEZ A
S5 ] R DU AR RS £ A 220 N %
A7 B IE B O A o

At B 32

HABB T hm =% - =SFEEN AR
4,594.6 1 B ILI Y 32.0% 8B K U4 B
MANRM31235sHE L Hp EFEMAH
MR EAE AR Es4sHH T (ZF
AR NR W 160.9H B o0) K IR
EERRIEAAEBFENEE EH
FRCEHER M E R ELFELED
BT AR AR ¥23281H 80
(CF A NR4,375.98 B oC) ©

SREEWEERTFED -4 F
BN ¥ 14264 H B Y 53.4%%E —F
TUOEER N R 6643 H BT ©

Eia s/ EWNREIN il

AL S R A A TREWEL
RS A SR E - 2 AR E
THBREN R, HEDWERERKT
W B EWENTETFE - N _F
AR REE RS EYEATHE
RN R Ms732m Eoc s i & =
FEAHASREMEAFEERARY
644.4 1 & JC °

IERINESEERAT

12 Zhenro Properties Group Limited

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses decreased by 13.6% from
RMB923.0 million for Year 2023 to RMB797.3 million for Year 2024,
primarily due to the enhanced control over selling and distribution
expenses with the overall reduction in sales and marketing campaigns of
the Group during Year 2024.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses primarily consist of management and
administrative staff costs, entertainment expenses, office and meeting
expenses, stamp duties and other taxes, rental costs, depreciation of
property, plant and equipment, professional fees, travelling expenses, bank

charges and other general office expenses and miscellaneous expenses.

The Group’s administrative expenses decreased by 4.0% from RMB655.9
million for Year 2023 to RMB629.5 million for Year 2024, primarily
because the Group streamlined its organizational structure and enhanced

cost control over its administrative items during Year 2024.

Other Expenses

Other expenses decreased by 32.0% from RMB4,594.6 million for Year
2023 to RMB3,123.5 million for Year 2024, which mainly include foreign
exchange loss, net, of RMB54.5 million (Year 2023: RMB160.9 million)
and the impairment losses recognized for properties under development
and completed properties held for sale of RMB2,328.1 million (Year 2023:
RMB4,375.9 million) as a result of a decline in the overall housing demand
and lower selling prices of projects held by the Group.

Impairment losses on financial assets, net, decreased by 53.4% from
RMB1,426.4 million for Year 2023 to RMB664.3 million for Year 2024.

Fair Value Losses on Investment Properties

The Group develops and holds certain commercial properties on a long-
term basis for rental income or capital appreciation. Under the impact of
the unfavourable macro market environment, there was a decrease in the
fair value of investment properties as a result of the decline in demand for
commercial property. For Year 2024, the Group recorded fair value losses
on investment properties of RMB573.2 million, as compared with fair

value losses on investment properties of RMBG644.4 million for Year 2023.
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Finance Costs

Finance costs primarily consist of interest expenses for bank and other
borrowings net of capitalized interest relating to properties under

development.

The Group’s finance costs increased by 44.1% from RMB2,588.9 million
for Year 2023 to RMB3,730.3 million for Year 2024, primarily due to a

lower capitalization rate for interest on borrowings in Year 2024.

Share of Profits of Joint Ventures and Associated Companies

The Group’s share of profits of joint ventures was RMB38.4 million for
Year 2024, compared with the share of losses of RMB28.2 million for Year
2023, primarily due to the increase in the number of properties delivered

by and the increase in profit margin for joint ventures.

The Group’s share of profits of associated companies was RMB116.5
million for Year 2024, compared with the share of losses of RMB149.7
million for Year 2023, primarily due to the increase in the number of
properties delivered by and the increase in profit margin for associated

companies.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense represents corporate income tax (“CIT”) and land

appreciation tax payable by the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC.

The Group’s income tax expense decreased from RMB481.3 million for
Year 2023 to RMB170.3 million for Year 2024, primarily due to a
decrease in the Group’s CIT for Year 2024.

Loss for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s loss for Year 2024 was
RMB7,539.0 million, compared with a loss of RMB9,485.6 million for
Year 2023.

_ B UEFR
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL
RESOURCES

The industry in which the Group engages is a capital-intensive industry.
The Group has met, and expects to continue meeting, its operating capital,
capital expenditure and other capital needs with proceeds from pre-sale and
sale of properties, loans from commercial banks, proceeds from corporate
debts or other securities offerings, and capital injections from shareholders.
The Group’s need for short-term liquid capital is mainly associated with
loan repayments and capital needs for operation, and the Group’s short-
term liquid capital comes from cash balance, proceeds from pre-sale and
sale of properties and new financings. The Group’s need for long-term
liquid capital is associated with capital allocated for new property

development projects and repayment of long-term borrowings.

Cash Positions

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash and bank balances of
RMB3,184.7 million (31 December 2023: RMB5,035.6 million), which
included cash and cash equivalents of RMB1,215.3 million (31 December
2023: RMB1,717.0 million), pledged deposits of RMB63.9 million (31
December 2023: RMB131.4 million) and restricted cash of RMB1,905.5
million (31 December 2023: RMB3,187.3 million).

Indebtedness

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had total outstanding bank and other
borrowings of RMB27,827.9 million (31 December 2023: RMB29,000.5
million), corporate bond with carrying amounts of RMBS5,098.5 million (31
December 2023: RMB4,953.7 million), senior notes with carrying
amounts of RMB24,514.7 million (31 December 2023: RMB24,162.2
million) and senior perpetual capital securities (the “PCS”) with carrying
amounts of RMB1,412.7 million (31 December 2023: RMB1,391.9
million). The Group’s borrowings are denominated in Renminbi, Hong
Kong dollars and US dollars.
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The following table sets forth the Group’s total borrowings as at the dates

A indicated:
wH+-H=+—H
As at 31 December
e ey 13 TR TSR
2024 2023
AR ¥Fii AN BR¥TFor
RMB’000 RMB’000
BV 3 £ Current borrowings:
SRAT R KA R Bank borrowings — secured 216,303 242,189
SRATH KA Bank borrowings — unsecured 484,677 478,877
HAth A KA HEAP Other borrowings — secured 2,620,851 2,674,189
s I B A R R4 ER 23 Plus: current portion of non-current borrowings
SRAT 15 KA HE A Bank borrowings — secured 17,714,212 17,423,140
SRAT i 2K — M4 A7 Bank borrowings — unsecured 1,368,090 1,345,892
HoAl K —F &7 Other borrowings — secured 4,391,716 3,670,561
B2 A FE R Senior notes and Corporate bonds 26,010,730 25,349,985
KA E AR S PCS 1,412,671 1,391,908
B389 i o A Total current borrowings 54,219,250 52,576,741
FE B HA (5 3K Non-current borrowings:
SRAT B A R Bank borrowings — secured 980,650 2,022,481
HoAth A5 KA HE A Other borrowings — secured 51,400 1,143,150
NGIEiE Corporate bonds 3,602,479 3,765,969
FE B[ HA {5 3k A8 4 Total non-current borrowings 4,634,529 6,931,600
Fi Total 58,853,779 59,508,341
_B_MFEFR
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R AL A BT R H R A R AR AR The following table sets forth the maturity profiles of the Group’s total

BB borrowings as at the dates indicated:
BH=HA= R
As at 31 December
e ey 13 TR TSR
2024 2023
AR ¥ T A R ¥F o
RMB’000 RMB’000
ZE — A N Repayable within one year 54,219,250 52,576,741
JEN SR AR N fE R Repayable within the second year 337,050 2,496,231
A Z 2 AR R E R Repayable within the third to fifth years 4,297,479 4,435,369
At Total 58,853,779 59,508,341
& E fk Charge on Assets

T FEONEF A=t H o AR As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s asset portfolio which included
& A S B IR A N R 200.8 property, plant and equipment with carrying value of RMB209.8 million (31
B CEF =+ HA=+—H: A December 2023: RMB192.9 million), right-of-use assets with carrying
R ¥1929F 8 0) W - B Mkt - value of RMB156.9 million (31 December 2023: RMB165.8 million),
WRmE(E A AN RE1s690F Bom (% = investment properties with carrying value of approximately RMBS5,826.0
F+-A=+—H: AR¥1658H # million (31 December 2023: RMBG6,277.3 million), properties under
JC) W R E - IR E A A NR W development with carrying value of RMB19,887.7 million (31 December

58260 H Wt (—E =+ _H=+— 2023: RMB33,019.5 million) and completed properties held for sale with
H: ARW62773 0 #T) MIKEY % - carrying value of RMB22,500.3 million (31 December 2023:
W T A N 19,8877 H B T (R RMB11,260.9 million) were pledged as security for the Group’s secured

“HFEFT A=+ —H: ARW¥33,0195H borrowings.
Bon) MY ERRRES AR

225003 H BL(ZE AR =0

—H: NR¥11,260.9F & J0) 1 1 H

B LIYE ZEEHAFCHEMN

Fy A% 2 T AT KA K K
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FINANCIAL RISKS

The Group primarily operates its business in the PRC. The currency in
which the Group denominates and settles substantially all of its
transactions is Renminbi. Any depreciation of Renminbi would adversely
affect the value of any dividends the Group pays to shareholders outside of
the PRC. The Group had cash at banks denominated in foreign currencies,
which exposed the Group to foreign exchange risk. The Group currently
does not engage in hedging activities designed or intended to manage
foreign exchange rate risk. The Group will continue to monitor foreign
exchange changes to best preserve the Group’s cash value. The Group is
also exposed to interest rate risk for changes in market interest rates which
would have impact on the Group’s bank and other borrowings. The Group
currently does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge interest
rate risk.

In Year 2024, pre-sale of properties by Chinese property developers
continued to decrease and financing continued to be difficult, which had
adversely impacted the Group’s ability to obtain financing from the capital
markets and other sources, and significantly curtailed the funding available
to the Group to address its upcoming debt maturities. The Group has
implemented a wide range of liquidity management and cost saving
measures including without limitation, seeking extensions and waivers
regarding its financings, seeking disposal of assets, accelerating sales and
cash collection, streamlining corporate structure, as well as reducing non-
core business operations and administrative expenses so long as such
measures do not affect the Group’s delivery efforts and normal operations.
The Company has also commenced the implementation of its holistic
management solutions for its offshore indebtedness (the “Offshore
Holistic Liability Management Solutions”).

KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS

The Group’s current ratio was 0.88 as at 31 December 2024 (31 December
2023: 0.97). The Group’s net gearing ratio (defined as total borrowings
less cash and bank balances divided by total equity) was —2,441.9% as at
31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: 885.5%).

BT FFRK

Annual Report 2024 17



=R S

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o 2% 1R
% 48 5 IR

AL W AT R T AL B K F R
HHRMEHER UBZEEFNE
BB AT A h 4 08 o $ 45 5 R R 2t A B
Kz B AR T IR
fREROMB S R A ERR S TEE
B (i) B 7 &6 1 19 48 B o fiM B R X 8%
18 B> A 4R B — MR o A 4 4R B
B 7 3 1] AR B 4 3 o il R RE A &
1B B TR RAT M AN B A 26 T
AR R B R T R A 1L T E B 6 P 1S
AR AR o B AR AR T SO R

B oFEWEF H=+—H AEMH
WA R MRS 4G T AR F R K
7 1] L 46 9 £ i A O K BR B
F N W 19,7602 H o6 (& = = 4F
A=+ —H AR¥292105H #T) -

R AN 4R 1) 4 0 L T 4R Ik 9
BEHENE FELS AR EAREEN
LU INRUAS G = i A iy N A |
o

i

Al 4 i % 1R

WoFEWFEF A= —H AEH
T ) B s R B — AR = B KT
SRAT S A AR L IE R A N R K
27605 H BTG (ZE T ZAE T =+ —
H: ANR¥2886.9H L) o

e R A

A AR AT RE AN BRE R HOH SRS AR = W
ARk AR AR o AL S '
EARGE A ZEEERFELENA
(CENEE R S NINE SO 7 F N
BRBENER AR L -

IERINESEERAT

18 zhenro Properties Group Limited

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Mortgage Guarantees

The Group provides mortgage guarantees to banks in respect of the
mortgage loans they provided to the Group’s customers in order to secure
the repayment obligations of such customers. The mortgage guarantees are
issued from the date of grant of the relevant mortgage loans and released
upon the earlier of (i) the transfer of the relevant real estate ownership
certificates to the customers, or (ii) the settlement of mortgage loans by the
customers. If a purchaser defaults on the mortgage loan, the Group is
typically required to repurchase the underlying property by paying off the
mortgage loan. If it fails to do so, the mortgagee banks will auction the
underlying property and recover the balance from the Group if the

outstanding loan amount exceeds the net foreclosure sale proceeds.

As at 31 December 2024, the material contingent liabilities incurred for
the Group’s provision of guarantees to financial institutions in respect of
the mortgage loans they provided to the Group’s customers were
RMB19,760.2 million (31 December 2023: RMB29,210.5 million).

The Directors confirm that the Group has not encountered defaults by
purchasers in which it provided mortgage guarantees that, in aggregate,
had a material adverse effect on the financial condition and results of
operations of the Group.

Other Financial Guarantees

As at 31 December 2024, the guarantees given to banks and other
institutions in connection with borrowings made to the related companies
and a third party by the Group were RMB2,760.5 million (31 December
2023: RMB2,886.9 million).

Legal Contingents

The Group may be involved in lawsuits and other proceedings in its
ordinary course of business from time to time. The Group considers that as
at the date of this report, no liabilities resulting from these proceedings
will have a material adverse effect on business, financial condition or results

of operations of the Group.
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Commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s capital commitment contracted but
yet provided for was RMB7,955.2 million (31 December 2023:
RMB9,329.1 million).

OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS AND
ARRANGEMENTS

Except for the contingent liabilities disclosed above and the matters
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto, as
at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any outstanding loan capital
issued or agreed to be issued, bank overdrafts, loans, debt securities,
borrowings or other similar indebtedness, liabilities under acceptances (other
than normal trade bills), acceptance credits, debentures, mortgages,
charges, finance leases or hire purchase commitments, guarantees or other

material contingent liabilities.

NON-PAYMENT OF PRINCIPAL, INTEREST
AND/OR DISTRIBUTION OF CERTAIN SENIOR
NOTES AND PCS

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated 10 April
2022, 31 May 2022, 30 June 2022, 3 August 2022, 30 August 2022, 9
November 2022, 12 December 2022, 6 March 2023, 14 March 2023, 31
March 2023, 5 May 2023, 15 September 2023, 6 March 2024, 12 April
2024, 10 September 2024 and 4 February 2025.
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Description of Debt Securities

As at the date of this report, the Company had not made payment of the
outstanding principal and/or the accrued distribution and/or the accrued
interest that were due for the securities as set out in the following table:

S AHE B

Payment Status

SR TAHEANHBMAE R 7.125% R EE
(= ARWEE)

7.125% Senior Notes due June 2022
(the “2021 RMB Notes™)

E AR H BIAE 5 .98% 1Y B S AR
(ZZZENAER]D

5.98% Senior Notes due April 2022
(the “April 2021 Notes”)

*i44$ﬂﬁﬂ%$ \8.39% H B S5 S 4
(r= — 5‘3 /N H 7~ %J

8.3% Senior Notes due September 2023
(the “June 2020 Notes”)

TR PR = H B4 R 8.35% M 1B e R
([ZZ_ZFHERHAFERED
8.35% Senior Notes due March 2024
(the “May 2020 Notes”)

SR PUAEI F B AE R 7.875% 1 B SR AR
((ZFFE-HAFERED
7.875% Senior Notes due April 2024
(the “January 2020 Notes”)

SR TVAE L B AR 719 0 1B SR SR
(ZEZZ—FEANHEE)
7.1% Senior Notes due September 2024
(the “June 2021 Notes”)

TR THAET A BB E7.35% 08 e R
(ZRZFELAER]D
7.35% Senior Notes due February 2025
(the “September 2020 Notes”)

“EREAAR AP R 9.15% 1 B E g
(ZZ—hE+—AREE)

9.15% Senior Notes due May 2023
(the “November 2019 Notes”)

IERINESEERAT
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T ST B R A AR 4 N R 510,020,000 I8 K HE A A S

Did not make payment for outstanding principal of RMB10,020,000

and accrued interest that were due

R SCA B R AR R AR 4223,361,000 9 78 K
JRE Ao F1]JE.
Did not make payment for outstanding principal of US$23,361,000

and accrued interest that were due
7 32 A #]  oR 8 8 AR 42 200,000,000 32 TT % ME A F S

Did not make payment for outstanding principal of US$200,000,000

and accrued interest that were due
7 324 # 1 R E 12 AR 42 200,000,000 32 TT K ME A F] S

Did not make payment for outstanding principal of US$200,000,000

and accrued interest that were due
I AT E 0 R R AR 4 290,000,000 3 TC B RE A F B

Did not make payment for outstanding principal of US$290,000,000

and accrued interest that were due
7 3 A 3] A R 22 AR 42 340,000,000 35 7T % JE A5 I B

Did not make payment for outstanding principal of US$340,000,000

and accrued interest that were due
A AT A R 32 AR 42 350,000,000 35 7T K M A IS

Did not make payment for outstanding principal of US$350,000,000

and accrued interest that were due
IR AT B SR A5 7R AR 42 300,000,000 3 G B2 E A F S

Did not make payment for outstanding principal of US$300,000,000

and accrued interest that were due
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3 B

Payment Status

TR THENA BB 7% B R
((ZZ—-RE+ARRE)

8.7% Senior Notes due August 2022
(the “October 2019 Notes”)

TERTRFE— A RHE B 6.63% M BEE R
([ZZ 8 —-HER)D

6.63% Senior Notes due January 2026
(the “January 2021 Notes”)

TR TNFENH BB 6.7% 1 R
(= FEHFERED

6.7% Senior Notes due August 2026
(the “February 2021 Notes”)

“ER A BE R 6.50% 1Y B e E %
(R IUAER]D

6.50% Senior Notes due September 2022
(the “September 2021 Notes”)

PCS

TR TSR H A R 8.09% 1 58 B
(R = FERE]D

8.0% Senior Notes due March 2023
(the “March 2022 Notes”)

TR AR = H P AR R 809 1 1 58 S
(2R ZHE=ZAAR¥ER)D

8.0% Senior Notes due March 2023
(the “March 2022 RMB Notes”)

R STAT 2 R A2 AR 429,777,000 35 7T K JE A+ 1B

Did not make payment for outstanding principal of US$29,777,000

and accrued interest that were due
& AT EI] 1A A RS

Did not make payment for accrued interest that were due

RS AT EI 9 A AL

Did not make payment for accrued interest that were due

AT B A 22 AR 431,239,000 35 o0 K REAS A B

Did not make payment for outstanding principal of US$31,239,000

and accrued interest that were due

A AT B A AE R AR 4 200,000,000 3 5T K ME AT 43 IR
Did not make payment for outstanding principal of US$200,000,000

and accrued distribution that were due
T AT B R 1E 3R AR 42 728,623,000 3 76 K JE A ) B,

Did not make payment for outstanding principal of US$728,623,000

and accrued interest that were due
T AT B R AR AR A N R 0 1,589,980,000 76 K JE A+ A1 B

Did not make payment for outstanding principal of
RMB1,589,980,000 and accrued interest that were due
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2021 RMB Notes, April 2021 Notes, October 2019 Notes and September
2021 Notes: Failure to pay the outstanding principal at maturity, and
accrued interest upon expiration of the 30-day grace period, both
constituted events of default under the 2021 RMB Notes, the April 2021
Notes, the October 2019 Notes and the September 2021 Notes. However,
the non-payment under the respective senior notes has not triggered, and
will not trigger, any cross-default under the terms of other senior notes and
the PCS issued by the Company.

June 2020 Notes, May 2020 Notes, January 2020 Notes, June 2021 Notes,
September 2020 Notes, November 2019 Notes, January 2021 Notes,
February 2021 Notes, the PCS, March 2022 Notes and March 2022 RMB
Notes: Failure to pay the outstanding principal at maturity, and accrued
distribution and/or accrued interest upon expiration of the respective grace
periods, both constituted events of default under the PCS and respective
senior notes (as the case may be). If an event of default has occurred (such as
30-day grace period lapses) and is continuing, the trustee or holders of at
least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the PCS and/or relevant senior
notes then outstanding may, by written notice to the Company and to the
trustee, declare the principal of, premium, if any, and accrued and unpaid
distribution and/or interest on the relevant PCS and senior notes to be
immediately due and payable (the “Acceleration Notice”). As at 31
December 2024 and up to the date of approval of this report, the Company
has not received any Acceleration Notice as a result of the non-payment

under the respective PCS and/or senior notes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THE OFFSHORE HOLISTIC LIABILITY
MANAGEMENT SOLUTIONS

References are made to the announcements (collectively, the
“Announcements”) of the Company dated 30 August 2022, 9 November
2022, 12 December 2022, 6 March 2023, 14 March 2023, 31 March
2023, 5 May 2023, 10 August 2023, 15 September 2023, 1 November
2023, 2 January 2024, 24 January 2024, 31 January 2024, 6 March 2024,
11 April 2024, 2 July 2024, 15 July 2024, 29 July 2024, 9 August 2024,
12 August 2024, 16 August 2024, 22 August 2024, 30 August 2024, 6
September 2024, 13 September 2024, 19 September 2024, 31 October
2024, 28 November 2024 and 2 January 2025.

The Company and its advisors will continue to engage in discussions with
various stakeholders and endeavour to achieve the holistic restructuring of
the offshore debts of the Company that safeguards stakeholders’ interests
and ensures fair treatment of all applicable creditors. The Company is
grateful for the broad-based support of its creditors for their continuing

support and engagement with the Company during the process.

The Company will make further announcement(s) on the progress of the

Offshore Holistic Liability Management Solutions as and when appropriate.

DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT
VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES

During Year 2024, there was no material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates by the Company.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE
GROUP

During Year 2024, there was no significant investment held by the Group.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group currently has no plan to make any significant investment or

acquisition of capital assets.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

During Year 2024, the Group had an average number of 927 employees
(Year 2023: average 1,549 employees).

The Group recruits skilled and qualified personnel in local markets
through various channels, such as recruiting firms, internal referrals and
advertisement on the Internet. The Group values employees who
demonstrate loyalty to their work and who values corporate culture, as well
as those with relevant working experience. The Group’s future
development, to a considerable extent, depends on its ability to identify,
hire, train and retain suitable employees, including management personnel,
with relevant professional skills. Therefore, the Group has established
systematic training programs for employees based on their positions and

expertise.

The Group enters into labor contracts with all employees and offers
employees competitive remuneration packages that include basic salaries,
discretionary bonuses and performance-based payments. The Company has

also adopted a share option scheme.

Under the applicable PRC laws and regulations, the Group is subject to
social insurance contribution plans. The Group also participates in a
pension scheme under the rules and regulations of the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for all
employees in Hong Kong.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Save for the matters as disclosed under the section headed “THE
OFFSHORE HOLISTIC LIABILITY MANAGEMENT SOLUTIONS”
above, no material events were undertaken by the Group subsequent to 31
December 2024 and up to the date of this report.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated 5 July
2019, 7 August 2020 and 29 September 2020.

In July 2019, pursuant to a facility agreement (the “2019 Facility
Agreement”) entered into between, among others, the Company as
borrower, certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company as original
guarantors, Hang Seng Bank Limited, China Minsheng Banking Corp.,
Ltd., Hong Kong Branch, The Bank of East Asia, Limited, Goldman Sachs
(Asia) L.L.C. and BNP Paribas, acting through its Hong Kong Branch,
collectively as original lenders, dual-currency term loan facilities in the
amount of HK$234,000,000 and US$90,000,000 (totaling approximately
US$120,000,000) (the “2019 Loan Facilities”, each a “2019 Loan
Facility”) were made available to the Company for a term of 36 months
from the date of the 2019 Facility Agreement.

As provided in the 2019 Facility Agreement, if Mr. OU Zongrong, Mr.
OU Guogiang and Mr. OU Guowei collectively (a) do not or cease to,
directly or indirectly, own at least 51% of the beneficial shareholding in
the Company, carrying at least 51% of the voting right in the Company, of
which at least 45% beneficial shareholding must, at any time on or after
the first date of utilisation of the 2019 Loan Facility, be free from any
security; (b) are not or cease to be the single largest shareholder of the
Company; and/or (c) do not or cease to have management control over the
Company, the commitments under the 2019 Loan Facilities may be
cancelled and all amounts outstanding together with accrued interest and
all other amounts accrued under the 2019 Loan Facilities may become
immediately due and payable.
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In August 2020, a facility agreement (the “2020 Facility Agreement”)
was entered into between, among others, the Company as borrower, certain
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company as the original guarantors, Bank
of China (Hong Kong) Limited, CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited, Hang
Seng Bank Limited and certain other financial institutions, collectively as
lenders, whereby dual-currency term loan facilities in the amount of
HK$273,000,000 and US$106,000,000 (totaling approximately
US$141,000,000) were made available to the Company for a term of 36
months from the date of the first utilisation of the loan facility. In
September 2020, Chong Hing Bank Limited (as lender) acceded to the
2020 Facility Agreement in accordance with the terms of the 2020 Facility
Agreement (the “Accession”). Following the execution of the Accession,
the total amount of loan facilities made available to the Company under
the 2020 Facility Agreement was approximately US$161,000,000 (the “2020
Loan Facilities”, each a “2020 Loan Facility”).

As provided in the 2020 Facility Agreement, if (i) Mr. OU Zongrong, Mr.
OU Guogiang and Mr. OU Guowei (collectively, the “Relevant Persons”)
collectively (a) do not or cease to, directly or indirectly, own at least 51%
of the beneficial shareholding in the Company, carrying at least 51% of the
voting right in the Company, of which at least 45% of the beneficial
shareholding must, at all times from the date of the 2020 Facility
Agreement for so long as any liability is outstanding or any commitment is
in force, be free from any security; (b) are not or cease to be the single
largest shareholder of the Company; and/or (c) do not or cease to have
management control over the Company; and/or (ii) the chairman of the
Company is not any of Mr. HUANG Xianzhi, Mr. LIU Weiliang (being an
existing executive Director) or Mr. CHAN Wai Kin or any of the Relevant
Persons, the commitments under the loan facilities may be cancelled and
all amounts outstanding together with accrued interest and all other
amounts accrued under the loan facilities may become immediately due

and payable.

As at 31 December 2024 and up to the date of approval of this report, the
Company had not made payment of the outstanding principal and/or the
accrued interest that were due for the 2019 Loan Facilities and the 2020
Loan Facilities, which constituted an event of default under the 2019 Loan
Facilities and the 2020 Loan Facilities. In light of this, the Company has
commenced the implementation for the Offshore Holistic Liability
Management Solutions, details of which are set out in the section headed
“THE OFFSHORE HOLISTIC LIABILITY MANAGEMENT
SOLUTIONS” above.
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B A A i B & Ah - TR T E AR A Save as disclosed in this report, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors are
A=+ R EEINAE G E SR not aware of any circumstances that would trigger the disclosure
B BB 13.20 ~ 13.21 K13 2246 ZHAE requirement under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.
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Interest Attributable Primary  Site Area Land Cost Actual/Estimated Land Bank”

# Project Names City tothe Group  Intended Use”’ (sq.m.) (RMB10,000) Completion Date (sq.m.)

5 O 2% 58
Properties Developed by the Group's Subsidiaries

1 AR Shanghai Honggiao Zhenro Mansion I Shanghai 100.00% RRE 82362 256,000 2022107 115,123
2 E£RE Shanghai Zhenro Royal Kingdom T Shanghai 90.25% RRE 110,022 136,038 2016/05 25,159
3 LEELSHT Shanghai Zheno Yuelong Mansion |- 1§ Shanghai 90.25% R 19393 67,897 2023103 11310
4 BMEEMESE Suzhou Zhenro Wind Mansion 8 M Suzhou 52.05% R 45742 108,550 2021/10 12,09
5 RERBEHEE Zhangjiagang Tangsong Cloud Garden B M Suzhou 49.29% RRE 76416 105,138 2022/10 18,141
6 BMBENELER Suzhou Riverside Four Seasons Garden M Suzhou 41.95% R 64382 75,533 2024/06 58,070
7 BEOMELRMEE Suzhou Zhenro Riverside Garden M Suzhou 32.30% RRE 49,502 70,886 202211 2007
8 BMMRAEAERERE  Sushou Poly Zhenro Oriencal Mansion 8 M Suzhou 45.13% RA 103259 240495 2023011 85,925
9 BMEETHA Suzhou Zhento West to The Moon M Suzhou 96.77% R 31,176 58,694 2023/06 17,689
10 RHESBEER Hangzhou Heting Xiging Mansion H M Hangzhou 80.00% RIRE 30,764 89,412 2024/10 81,664
1l WRESREMFEEH  Nanjing Zhenro Aoti Nanchen Pinnacle i 7 Nanjing 30.60% RIRE 31902 323,000 2023/12 122,851
12 BMREEBER Nanjing Zhenro Splendid Land i 7 Nanjing 100.00% RRE 105353 210,000 2019/01 6445
13 HRESHEILR Nanjing Zhenro Riverside Wonderland i 7 Nanjing 100.00% RRE 71345 152,000 2018/12 850
4 HRESH%E Nanjing Zhenro Royal Fame i 7 Nanjing 100.00% RRE 84,546 312,000 2019/05 ”
15 MEELETEH Nanjing Zhenro Riverside Violet Pinnacle T 7 Nanjing 100.00% RE/S&O 83,048 340,000 2022005 155,933
16 HRERXHE Nanjing Times Tianyue B 3 Nanjing 25.00% RRES&O 44,787 170,000 2022111 156,454
17 EEERSILRH Nanjing Zhenro River Mansion 7 3 Nanjing 36.67% RIRE 32,622 152,000 2022105 9,855
18 HRAER Nanjing South Riverside Peak T % Nanjing 2050% RRE 26829 114,000 2021106 0
19 BRERERE Nanjing Zhenro East Mansion i 7 Nanjing 100.00% R 84929 144,000 2023104 143,080
20 M IE BRI Nanjing Zhenro Joy City Mansion i 7 Nanjing 49.00% R 11,561 51,000 2022104 4,982
A EREEBRA Nanjing Zhenro Waterfront Mansion i 7 Nanjing 51.00% RIRE 36,292 145,000 2022104 29,396
2 EEEEMEF Nanjing Zhenro Mist Mansion T 7 Nanjing 100.00% R/RE 34,696 138,000 2022112 14316
B HAEEHEER Nanjing Zhenro Begonia Mansion 7 4% Nanjing 100.00% R 63,074 250,000 202212 42,031
u HERELTEHEI Nanjing Zhenro Riverbank Mansion T 5 Nanjing 51.01% RRE 40522 246,000 2022/12 8,797
5 MRILBEILE Nanjing Hongyang Riverside Joy Mansion 4 7 Nanjing 51.00% R 65227 258,000 2022112 58,952
26 BMELR Chuzhou Zhenro Mansion 1B Chuzhou 40.00% RRE 80,867 41,300 2021103 8,953
7 RNEEEER Chuzhou Time Elegance Garden T Chuzhou 50.10% R 55719 2,250 2022106 11,614
28 RIS Chuzhou Zhenro Splendid Mansion 7 M Chuzhou 100.00% RRE 92,170 112,400 2025/12 89,127
9 WEEEEEN Sugian Zhongwu Zhenro Mansion i & Sugian 100.00% RRE 112213 130,616 2023106 209,791
30 BMEEMLEN Xuzhou Yunlonghu Zhenro Mansion 1M Xuzhou 100.00% R 55,719 60,113 2022112 45,382

EFRMEREERAT
28 Zhenro Properties Group Limited



A S

b iE
LAND BANK

Project Address

PREBTEFRELERNE BERRE SEAKARK

of B T AL AR B 1200

PE R ERERAAR ) HERA NETELAR LEREN
o BT 4 A AR B R B

of B T 4 N T R R B AL

of B UL R RS 2 R AL AR

o BT 4 0 7 R0 O B 0 B

o BRI G AR T R AR I A IBE

AR R T A S AR AL AL

PHEETERM TR AR EERELRN REBT N HEZUL
SEYNES

GENR SR T e VY SON R EY PONCE
MERR B LEALH

BRI 0B 2R B E AT

of B U 4 T U 5 T 09 5 48 T VG

of B0 T 4 T DT 271 5

BT TR R G BB R

o BB T B KB 1895

of B T 4 T IR B L A B AC LB T

of B T 4 o T I AR e S0 B S LB X
BT E AR R E AU UL

FRILEG A AL ERESBGRR R E L BHERBER
HEWLE - LERWITAE

o BT B 4 UL AR B R A AL LA B AU

PRILEG AR R L ERBE G REANE =
MERNE TN WEMBE 5 LER BB

o B I 4 T A UL B DA R B DR

BB P SR AR R R 0% RN K H7s4%E
LRI RER

o UL 4 T O A A D~ B DL A
o B L 7 I B LI B 2 AR

o B A 2L R

of B T 4 7 A B B B A XL AL

SN S E

ETERS (Rl SRR TR - SR

South to Nijiajiao Road, West to Lianmin Road, North to Xuhe Road, Qingpu District, Shanghai, PRC

Lane 1211, Fuyuan Road, Baoshan District, Shanghai, PRC

North to Chezhan River, West to Bai'an Road, South to Yadan Road, East to Dikuai Boundary, Jiading District, Shanghai, PRC

Building 1, No.2 Jianye Road, Gaoxin Technology Industrial Park, Economic and Technological Development Zone, Changshu, Jiangsu Province, PRC
North to Zhangyang Avenue, Jingkai District, Suzhou, Jiangsu Province, PRC

North to Mudan Road, East to Wendu Road, Wangting Town, Xiangcheng District, Suzhou, Jiangsu Province, PRC

South to Libo Road, West to Xiangshanbei Road, Taihu National Tourism Resort, Suzhou, Jiangsu Province, PRC

West to Fuchunjiang Road, North to Penglai Road, Kaifa District, Suzhou, Jiangsu Province, PRC

West to Muguang River, North to Xijingiao Road, Mudu Town, Wuzhong District, Suzhou, Jiangsu Province, PRC

North to Park Green Space, West to Congwen Road, South to Heting Street, East to Xinggang Road, Lin'an Economic Development District,
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, PRC

North to Honghua Road, West to Zhidong First Road, South to Yingtian Street, East to Chengtian Avenue, Qigiao District, Nanbu New Town,
Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, PRC

Zheno Splendid Land, No.2 of Wangjiang Road, Pukou District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, PRC

Zhenro Riverside Wonderland, No.99 of Zhennanhe Road, Pukou District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, PRC

No.27-1 of Hexi South Road, Jianye District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, PRC

Crossroad of Wuhou Street and Yecheng Road, Jianye District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, PRC

No.18, Yongsheng Road, Jiangning District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, PRC

Crossroad of Zhuquan West Road and Jiangmiao Road, Pukou District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, PRC

Crossroad of Daishan Middle Road and Daishan North Road, Xishangiao Street, Yuhuatai District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, PRC
North to Pinggang Road, West to Huayuan Road, Longtan New Town, Qixia District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, PRC

North to Guangxigeng Street, West to Yingjiang Road, South to Guihuadao Road, East to Guihua Kindergarten and Community Center, Jiangbei

New District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, PRC
Parcel East to Jiangbei Expressway, North to Qilihe Sub-District, Jiangbei New District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, PRC

North to Guihua Qilin Road, West to Guihua Jinger Road, South to Guihua Weiwu Road, East to Guihua Jingsan Road, Qilin Street, Jiangning

District, Xianlin Street, Qixia District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, PRC
East to Kangan Road, South to Yingjiang Road, Pukou District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, PRC

North to Fangjiaying Road, West to Fangjiaying No.784, South to Fangjiaying No. 80, East to Chenghe North Road, Gulou District, Nanjing,
Jiangsu Province, PRC

Parcel East to Kangjian Road, South to Yingjiang Road, Jiangpu Street, Pukou District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, PRC
Northeast to the Crossroad of Zuiweng East Road and Yangming South Road, Nangiao District, Chuzhou, Anhui Province, PRC
Southeast to the Crossroad of Renhe Road and Jingzi Road, Chuzhou, Anhui Province, PRC

Northeast to the Crossroad of Qingliu Road and Dingyuan Road, Chuzhou, Jiangsu Province, PRC

Economic and Technological Development Zone, Sugian, Jiangsu Province, PRC

South to Pengcheng Happy Valley, West to Yudai Avenue, Xuzhou, Jiangsu Province, PRC
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Interest Attributable Primary  Site Area Land Cost Actual/Estimated Land Bank”
# Project Names City tothe Group  Intended Use”’ (sq.m.) (RMB10,000) Completion Date (sq.m.)
31 AIE#E1907 Hefei City 1907 £ I Hefei 25.00% RRE 111380 180,500 2019/12 20,505
32 AIELIER - Hefei Beicheng Zhenro Mansion-Feng Garden 7+ i Hefei 100.00% RIRE 50,857 71,709 2022106 34,867
33 AIEALER - Hefei Beicheng Zhento Mansion-Ya Garden 4 I Hefei 100.00% R/RE 30,488 42,988 2022/03 20,568
34 AIELIRIE N5 Hefei Beicheng Zhenro Mansion-Song Garden 5 M Hefei 100.00% R/RE 4324 61,087 2022/11 21,559
35 REERERRN Hefei Jade Zhenro Mansion 4 I Hefei 100.00% RIRE 58,464 111,374 2022109 45,003
36 A HEIESE R BT R R Hefei Zhenro Cifi Zhengwu Future 4 I Hefei 55.00% RRE 107,128 161,978 2023/10 78,414
37 AEEHEEZEBMIAA Loan Country Garden Zhenro Noreh Phoenix 75 % Lu'an 34.38% RRE 199,748 111,500 2023106 271,269

Mansion
38 BEEMNELRF Fuyang Yingzhou Zhenro Mansion B B3 Fuyang 100.00% RRE 192371 124,112 2024106 235,293
R = #/il Yangtze River Delta Region Sub-total 2,620,199 5,445,570 2,273,693
39 B ERR Zhengzhou Chengnan Zhenro Mansion 5 M Zbengzhou 97.90% R 198,941 90,000 2023/07 315,980
40 WMERMERXM234  Zhengzhou Zhenro Yushou Mansion Tianyue 234 5 HH Zhengzhou 26.01% R 49,924 47,219 2024106 195,309
41 B IE 4% 60 B T K Mk 04 Zhengzhou Zhenro Yushou Mansion Tianyue 24% 5 JH Zhengzhou 26.01% R 54,041 51,069 2022111 80,195
2 BNERMERKH25#  Zhengzhou Zhenro Yushou Mansion Tianjing 254 83 M| Zhengzhou 26.01% R/RE 62477 59,041 2023005 170,125
£ REBHEELN Wuhan Panlong Zhento Mansion H I Wuhan 100.00% RRE 49,251 92,210 2022112 23,096
4 REERBER Wuhan Zhenro Yuelong Mansion H 1 Wuhan 100.00% RIRE 33,331 44335 2023103 132,690
45 REFEHRHE Wuhan Zhenro Propitious Peak R Wahan 49.66% RRE 15478 63,566 202212 0
46 RELEHRA Wuhan Zhenro Yuejing Mansion R Wuhan 100.00% RRE 27390 60,560 2023/06 0
47 REH RGBT R Wuhan Caidian Yuelong Mansion East % Wuhan 100.00% RIRE 34012 44470 2023106 118,011
48 RUERHEHL Changsha Zheno Fortune Center R Changsha 100.00% RRE 145,220 45,040 202112 64,647
d9  RUFEETEHA Changsha Riverside Zhenro Pinnacle W Changsha 100.00% RRES&O 107,493 83,000 2022/10 3,986
50 RUVEEHEENA Changsha Meixi Zhenro Pinnacle 1 Changsha 100.00% RRES&O 20275 76,781 2022112 79,866
st RURRELN Changsha Zhongliang Zhento Mansion 1 Changsha 51.00% R/RE 80,802 119,250 2023/12 197,124
o1 v i Central China Region Sub-total 878,636 876,601 1,441,229
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Northwest corner of the Crossroad of Guiyang Road and Sichuan Road, Hefei, Anhui Province, PRC

Northeast corner of the Crossroad of Yangmiao Road and Cihuai Road, Changfeng County, Hefei, Anhui Province, PRC
Northeast corner of the Crossroad of Cihuai Road and Fuyang North Road, Changfeng County, Hefei, Anhui Province, PRC
Northeast corner of the Crossroad of Fuyang North Road and Jihe Road, Changfeng County, Hefei, Anhui Province, PRC
Northeast corner of the Crossroad of Feicui Road and Xianxia Road, Feixi County, Hefei, Anhui Province, PRC

Southeast to the Crossroad of Dengta Road and Chuangxin Avenue, Shangpai Town, Feixi County, Hefei, Anhui, PRC

Crossroad of Qingxi Road and Xingguang Avenue, Lu'an, Anhui Province, PRC

East to Chengquan Road, South to Sanging Road, Chengnan New District, Fuyang, Anhui Province, PRC
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Daxue South Road auxiliary road (East side), Guihua Third Road(South side), Longhu Town, Xinzheng, Zhengzhou, Henan Province, PRC
West to Jingyi Road, South to Xiangyun Road, Longhu Town, Xinzheng, Zhengzhou, Henan Province, PRC

West to Jingyi Road, North to Weisan Road, Longhu Town, Xinzheng, Zhengzhou, Henan Province, PRC

West to Guihua Road, North to Xianghe Road, Longhu Town, Xinzheng, Zhengzhou, Henan Province, PRC

South to Houhu Avenue, East to Panlong Avenue, Panlongcheng Economic Development District, Wuhan, Hubei Province, PRC

West to the Crossroad of Gaofu Street and Tiancheng Road, Caidian Street, Caidian District, Wuhan, Hubei Province, PRC

East to Baoxi Road, North to Gaoxinsan Road, West to Zhiquan Road, South to Shendunwu Road, Donghu New Technology Development District,
Wuhan, Hubei Province, PRC

South to Kangli Street, East to Liufang Road, West to Guanggu Second Road, North to Kangmei Road, Donghu New Technology Development
District, Wuhan, Hubei Province, PRC

West to the Crossroad of Gaofu Avenue and Tiancheng Road, Caidian Street, Caidian District, Wuhan, Hubei Province, PRC

Southwest corner of the Crossroad of Gaotanglingjiedaojiayuan North Road and Weiluoke Road, Wangcheng District, Changsha, Hunan Province,
PRC

Southeast to the Crossroad of Yinshan Road and Gushan Road, Yuelu District, Changsha, Hunan Province, PRC
Parcel F-19, Meixi Lake Area, Yuelu District, Changsha, Hunan Province, PRC

South to Liangtang Road, Xingsha Street, Changsha County, Changsha, Hunan Province, PRC
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Interest Attributable Primary  Site Area Land Cost Actual/Estimated Land Bank”
# Project Names City tothe Group  Intended Use”’ (sq.m.) (RMB10,000) Completion Date (sq.m.)
52 PFRdRAHL X7'an Beichen Tianyue North 14% X7'an 34.00% R/RE 53,117 85,830 2024107 187,138
53 FRLRKHRE Xi'an Beichen Tianyue South 1% Xi'an 34.00% RRE 41,900 68,000 2024/01 79,712
s FREEN Xi'an Zhenro Mansion 1% Xian 100.00% RE/S&O 39,322 32,440 2022/08 4594
55 WEELEMA (MR Xian Zhenro Pinnacle (West) 74% X7'an 93.49% RRES&O 36,042 72,400 2023/04 65,417
56 B ER N Chengdu Guihu Zhenro Mansion Phase 2 it Chengdu 100.00% R 20,179 32,23 2022/10 17,304
57 WEBEILIEIERBAN  Chengdu Dujiangyan Zhenro Yuelong Mansion /i # Chengdu 100.00% RRE 48140 31,772 2022/10 127832
58 ENE ST Chengdu Run Mansion i #h Chengdu 100.00% R 29403 90,561 2023106 18,576
59 HEFERH Chengdu Spring Rural Fields i Chengdu 65.00% R 2463 4377 2022112 7,540
60 EEHRERN Chongging Yuexi Zhenro Mansion B Chongging 100.00% R 88177 82,000 2023103 41,760
61 EREERERITE Chongging Zhenro Langji Yuejiang Mansion % ¥ Chongging 51.00% R/RE 46,757 51,400 2023106 29,286
158 /it Western China Region Sub-total 427,676 551,012 620,508
6 EMEWAR Fuzhou Guanlan Mansion H M Fuzhou 51.00% R 19515 32,500 2024/01 57,543
G REMEELAR Fuzhou Begonia Mansion H M Fuzhou 100.00% RRE 46429 74,000 2024111 118,173
¢4 RMRFAE Fuzhou Jingxiu Mansion # M Fuzhou 100.00% R 24,964 33,200 2023/10 0
6 BNELHEDL Fuzhou Zhenro Fortune Center Hi M Fuzhou 100.00% RRES&O 113333 127,700 2017/12 77371
66 TMIELR Fuzhou Zhenro Mansion 7 M Fuzhou 100.00% RRES&O 66,874 191,000 201912 600
67 RMES£BEZILZER  Fushou Zhenro Mawei Sanjiang Habitat F M Fuzhou 100.00% R 36014 47,760 2024/08 54,199
8 FEMBREEMESL—H Fuhou Mawei Zhenro Fortune Center Phase 1 1 | Fuzhou 100.00% RRE 67,032 85,665 2019/08 18436
6 RMEEZEE Fuzhou Zhenro Seascape Wonderland H M Fuzhou 2650% RIRE 33,436 74,700 2022105 28,836
70 BMELELR Fuzhou Riverview Zhenro Mansion # M Fuzhou 80.00% RRE 110,191 289,000 2023/03 68,219
71 BMIEEESEL Fuzhou Zhenro Begonia Riverview F M Fuzhou 100.00% RRE 23973 67,00 2023105 51,808
7 RNEESRT Fuzhou Zhenro Yuerong Mansion 7 M Fuzhou 100.00% RRE 61510 189,300 2021/12 55,792
B BMELERZUER Fuzhou Zhenro Jucheng Jinshan Community &/ Fuzhou 70.00% R 11,116 45,700 2022005 1572
Mo MR Fuzhou Hubin Mansion 7 M Fuzhou 34.00% RRE 42,420 90,800 2022111 17,832
5 BMEREERFo% Fuzhou Yurong Zhenro Mansion 02 H M Fuzhou 100.00% RRE 68079 100,800 2020111 9,792
76 RMERERRK03 5 Fuzhou Yurong Zhenro Mansion 03 f M Fuzhou 100.00% R 64728 90,000 2021/12 2763
77 TREZNHE Pingtan Zhenro Mansion Yuexi 1 M Fuzhou 100.00% R/RE 66,560 110,000 2020/11 38,720
78 EMEAPREXEMEE  Xiamen Zhenro Zhonglinag Tianzhu Run Mansion & ] Xiamen 51.00% RIRE 19978 188,000 2023/12 86,479
79 BFMBRERN Xiamen Lianfa Zhenro Mansion i P Xiamen 51.00% RIRE 19,209 157,000 2023/12 73,700
80 EFMHRERR Xiamen Zhongliang Zhenro Mansion i P Xiamen 40.80% RIRE 17,228 100,000 2022111 16,195
81 EMHZEER Xiamen Xiang'an Zhenro Mansion i ] Xiamen 100.00% R/RE 27,596 117,000 2023/09 57,199
8 WHELHEDL Putian Zhenro Fortune Center # M Putian 100.00% RRES&O 199,941 91,600 2022108 280,894

EFRMEREERAT
32 Zhenro Properties Group Limited



A S

b iE
LAND BANK

Project Address

o B DR I R B DA VT — B LA - B LA
o RG4S B DR T R DL R LAY
o B R TG 4 75 %t BB R B BK BB B S L AL A

of B R 24 76 % 0 B B AR B 2 ST T A R

o B 2 AR T 0 AL WA A R ) BCRE R

E M)A SILIET EEEE R E
PEMNERATRRERSEEEE BN A BB 4
PEMNE RS TEBERSALEN A LREA

of B B A K [ A DAL R DR

B TR TR K O A A B R0 7

West to Lehua First Road, South to Jinghewan First Road, East to Lehua Second Road, Jinghe New Town, Xi'an, Shaanxi Province, PRC

West to Lehua First Road, North to Jinghewan Second Road, East to Lehua Second Road, Jinghe New Town, Xi'an, Shaanxi Province, PRC
Northeast corner of the Crosstoad of Erhuan North Road (East part) and Yongqing Road, Xi'an, Shaanxi Province, PRC

Southwest corner and Southeast corner of the Crossroad of Yujing Road and Yongcheng Road, Xi'an, Shaanxi Province, PRC

Wugui Village, Guihu Street (Former: Xindu Street), Xindu District, Chengdu, Sichuan Province, PRC

Caihong Community, Xingfu Street, Dujiangyan, Sichuan Province, PRC

Group 3, 4 of Wafang Village, Cugiao Street, Group 7 of Banbianjie Village, Jitougiao Street, Wuhou District, Chengdu, Sichuan Province, PRC
Sth Agricultural Cooperative, Baohua Village, Tuanjie Town, Pidu District, Chengdu, Sichuan Province, PRC

East to Heyuan Road, North to Fenghe Road, Shuitu Park Area, Liangjiang New District, Chongqing, PRC

Parcel F9-10, F Sub-district, Dadukouzutuan, Dadukou District, Chongqing, PRC
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North to Linjiang South Road, East to Yingbin Road, Yinggian Street, Changle District, Fuzhou, Fujian Province, PRC
Rongdong Village, Zhugi Township, Minhou County, Fuzhou, Fujian Province, PRC

South to Raocheng Express Way, Tangxie Village, Xindian Town, Jing’an District, Fuzhou, Fujian Province, PRC

No. 18, Xinbao Road, Shangjie Town, Minhou County, Fuzhou, Fujian Province, PRC

East to Zhandong Road, West to Guishan Road, Jin'an District, Fuzhou, Fujian Province, PRC

Yanshan West Road (North side), Mawei District, Fuzhou, Fujian Province, PRC

North to Shanggi Road, East to Junzhu Road, Mawei District, Fuzhou, Fujian Province, PRC

Southwest to Shanggi Road, Northeast to Zhongjialan Bay, Southeast to Luoxing West Road, Mawei, Fujian Province, PRC
Southwest to Shangqi Road, Northeast to Zhongjialan Bay, Southeast to Luoxing West Road, Mawet, Fujian Province, PRC
Changjiang Village, Ganzhe Street, Minhou County, Fuzhou, Fujian Province, PRC

Parcel 1, Reconstruction of the old house in the submarine dangerous land block, East to Liuyi Road, Jing’an District, Fuzhou, Fujian Province, PRC

Maipu Comprehensive Development Lot 1 on the East side of Hongwanbei Road, North side of Jinting Community phase 2,
the South side of Jintang Road, Cangshan District, Fuzhou City, Fujian Province, PRC

East to South Railway Station, South to Yongnan Road, Cangshan District, Fuzhou, Fujian Province, PRC
Yufeng Village, Dongliu Village, Longshan Street, Fuging, Fujian Province, PRC
Yufeng Village, Yutang Village, Longshan Street, Fuging, Fujian Province, PRC

South side of Chengyi Road (Former: Tiandashan North Road), West side of Xinggang Middle Road (Former: Jinjing Second Road), Pingtan County,

Fuzhou, Fujian Province, PRC
West to the Crossoad of Jimei Avenue and Jimei North Avenue, Jimei New Town Sub-district, Xiamen, Fujian Province, PRC

West to the Crossroad of Duiying Middle Road and Duiying North Road, Jimei New Town Sub-district, Jimei District, Xiamen, Fujian Province,
PRC

South to the Corner of Wenju Road and Bojian Road, Daxuecheng Sub-district, Jimei District, Xiamen, Fujian Province, PRC
Northeast to the Crossroad of Shamei Road and Xiang’an South Road, Lianhe Sub-district, Xiang'an District, Xiamen, Fujian Province, PRC

Adjacent to Mulanxi, Crossroad of Liyuan Road and Tianfei Road, Putian, Fujian Province, PRC
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# Project Names City tothe Group  Intended Use”’ (sq.m.) (RMB10,000) Completion Date (sq.m.)
8 T EER Putian Zhenro Litchi Garden # M Putian 100.00% R/RE 35,268 1,721 2010006 819
84 W H LR Putian Zhenro Times Plaza # M Putian 100.00% RRE 118943 1,721 2008/11 41,768
85 HHIEA 6 & iR Putian Zhenro Royal Family # H Putian 100.00% R/RE 42431 1,721 2016/10 4,663
86 HMEEAZERE Putian Zhenro Habitat # M Putian 100.00% R 79,698 98,000 2023/06 36,381
87 WHEZERRN Putian Yuxi Zhenro Mansion # H Putian 100.00% R 16,116 26,600 2022108 5,052
88 HHAEERR =M Putian Jiuxi Zhenro Mansion Phase 3 # Hl Putian 100.00% R/RE 57,959 122,600 2023/03 88,486
8 HHMILELRF Putian Hanjiang Zhenro Mansion # M Putian 100.00% R 19,895 28,500 2023106 20916
90 RWAWEZEN Quanzhou Shishi Zhenro Mansion M Quanzhou 100.00% R 33,942 36,300 2020104 13
o RMELERILEN Quanzhou Zhenro Baojia Riverside Mansion 5 Quanzhou 46.50% RIRE 59,486 50,000 2021/11 4,156
92 BMERELMN Quanzhou Jindong Zhenro Mansion 5 Quanzhou 34.00% RRE 57,032 41,600 2021111 23,894
93 FILERBRMLER Jinjiang Zhenro Xunxing Century Spring M Quanzhou 51.00% R/RE 34,124 53,300 2022104 19,265
of  RMEILESER Quanzhou Jinjiang Zhenro Mansion 5 Quanzhou 100.00% RRE 104,664 83,400 2023/11 253,469
95  HEFLTAHES Nanchang Zhenro Zhong'ao Yuexi Mansion 1 B Nanchang 62.00% RRE 39,116 56,023 2022108 30263
9% HMBEEKWZH Nanchang Zhenro The Capital of Great Loch T Ei Nanchang 100.00% RRE 872,794 25,200 2017/06 17,874
97 HAEERER Nanchang Zhenro Yueyun Mansion 7 Ei Nanchang 51.00% RRE 46576 63,157 2022/10 45,508
98 EENE S 254 4 Nanchang Zhenro Huarun Linglong Mansion i B Nanchang 48.00% RRE 72,103 57971 201911 107
9 EEMALE Nanchang Xinli Garden T B Nanchang 39.00% RRE 90414 72,83 2019/11 35,040
100 BBESSKENES Nanchang Zhenro Jinmao Media i B Nanchang 34.00% RIRE 53,563 73435 2023/12 13,697
Cloud Wonderland
101 HEELEXE Nanchang Zhenro Bay Mansion Hi B Nanchang 50.00% RIRE 2,842 21,036 2022/09 0
102 BERESKERKE LS Nanchang Zhaoshang Jinmao Hi B Nanchang 34.00% RRE 101,483 139,894 2023/08 202,017
Zhenro Land of Cloud
103 MBESER Nanchang Zhenro Vesture Hi B Nanchang 100.00% R/RE 58,729 121,448 2022110 0
104 FHZEBER Ji'an Lulin Mansion Phase | % Jian 100.00% RRE 74388 73,922 2021/12 11423
105 FHZEBER 8 Jian Lulin Mansion Phase 2 % Jian 100.00% R/RE 67,590 77,557 2022/03 21,326
106 HESBERN Yichun Jintou Zhenro Mansion T Yichun 35.00% RIRE 55,227 26,600 2022106 2623
107 HEELHAE-H Yichun Zhenro Yuelinglong Phase 1 H & Yichun 100.00% RRE 48549 27,375 2022105 2,759
108 HEELAE M Yichun Zhenro Yuelinglong Phase 2 H & Yichun 100.00% RRE 49,205 37,900 202311 71,892
100 BHEEEBEEFEBIHN  Yichun Zhenro Yango Feili Riverside Bay % Yichun 49.00% RRE 38920 20,700 2023/11 72,541
W 7§ 5 /D 3t Western Taiwan Straits Region Sub-total 3,491,781 3,743 439 2,181,877
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South to North Avenue, Licheng District, Putian, Fujian Province, PRC

Crossroad of Dongyuan Road and North Avenue, Putian, Fujian Province, PRC

Adjacent to Dongyuan Road (IV Houtang Area), Licheng District, Putian, Fujian Province, PRC

Near South Ring Road, West Lake, Baitang Town, Hanjiang District, Putian, Fujian Province, PRC
Yangxi Sub-district, Chengxiang District, Putian, Fujian Province, PRC

West to Gongjiao South Stop, Xialin West District, Putian, Fujian Province, PRC

Within the control range of Xinhan Industrial Park, Hanjiang District, Putian, Fujian Province, PRC
East to Chaokeng China Shishi Garment Mall, Lingxiu Town, Shishi, Quanzhou, Fujian Province, PRC

South to Houdaianzhi Community, West to Shenhai Express Way, East to Binjiang Road, Crossroad of Shenhai Express Way Bridge and Binjiang Road (South
Side), Luojiang District, Quanzhou, Fujian Province, PRC

South to Er'hao Road, North to Liuyuan Road, West to Huyuan Road, East to Yanhai Avenue, Jinjiang, Quanzhou, Fujian Province, PRC

Next to Shiji Avenue, Luoshang Sub-district, Jinjiang, Quanzhou, Fujian Province, PRC

Xintang Garden, Economy development district, Jinjiang, Quanzhou, Fujian Province, PRC

North to Changping Road, South to Wenhua Zhongxin South Road, Changleng Town, Xinjian District, Nanchang, Jiangxi Province, PRC
No.333, Zhenxing Avenue, Nanchang County, Nanchang, Jiangxi Province, PRC

North to Jinying Road, South to Xindi Road, West to Fota Road, Qingyunpu District, Nanchang, Jiangxi Province, PRC

No.36, Wenzong Street, Honggutan New District, Nanchang, Jiangxi Province, PRC

No.777, Gezaoshan Avenue, Honggutan New District, Nanchang, Jiangxi Province, PRC

North to Wenshanyi Road, East to Yinhuzhong Road, Nanchang County, Nanchang, Jiangxi Province, PRC

North to temporary dwellings phase 3, West to Teaching Team, South to Shuangmashi Road, East to Chenjia Road, Wanli District, Nanchang,
Jiangxi Province, PRC

North to Yuefangnan Road, West to Huochang Road, South to Tianxiangyi Road, East to Changdong Avenue, South to Yuefangnan Road, East to
Shichangnan Road, Qingshanhu District, Nanchang, Jiangxi Province, PRC

North to Aixi first Road, East to Chuangxin first Road, Gaoxin District, Nanchang, Jiangxi Province, PRC

North to Fuxing Road, West to Baishuixian Road, South to Fenghuangzhou Road, East to Jinggangshan Avenue, Chengnan New District, Ji’an,

Jiangxi Province, PRC

North to Chongwen Road, West to Gunan Avenue, Souch to Fuxing Road, East to Baishuixian Road, Chengnan New District, Ji'an, Jiangxi
Province, PRC

Yichun Zhento Jintou Yuanzhou Mansion, Yiyang Avenue, Yuanzhou District, Yichun, Jiangxi Province, PRC

Guangrun Community to the North, Guihualongpu Road to the West, Yuanzhoudong Road to the East, Yuanzhou Avenue to the South, opposite to

high-speed rail station, Yuanzhou District, Yichun, Jiangxi Province, PRC
East to Gaotiedongjiu Road, South to Yuanzhou Avenue, Yichun, Jiangxi Province, PRC

West to Yi’An Highway, East to Xinfang River, North to Yuanzhou Avenue, Yichun, Jiangxi Province, PRC
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10 EMFEDBE Guangzhou Nansha Parcel % H Guangzhou 50.00% R/RE/SXO 12,679 102,135 2024104 72,580
e B Guangzhou Zengcheng Parcel B M Guangzhou 100.00% R/RE 50,673 149,000 2024104 215,383
12 BMAZREFEDLA Guangzhou Baiyun District Zhongluotan Parcel 5 1 Guangzhou 51.00% R 58,507 209,088 2024104 154,896
13 WILERZEELR Foshan Zhenro Jihua Zhenro Mansion 4 111 Foshan 100.00% RRE 51,189 124,969 2023/09 138,631
14 BI&KEERESR  Foshan Jinmao Country Garden Zhenro Mansion {1 Foshan 34.00% RRE 97814 300,428 2024/12 59,197
¥ = Vit Pearl River Delta Region Sub-total 270,862 885,620 (40,686
S5 T I 2 0 5 o 3 o A 7,689,154 11,502,242 7,157,993
Sub-total of Land Bank Developed by the Group’s Subsidiaries
ARG O i A
Properties Developed by the Group's Joint Ventures and Associated Companies
15 LiBUfL Shanghai BU Center 6 Shanghai 19.00% RE/S&0 70,857 143,000 2022106 309,075
16 BENEHMEERG Suzhou Flavour Yue Four Seasons Garden M Suzhou 19.00% R 56479 36,069 201912 20243
1 EARENELR Suzhou Yingxi Four Seasons Garden B M Suzhou 18.91% RRE 95,836 156,170 2022103 131,340
18 BRMIHEE Suzhou Jiangnan Cloud Chapter M Suzhou 38.95% RRES&O 62,582 249,953 202212 37,042
19 EHELEE Wuxi Zhenro Jade Yue 8 Wuxi 50.00% RRE 7859 190,117 2023/08 78,074
120 BUMBAIES RN Hangzhou Sunac Zhenro Hangyao City fit M Hangzhou 40.52% R/RE 52,122 284,066 2024104 22375
121 BRELHER Nanjing Zhenro Rungi Mansion i 7 Nanjing 45.00% RIRE 32,844 164,000 2023/10 42,096
122 WMRREERRZN Nanjing China Merchant Zhenro East Forwarding 1 4 Nanjing 49.00% RRES&O 90981 224,000 2021/11 46,989
Mansion
123 EEEN Nanjing Long Yue i 3 Nanjing 33.00% R 3505 134,000 2021/06 8,005
124 pESILBLEE Nanjing Riverside Mansion 1 5% Nanjing 50.00% RRE 67,583 297,500 2023/07 39807
15 IRMELE . Rk E Chuzhou Hongyang Times Billow Courcyard 1| Chuzhou 30.00% RRE 89,886 46,600 2020106 15,864
126 ML Xuzhou Parasol Mansion 1M Xuzhou 25.00% RRE 166471 83,013 2022106 157,407
121 BN Xuzhou Splendid Mountain Mansion B M Xuzhou 33.00% RRE 147532 91,903 2022106 G411
128 HMHE Xuzhou Jade Cullinan 1% M Xuzhou 30.00% RRE 45351 92,900 2022001 0
129 AEEENHE Hefei Zhenro Capital Yue I Hefei 64.25% RRES&O 118793 195,390 2023/06 100,727
130 AEEHHE Hefei Joy River New Chapter 4 IE Hefei 33.00% RRE 67,834 90,559 2022105 49,12
131 ALEEREEEBEMEA Lwan Country Garden Zhenro South Phoenix 73 % Lu'an 34.38% RRE 199,979 110,200 2023/12 157210
Mansion
132 REEMNERR Fuyang Yingzhou Zhenro Mansion B B3 Fuyang 50.00% RRE 101,718 86,055 2025007 266,189
Rt Yangtze River Delta Region Sub-total 1,580,493 2,675,495 1,545,728
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o R R 71 0 I o K South to Jingang Avenue, Nansha Street, Nansha District, Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, PRC

o R N T SR WA e e K e North to Nanbei Avenue, Lihu Street, Zengcheng District, Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, PRC

o R N T R R R R R R East to Fulong Road, Zhongluotan, Baiyun District, Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, PRC

of B R LR T O West to Jujin Road, Chancheng District, Foshan, Guangdong Province, PRC

R L I S o B DL S B DAY West to Zongsan Road, South to Lezhong Road, Lecong Town, Shunde District, Foshan, Guangdong Province, PRC

T G REREEERAE AR RS E G R North to Huiding Road, South to Yinggang East Road, West to Xiangyanghe Road, East to Panxiu Road, Qingpu District, Shanghai, PRC
P LERA B AT MR R SR TR R4 Building 4, Industrial Park District, Miaoquanwuzhuang Village, Guli Town, Changshu, Jiangsu Province, PRC

o B TR B IR S B L PO West to Wendu Road, North to Yuting Road, Wangting Town, Xiangcheng District, Suzhou, Jiangsu Province, PRC

o T B BN TR WO B DA F B AT ORI AR 2 E DL Northeo Jizhi Street, South to Dongtaihu Road, West to Leishan Road, East to Xixia Street, Taihu New Town, Suzhou, Jiangsu Province, PRC

o 4 0 0 T S D L 90 A L R Southeast to the Crosstoad of Xinhua Road and Xixian Road, Xinwu District, Wuxi, Jiangsu Province, PRC

LA BN T OB R S 5K RO AR Notth to Guihua Nanyuan Road, West to Guihua Jingyuan Road, South to 6th Street, East to 3rd Street, Xiasha Development District, Hangzhou,
LERBERH Zhejiang Province, PRC

PEEHAH A ERER GG ANEUE - 22 R East to Zhijia Garden, West to Magao Road, Maqun Street, Qixia District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, PRC

o VLB LA T R B B 2 T R East Forwarding Mansion, Crossroad of Jiuxianghe East Road and Siwang Road, Jiangning District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, PRC

o B TR 4 B TV S 0 52 B0 B 2 R A 9 4% O Longyuemingdi, East to the Crossroad of Siwang Road and Jiuxianghe East Road, Jiangning District, Nanjiang, Jiangsu Province, PRC

o TR 4 TR O R B ML= Parcel No.3, Economic and Technological Development Zone, Qixia District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, PRC

o A T B B Tl B L B R Crosstoad of Nangiao South Road and Jingzi Road, Southern Government Affairs New District, Nangiao District, Chuzhou, Anhui Province, PRC
TR 2 A 0 9L SRR T A Crosstoad of Huashan Road and Hanjiang Road, Tongshan District, Xuzhou, Jiangsu Province, PRC

o TR A 08 717 58 0L 68 38 1L 5 B L0 2 B b 200 K B R Eastside of 200 meters North to the Crossoad of Huashan Road and Fenghu Road, Tongshan District, Xuzhou, Jiangsu Province, PRC

o VLR T T L DR B LR T West to Kuangshan East Road and North to Huaihai West Road, Quanshan District, Xuzhou, Jiangsu Province, PRC

PEEHAE BRI GRE X naLA Northeast corner of the Crossroad of Dazhong Road and Huaihai Avenue, Hefei, Anhui Province, PRC

o T B A T B T O A L B L R A Southeast to the Crossroad of Huaihai Avenue and Qianling Road, Yaohai District, Hefei, Anhui Province, PRC

PREHEAT RS EEERERX O Crossroad of Qingxi Road and Xingguang Avenue, Lu'an, Anhui Province, PRC

o B RN R LB T 0 TR South to Qinghe East Road, West to Jingjiu Road, Yingzhou District, Fuyang, Anhui Province, PRC
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BT THRA EB/HHETAY ER ]
F% HAAR il REMENES LERINE" (Fik)  (ARWERD) (Fh%k)
Interest Attributable Primary  Site Area Land Cost Actual/Estimated Land Bank”
# Project Names City tothe Group  Intended Use”’ (sq.m.) (RMB10,000) Completion Date (sq.m.)
133 REFEELR Wuhan Qingneng Zhenro Mansion A Wuhan 32.00% RRE 156500 104,800 2022105 347,119
B34 ABREMN Xuchang Furongyue Mansion B Xuchang 32.16% RRE 20,994 18,732 2021105 16,905
w135 2h & Central China Region Sub-total 177,494 123,532 364,024
135 EREPRER Chongging Central Jade Cloud % B Chongging 14.00% R 150048 215,072 2025/07 34,497
V58 it Western China Region Sub-total 150,048 215,072 34,497
136 KEFAFHZMA Tianjin Zhento Zhengxing Pinnacle K # Tianjin 49.95% RIRE/S&O 18,185 181,000 2023/05 124,500
137 REPRESHSE Tianjin Wisedom Luck Elegance Garden X H Tianjin 14.00% RRES&O 45511 194,300 202112 0
13§ RHEARF Tianjin Jiuhe Mansion K H Tianjin 50.00% R/RE 52,482 352,000 202012 0
139 ER M Jinan Jade Yue T Jinan 2%.62% RRES&O 57,785 110,996 2022106 59,023
140 B IERBER Jinan Zhenro Yuetang Garden House T R Jinan 24.62% RRES&O 23013 110,996 2022001 19,420
141 FEDEER Jinan Jiu Long Mansion P Hi Jinan 32.84% RRE 101,792 108,150 202212 10947
142 WHBEER Jinan Phoenix First Mansion 7 Jinan 19.90% R/RE 51,597 194,500 2022002 10,340
43 EEKR Jinan Tianchen Mansion T R Jinan 1990% RIRE 51,614 194,500 2021/10 9,876
144 EEABE Jinan Jingyue Mansion ¥ i Jinan 14.93% RRE 40843 149,900 2022101 7,509
s WHARRN Jinan Park Academy 7 Jinan 14.93% RRE 46541 149,900 2021/09 8042
46 WHEREE Jinan Times Glory 7 Jinan 32.84% RRE 84949 168,000 2023/09 %013
L /1 it Bohai Rim Region Sub-total 574,312 1914,42 273,870
147 PR EN Xiamen Lianfa Zhenro Zhenhua Mansion i ] Xiamen 49.00% R/RE 46,551 266,000 2024103 142,883
14g  WHEBHELEHNKSE  Pusion Lianfa Zhenro Yuhu Sky Land i Ml Putian 37.00% RREA 22877 60,000 2022111 14,700
149 HBRBELR Nanchang Dongtou Zhenro Mansion i B Nanchang 40.00% RRE 50811 80,104 2024111 101,179
150 HEELEBEHOCMA  Jian Zhenro Yango Wen Lan Mansion % Jan 48.25% RRE 82,468 76,324 2022106 17,211
151 BMERBAR Ganzhou Zhenro Yuerong Mansion M Ganzhou 50.00% RIRE 32,740 17,022 2022001 10,341
152 BREEMEERIE  Mavei Country Garden Zhenro Yue River Bay 1/ Fuzhou 33.33% RRE 47,00 39,300 2021105 39,664
155 BMESHEENIE  Fushou Zhenro Shimao Vesture Mountain South 1 i Fuzhou 40.00% RRE 47334 181,000 202212 24,001
154 BMBESERAEAEZEL  Fubou Yango Poly Yuanxi Garden 18 M Fuzhou 20.00% R 131,972 122,500 2019/11 102,266
5 7§ 1 /1 i Western Taiwan Straits Region Sub-total 461,953 842,250 452,044
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Project Address

of B 1AL 2 o B K LR R B
SR A B R M DA R R B DL

North to Hankou North Avenue, East to Shenghai Avenue, Wuhu Street, Huangpo District, Wuhan, Hubei Province, PRC

North to Hongteng Road, West to Qingmei Road, Jian'an District, Xuchang, Henan Province, PRC

o B AL B AL O

Section C of the two-way group in Liangjiang New District, Chongging, China

s B K O

oK R R LR R B LT

o K AL AR I R B L e A L T A AL
GETIES 2 G R AR P 3
of 11 3R o DA SRR AR
o R L AR KK A 00 1 B R A
of I 1 5 O B o DA LR B AR
o B AL R4 TR o B DL o R e B DR
o B AL TR B B DL SRS KA DL
o 1L R O O DAL SRR B AR
oo OO o B DL AR B DR

South to Huanghe Road, Nankai District, Tianjin, PRC

Crossroad of Dongxing Road and Xinkuo Road, Hedong District, Tianjin, PRC

Northwest to the Crossroad of Shuanghuan Road and Jianing Road, Honggiao District, Tianjin, PRC

East to Xingfuliu Road, North to Kaiyuan Middle Road, Licheng District, Jinan, Shandong Province, PRC

East to Xingfuliu Road, North to Kaiyuan Middle Road, Licheng District, Jinan, Shandong Province, PRC

North to the planed Tangwangshan Road East Extension, East to Xiushui Main Street, Jinan, Shandong Province, PRC
East to Aoti Middle Road, North to Kaiyuan Middle Road, Licheng District, Jinan, Shandong Province, PRC

East to Aoti Middle Road, North to Kaiyuan Middle Road, Licheng District, Jinan, Shandong Province, PRC

West to Zhangma Main Street, North to Kaiyuan Middle Road, Licheng District, Jinan, Shandong Province, PRC
East to Xingfuliu Road, North to Kaiyuan Middle Road, Licheng District, Jinan, Shandong Province, PRC

East to Xingfuliu Road, North to Kaiyuan Middle Road, Licheng District, Jinan, Shandong Province, PRC

o B AR T 8 A = B LR S L
of B AR B A I A R T A
o BV R E BRRREB DAY ST — B LA

BT % % R LAA S R IR R AR ST 5 B A B A

LT A

o BT 7 4 M 7l Al A YRR SR
TREEERMTEERSILHH S

oA AR TR S M L
PRREARNTEZEREARBEN  ERE LR

Southwest to the Crossroad of Xinjing Xisan Road and Xinjing Xier Road, Haicang District, Xiamen, Fujian Province, PRC
Within the control range of Yuhu Sub-district, Licheng District, Putian, Fujian Province, PRC
North to Wenshanyi Road, West to Dongxiang Road, Nanchang County, Nanchang, Jiangxi Province, PRC

North to Shaoshan West Road, West to Shiyang Road, South to New Office Building of City Environment Protection Bureau, East to Jizhou Avenue,

Ji'an, Jiangxi Province, PRC

East to Rongjiang Avenue, South to Gannan Avenue, Ganzhou, Jiangxi Province, PRC

Minting, Tingjiang Town, Mawei District, Fuzhou, Fujian Province, PRC

Northwest corner of the Crosstoad of Tatou Road and Erhuan Road, Jin'an District, Fuzhou, Fujian Province, PRC

Parcel 1, Guihuhoulong Community, Luohan Village, Huanxi Town, Jin'An District, Fuzhou, Fujian Province, PRC
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155 WLEE N EBLR Foshan Zhenro Redco Guanshan Mansion {111 Foshan 49.00% RRE 51714 103,700 2024/01 112,328
% =4/t Pearl River Delta Region Sub-total 51,714 103,700 112,328
AR 45 5 A 3 B i 0 A 2,996,014 5,874,291 2,782,692

Sub-total of Land Bank Developed by the Group’s Joint Ventures and Associated Companies

3t Total 10,685,168 17,376,533 9,940,686

ERWESEBRAT
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Southeast to Qiaojin Road and Chongmin Road, Xiqiao New District, Foshan, Guangdong Province, PRC

W5 -

1)

(@)

R: f£ % ; RE: & ;S: SOHO; O A
EiANE

AL MY AEERECEOE
e LW S a] Ik 6 5 R % a A
3 A > Gy B EE R ) 2R A R
T Giii) A A 2l B o i 2 0 A S T A o

Notes:
(1) R: Residential; RE: Retail; S: SOHO; O: Office; A: Ancillary
) Total GFA of the Group’s land bank includes (i) total GFA available for sale and total

leasable GFA for completed properties, (ii) total GFA for properties under
development and (iii) total GFA for properties held for future development.
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A7 Zhenro Properties Group Limited

Set out below are biographical details of directors and senior management
of the Company as at the date of approval of this annual report:

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. LIU Weiliang (%] 18 58), aged 40, was appointed as an executive
Director on 8 June 2020. He served as the vice-chairman of the Board
during the period from 26 March 2021 to 19 January 2023 and was re-
designated as the Chairman with effect from 20 January 2023. Mr. LIU has
over 16 years of experience in the real estate industry. He obtained a
bachelor’s degree in engineering management from Changsha University of
Science & Technology in 2007.

M. LIU joined the Group in June 2016 and has held various key positions
successively, including: (i) the deputy general manager of Zhenro (Changsha)
Real Estate Co., Ltd. (1E HBEVEEARAA) and the project
manager for Yichun project of Zhenro Properties Holdings Company
Limited* (1E 28 i 7 #5145 BR 23 F]) (“Zhenro Properties Holdings”)
from June 2016 to August 2017; (ii) the general manager of the merger
department of the strategic investment centre and subsequently the general
manager of the strategic investment centre of Zhenro Properties Holdings
from August 2017 to May 2019; and (iii) the vice president of Zhenro
Properties Holdings from May 2019 to January 2021.

In November 2022, Mr. LIU was appointed as a non-executive director of
Zhenro Services Group Limited (“Zhenro Services”) (a company listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), stock code: 06958) and he was then appointed as the
chairman of the board of directors of Zhenro Services in January 2023.
Before joining the Group, Mr. LIU worked in several real estate companies
in the PRC, including (i) the development manager of Evergrande
Properties Changsha Real Estate Co., Led. (fH K Hb 2 =V B 2 A Al)
and the deputy general manager of Chenzhou Real Estate Co., Ltd. (Hf 1
B /8 H]) successively from July 2008 to May 2012; and (ii) the deputy
general manager of Heneng Properties Changsha Real Estate Co., Ltd. (5
BEHh ZE RV %0 F]) from May 2012 to June 2016.



ZEHRAE 39K R E D —F ZH
TN BB AT S 04T 5 AR N B
MAE FAZFZZF LA T =H&
R /AN FAATERAR - FhEFE
AT B H R B A A o B
A VO AR B M AT 2 AR BR o 2R ki
SERERNAEL A ST K& (A
Pl 42 80 TRE BL 3 B Be ) SC B B - L

WP T E—— AR b S ROK B S B
21 -
2SR TR — AR DU A A 4R

THRET L MEERE 2 Ol =
T /\FWMHE ZF—JUFE LA BBRE
AT & M L o 55 ) AR A4S T A AR % ML
MRS AEE A F—LFLAE
TF A AR YR AT E S R
A B R R AR A & T —4F
— A B TE T RSN YR AT IE 4 R
f o e W BRI avBE &R
AEN HEIEAT IE 2 AR )
HoOE - —FEPHE R =4 NHE
FERMEERER - B _F—JLFL
A AL, ERG - EHE - &
T P RS N NE R KT
W B F w4 2 M Bk BE B - A A SEE
W FEAEMEEBARAREIITS
FBE > Bfoh —F——HFLtAEZ
F—LFENHERIEAT A A 7 48 58 5
T HE o bR AR AR B B MGt L E— &
A E T F— F N H EAT 2 I
% R A

BEENEREEERE
BIOGRAPHIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LI Yang (ZE ), aged 39, was appointed as the executive Director
and the executive vice president of the Company on 26 March 2021 and
has been appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company with effect
from 13 September 2022. Mr. LI is mainly responsible for the overall
management of the day-to-day operations of the Group. He has over 14
years of experience in the real estate industry. Mr. LI obtained a bachelor’s
degree in arts from Anhui Polytechnic University (formerly known as
Anhui Institute of Engineering and Technology (% 8 T2 Bl £ £ F))
in July 2008 and obtained a master’s degree in arts from Anhui University
in July 2011.

Mr. LI joined the Group in April 2018, and has held various key positions
successively, including: (i) the regional executive deputy general manager
and general manager in the Hefei region, and regional general manager in
the Zhengzhou region successively from April 2018 to July 2019; (ii) the
assistant to the chief executive officer and vice president of Zhenro
Properties Holdings successively from July 2019 to January 2021; and (iii)
a director and the executive vice president of Zhenro Properties Holdings
from January 2021 to June 2022, (iv) the president of Zhenro Properties
Holdings since June 2022 and (v) a director of Zhenro Properties Holdings
from April 2021 to June 2023. From July 2019, Mr. LI has been
responsible for the management of various functional departments
successively, including design, operation, investment, sales and marketing,
human resources and administration, legal and audit. Before joining the
Group, Mr. LI served in various roles in H-Change Group CGUSE S Ea
FR 2> W), including: (i) a general manager of the Hefei company and an
assistant to the president of Eastern China region successively from July
2011 to August 2017; and (ii) the operation vice president of the Southern
China region from August 2017 to April 2018.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WANG Chuanxu (E & )J¥), aged 54, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 15 December 2017. He is primarily
responsible for providing independent advice on the operations and
management of the Group. Mr. WANG has over 20 years of experience in
the finance industry and providing secretarial and corporate service to
listed companies in the PRC. He obtained his bachelor’s degree in
engineering majoring in industrial moulding design from East China
University of Science and Technology (#EH T K ) in the PRC in
July 1994 and his master’s degree in economics majoring in political
economics from East China Normal University (#E 5l #i K 2) in the
PRC in July 1998. Mr. WANG was granted the qualification of securities
investment consulting by China Securities Regulatory Commission in
December 1999. He also obtained the certificate of secretary to the board
of directors of listed companies issued by Shenzhen Stock Exchange in
November 2008.

Mr. WANG had held several positions in a number of listed companies,
including being: a researcher and then the senior manager of investment
banking of Industrial Securities Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 601377.SH) from June 1998 to May
2007, a business director of investment banking department of Sinolink
Securities Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange,
stock code: 600109.SH) from May 2007 to December 2008, the vice
general manager, the secretary to the board of directors and other positions
of Fujian Zhongfu Industries Co., Ltd. (currently known as Zhongfu Straits
(Pingtan) Development Company Limited) (a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 000592.SZ) from December 2008 to
September 2011, the vice general manager and the secretary to the board of
Thaihot Group Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, stock code: 000732.SZ) from November 2011 to April 2014
and the vice general manager of Greattown Holdings Ltd. (a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600094.SH) from July
2014 to March 2015.

Mr. WANG served as an executive director of Shanghai NextDV Software
Company Limited (_F 8 JE S0 AF A PR ) from August 2015 to
August 2020. He has served as a consultant of Nanjing Sidu Information
Technology Co., Led. (Fg &% i ) P15 B B A PR A 7)) since August
2020 and as an executive director of Shanghai Duwei Consulting
Management Co., Ltd. (E ¥ E F5 A P BR F)) since December
2021.
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Mr. XIE Jun (i B%), aged 47, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 13 September 2022. Mr. XIE has nearly 20 years of
extensive experience in the capital markets, real estate industry, cross-
border investment and financing business, multinational enterprises, large
state-owned enterprises, private enterprises and asset management for
high-net-worth individuals. Mr. XIE holds a master’s degree in business
administration from the University of Hertfordshire, United Kingdom. He
is licensed by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong as a
responsible officer of Leading Securities Company Limited in relation to
Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9
(asset management) regulated activities under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”). He was
also granted Certification of Securities Professional in China by Securities
Association of China and Certification of China Banking Professional by
China Banking Association, and passed the Senior Management
Qualification Tests approved by China Securities Regulatory Commission

and China Banking Insurance Regulatory Commission, respectively.

During the three years immediately preceding the date of approval of this
annual report, Mr. XIE was an independent non-executive director of
Sunkwan Properties Group Limited (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 06900) from September 2023 to February 2024.

Mr. XIE has been the chairman of Leading Securities Company Limited, a
licensed corporation under the SFO in Hong Kong, since January 2019 and
has been the chairman of Leading Securities Japan Company Limited since
October 2022 and the chairman of Leading AM Japan Company Limited
since June 2021. He had held several management positions in a number
of companies, including being: the general manager of the international
business department of Western Securities Company Limited (a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 002673.SZ) from
January 2016 to December 2018; the general manager of asset and wealth
management of BNP Paribas (China) Limited from November 2011 to
December 2015; the general manager of asset and wealth management of
Credit Suisse AG Shanghai Branch from June 2007 to November 2011;
and the vice president of Shanghai Hong Kong Plaza Sub-branch of HSBC
Bank (China) Company Limited from April 2004 to June 2007.
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Ms. YANG Yongyi (B3 wk #8), aged 41, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 31 December 2024. Ms. YANG has over 19
years’ experience in the field of finance and taxation and currently serves as
a senior partner at Guangzhou Ruifeng Consulting Co., Ltd.. Ms. YANG
graduated from Shenzhen University with a major in International
Economics and Trade, and is qualified as a Certified Public Accountant in
China, as well as holding a CFA Certificate in ESG Investing.

During her eight-year tenure at KPMG Huazhen LLP (a special general
partnership) from July 2005 to November 2013 as an audit manager, she
specialized in providing professional services such as IPO audits and annual
audits for large and medium-sized domestic and foreign invested
enterprises, as well as A-share and H-share listed companies. From
February 2014 to June 2021, Ms. YANG served as the tax director at Top
Spring International Holdings Limited, a real estate company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 3688). She possesses
extensive experience and abundant industry resources in finance and tax
management and is familiar with the regulatory requirements for listed
companies in Hong Kong. She has profound professional knowledge and
practical experience in the areas of building corporate financial
management systems, asset restructuring, mergers and acquisitions, tax

compliance, corporate risk management, and financial accounting analysis.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Joint Company Secretaries

Mr. CHAN King Tak (Bl 35 #8), the chief financial officer and joint company
secretary of the Company, joined the Company in September 2022. He has over
23 years of experience in capital markets, financial management, corporate
finance, compliance with the Listing Rules and corporate governance. He
graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a bachelor’s degree
majoring in Accountancy in 2002, and graduated from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong with an executive mastet’s degree in business administration in
2021. He is currently a fellow member of Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. CHAN worked in several listed
companies and an international accounting firm.
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Ms. KWONG Yin Ping, Yvonne (BB e ), the joint company secretary of
the Company. She is a senior vice president of SWCS Corporate Services Group
(Hong Kong) Limited. She holds a bachelor’s degree in accountancy from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University and is a fellow of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries) and The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators). Ms. KWONG has
extensive experience in providing company secretarial and compliance services to
numerous private and listed companies. She is currently the named company
secretary or joint company secretary of several companies listed on the Stock
Exchange.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities

of the Group are property development and property leasing.

BUSINESS REVIEW
General

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a discussion on
the Group’s future business development are set out in the Chairman’s
Statement, as well as the Management Discussion and Analysis sections,
respectively, of this annual report. An analysis of the Group’s performance
during the year using financial key performance indicators is set out in the
Management Discussion and Analysis section of this annual report. Save as
disclosed in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis —
Subsequent Events” in this annual report, the Group has no significant
events after the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2024 and up
to the date of approval of this annual report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Principal risks and uncertainties the Group faces include (i) uncertainty as
to the acquiring of land reserves for development in desirable locations at
commercially acceptable prices; (ii) uncertainty as to business expansion
into new geographic locations; (iii) uncertainty as to obtaining sufficient
funding for land acquisitions and future developments; (iv) risks related to
the fluctuation of profitability of property projects; (v) risks related to
obtaining administrative certificates; (vi) risks related to the performance
of the PRC property markets; (vii) risks related to the government policies
and regulations regarding the PRC property industry; and (viii) risks

related to the increasing raw materials price and labour costs.

The financial risks of the Group mainly include foreign exchange rate risk,
interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. These financial risks, and
the related risk management policies and practices used by the Group are
discussed in note 41 headed “Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies” to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

It is the Group’s corporate and social responsibility in promoting a
sustainable and environmental friendly environment, and the Group strives
to minimize its environmental impact and comply with the applicable
environmental laws and regulations. The measures the Group takes to
ensure its compliance with the applicable environmental laws and
regulations include: (i) strictly selecting construction contractors and
supervising the process of construction; (ii) applying for review by the
relevant government authorities in a timely manner after the project is
completed; and (iii) actively adopting environmentally friendly equipment
and designs. The Group also takes voluntary actions with respect to
environmental protection and makes energy conservation and emission

reduction as primary considerations when designing its property projects.

None of the Group’s properties had received any material fines or penalties
associated with the breach of any environmental laws or regulations during
Year 2024.

The Group’s 2024 Environmental, Social and Governance Report shall be

published separately on the same date as this annual report.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group continues to keep itself updated over the requirement of the
relevant laws and regulations applicable to it to ensure compliance. The
Group had complied with all relevant laws and regulations in all material
aspects and has obtained all applicable material licenses, approvals and

permits from relevant regulatory authorities.

Relationship with Employees

The Group believes high-quality employees who value its corporate culture
are essential elements to promote the Group’s sustainable growth. The
Group intends to attract and retain skilled and talented employees through
various initiatives, including training programs, competitive compensation
packages and effective incentive system. For details regarding employees
and staff costs and the emolument policy of the Group, please refer to the

section headed “Directors’ Report — Employees and Remuneration Policy”.
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Relationship with Suppliers

The Group is dedicated to developing good relationship with suppliers as
long-term business partners to ensure stability of the Group’s businesses.
The Group reinforces business partnerships with suppliers by ongoing
communication in a proactive and effective manner. For details regarding
the Group’s major suppliers, please refer to the section headed “Directors’
Report — Major Customers and Suppliers”.

Relationship with Customers

Customers’ satisfaction with the Group’s services and products has a
profound effect on business and returns. The Group’s dedicated sales team
is in constant communication with customers and potential customers to
uncover and create customer needs and help customers make informed
decisions. Identification of customers’ pain points alongside grasping the
market trend are critical for the Group to timely adjust its operating
strategies to fit the market requirement. For details regarding the Group’s
major customers, please refer to the section headed “Directors’ Report —

Major Customers and Suppliers”.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for Year 2024 and the state of the Group’s
financial position as at that date are set out in the financial statements on
pages 97 to 260.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend for Year
2024 (Year 2023: Nil). As at 31 December 2024, there was no arrangement
under which a shareholder of the Company had waived or agreed to waive
any dividends.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE
OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”)
will be held on Friday, 20 June 2025. A notice convening the AGM will
be published on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website
and dispatched to the shareholders of the Company in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules in due course. For the purpose of
determination of eligibility to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 17 June 2025 to
Friday, 20 June 2025 (both days inclusive), during which period no
transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to be entitled to
attend and vote at the AGM to be held on Friday, 20 June 2025, all
transfer of shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712—
1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on Monday, 16
June 2025.

RESERVES

Changes to the reserves of the Group during Year 2024 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Changes to the property, plant and equipment of the Group and the
Company during Year 2024 are set out in Note 13 to the financial

statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024
are set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during Year 2024 amounted to
approximately RMBO.5 million.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 260 of this annual report.
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PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE
GROUP’S LISTED SECURITIES

Saved as disclosed in this annual report, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed securities of the
Group during Year 2024.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during Year 2024 and up to the date of approval of this

annual report were:

Tk oz

Position

WirHEEREFG LR

Executive Director and chairman of the Board

YT & - A7 BUB G W B R AR

Executive Director, chief executive officer and executive vice president

FATEF (A _F_HF—H L HREL)

Non-executive Director (resigned with effect from 17 January 2025)

B FPATESR (G F WEF =+ — HEEE)
Independent non-executive Director (resigned with effect from 31
December 2024)

W PATES

Independent non-executive Director

WL AT E S

Independent non-executive Director

BT ER (A T NFEH A=+ — HE#ERAL)

Independent non-executive Director (appointed with effect from 31
December 2024)

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company, Directors
retiring by rotation at the forthcoming AGM are Mr. LIU Weiliang and
Mr. XIE Jun. Ms. YANG Yongyi, who was appointed by the Board on 31
December 2024, will also retire at the forthcoming AGM. All the

abovenamed retiring Directors offer themselves for re-election.

None of Mr. LIU Weiliang, Mr. XIE Jun and Ms. YANG Yongyi has an
unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the Company or
any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation,

other than under normal statutory obligations.

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out in the section headed “Biographies of the Directors

and Senior Management” section in this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as the related party transactions as disclosed in Note 38 to the
financial statements and the continuing connected transactions as disclosed
in the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” in this
Directors’ Report, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during Year 2024.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the continuing connected transactions as disclosed in the section
headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” in this Directors’ Report,
there was no other contract of significance between the Company or any of
its subsidiaries and any controlling shareholder of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries, nor other contract of significance for the provision of
services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during Year 2024.
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FREEABERITHABRA  DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
Jy u) ml L R W6 9 18 ) I O INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
P ety e (S BE B A BE 2R SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
RIRE DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS

ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

W_EFZWEF A =Z+—H #HFE As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
A% 23 ) B R AT BN B AR 23 ) BCH AR or the chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and
M (GE 78 778 25 B 8 e 1] 56 XV AR ) 1Y debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
JBe A7 ~ A B s B 5 HE W8 o AT AR R R meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
I T 155 A6 19 5 3520 B 22 AR A\ W) ZE AE kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as notified to
B wC A T RC 8% o sR 4 E T L R B the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
BRC3 BT 2 [ b i 8 AT N S AT & Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
28 Gy B A HE S JI) ] (T B e Sy I )) ZE N e C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) were as follows:

AN w) B W AE T R RE g SOR T NE

A 2 ) iy s HH BBy b Y Interest in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company
L

A8 A 2> W] i HE
BEA T 4 b
Approximate
N LN A percentage of
W BRATBNB RS M E AR By, HE 25 1B Ikt 8 H  shareholding
Name of Name of Group member/ Capacity/ Number of in the
Director/Chief Executive associated corporation Nature of interest "’ Shares Company
B 24 fat S 2R Ay 3 P P HE 4 217,140,000 4.97%
(O —F ZHA4F
— A+t HEME
Mr. OU Guowei (resigned on  The Company Interest in controlled
17 January 2025) corporation”’
B 5 Notes:
1) o A R 2 Y B A o (1) All interests stated are long positions.
@ 7% % 217,140,000 & B By A B B Warm (2)  These 217,140,000 Shares are all held by Warm Shine Limited.
Shine Limited 5 47 °
3) 6K [ 4% 9 4= £ Warm  Shine Limited ) I — 3) Mr. OU Guowei is the sole legal and beneficial owner of Warm Shine Limited and is
ﬁ(i&%ﬁf%ﬁ/\ > E*ﬁ%%#&%ﬁﬁ deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Warm Shine Limited is interested

e ] > 1% 95 45 % 7S Warm Shine Limited % under the SFO.
A RE 2 1 AR b WA RE 4T o
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AR oy ) e RE R b Y BE AR Interest in debentures of the Company
15 4H B © 88 47
[5] % 1 i 25 1
FONER i
Approximate
iR  percentage of
A5 W R B AW & & & holding in
HHE RSB BES M E AR 1y, HE kR Principal the debentures
Name of Name of Group member/ Capacity/ amount of  of same class
Director/Chief Executive associated corporation Nature of interest’ debentures in issue
B 28] ft 5 2 A2 ] TR R 1,410,000 3 75 0.19%"
O =% — 4
— 3+t H R
Mr. OU Guowei (resigned on  The Company Interest in controlled US$1,410,000”
17 January 2025) corporatiorfﬁ
B 5 Notes:
(1) ST 5 2 TRE 2 48 2 U o (1) All interests stated are long positions.
(2) W % fif ME W 2 ¥ M1 Strike Investment (2)  These debentures are all held by Strike Investment Holdings Limited.
Holdings Limited FF 47 ©
(3) Ik B {2 6 A= 2 Serike Investment Holdings 3) Mr. OU Guowei is the sole legal and beneficial owner of Strike Investment Holdings
Limited [ M — S5 K E A A > AR Limited and is deemed to be interested in the debentures in which Strike Investment
P55 J5 B & A9 > BB B R Serike Holdings Limited is interested under the SFO.
Investment Holdings Limited % A #£ 4 () &
HERE b A R -
(4) MHBEEHEAN T —F = HE & (4) The debentures are the green senior notes due March 2023 with an aggregate principal
4 HE%E 728,623,000 3 JC M 1% .8.0% 4 FI| F amount of US$728,623,000 bearing interest at a rate of 8.0% per annum.
EiwsYioke QRSP
b b SC R g8 & Ah > i & AR Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors nor
A=+ —H o M F XA A & EAT the chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in
BN B A AR 22 ) BCH AT o] AR Bk B any of the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of
76 WA S MO B R B BB XV ER) 1 D its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as

A B B 17 sl A HE 78 o B AT AT AR R 8 05 recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
B 0 68 A 1) 565 352 B E AR 8 W ZH AR B section 352 of the SFO or as notified to the Company and the Stock
B 8 M R Bk A R AR BOR B B AR Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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3 R R R Hoqt A\ bR %
1 B R B e Ay 1 HE 5 S
RE

E\ EOWE+FH=ZF—H>UTA

+ (SR N A AT BN B BRAN) R
I A7 A B B 073 v 0 A AT o] AR 9 A o M
9 B W 1910 55 336 M B E A 2% A B AT B
5 w0 AT RC B 04 E £ R A

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (other than the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in
the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

i 58 4 HE 2 WE 29
kR HFEHMAC |k
Number of  Approximate
JB R BB BE 75 P H Shares or  percentage of
Name of shareholder Nature of interest securities held"’ interest
R 5% 5 5 AR PR MR AR 1,997,258,000 (L)"” 45.73%
Mr. OU Zongrong Interest in a controlled corporation
MO 4 £ i {6 M 22 1,997,258,000 (L) 45.73%
Ms. LIN Shuying® Interest of spouse
R E/ 2PN 1,890,826,000 (L) 43.29%
RoYue Limited Beneficial owner
Hh g R 7 A A A R i B 3 o A S RE i B9 N & 575,000,000 (L) 13.16%

China Orient Asset Management Co., Ltd.

Person having a security interest in shares

ZE R 25,000,000 (L) 0.57%

)
Interest in a controlled corporation

M FHEILIE A BN R e % |
e

2 A ¥ %1,997,258,000 8 My s
1,890,826,000 & M 13 B RoYue Limited
£ 2 106,404,657 & & 7y B RoJing Limited
Fe o 127,343 M43 HI RoJing ZR (PTC)
Limited fF 7 > WX 2% 4 56 4 B RoYue
Limited ~ RoJing lelted&Rojmg ZR (PTC)
Limited M M — & L EHH WA A
e o R 5% 45 S AR W 2 TR RoYue Limited
B A 191,890,826,000 B HE {;} RoJing
Limited £F A 9 106,404,657 & & 1 K&
RoJing ZR (PTC) Limited 5 47 1y 27,343 lils
JBE A b A BE A o

Gy MROBREE Lt Ty BOR A SRR A BC A - ARE
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Notes:

1) The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in such Shares.

2) These 1,997,258,000 Shares represent 1,890,826,000 Shares held by RoYue Limited,
106,404,657 Shares held by RoJing Limited and 27,343 shares held by Rojing ZR (PTC)
Limited. Mr. Ou Zongrong is the sole legal and beneficial owner of RoYue Limited,
RoJing Limited and Rojing ZR (PTC) Limited, therefore Mr. Ou Zongrong is deemed
to be interested in 1,890,826,000 Shares, 106,404,657 Shares and 27,343 Shares held
by RoYue Limited, RoJing Limited and Rojing ZR (PTC) Limited, respectively.

3) Ms. Lin Shuying is the spouse of Mr. Ou Zongrong. Under Part XV of the SFO, Ms.
Lin Shuying is deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. Ou

Zongrong is interested.



) R I ) &R A R W W
R B R R B AT PR R A AT - TR
L 5 B A PR m v R T
IR A BR A R HEAT 52.74% HE 4G IR
P I R B rh B R A R
B 3 A7 BR 2 ) B B 5 A A PR
F R S R B A () 4 IR
A B 7 A RE S I B0 b A B o

B b SCHT B8R AL R KR AT ELA
BN AS AT Aer Al At (G g AR Y
A f AT BON B BRAN) R T F T AR A+
ZA = BRI 2 A 4y SR B
B AR AR RS TR )RR 5 336k B
AR oy T ZE AT B 5 RC T R Bk 09 HE iR
R -

A

BRS04 B 24 AT ] 35 46 00 AT 4 T
oK B B B B 7 O A 45 5 S 4
HEE RS

EREP LOEER

R P4 R A SR SE B
SR AR TR M A Y i i A AR AR
309% LA o B4R HE O R R R B
BG BB AS 309 ATF

EHREHG

AR FARBE LR A 3 21 5 B A A
BFAR I KR ZET((HEERZRAET)
WHTH B RE R RGN
=28 > RVE S JE AT & F iR ot
A F R oA kOB ot o MRk R
UrEBRT LB GER > &
BHEEEEHRNB I IERITESE - F
ZEEGMEERBECAN OB LR
CARN/NCIR N Y Rk (k= )
9 B AR N R EEBOR KBRS i)
EoF NG = NN NN i o =
T AL KGR E K EEAN AN
JE B A -

EEEWSE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

(4) Dongxing Securities (Hong Kong) Financial Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by
Dongxing Securities Co., Ltd which in turn is owned as to 52.74% by China Orient
Asset Management Co., Ltd. By virtue of the SFO, China Orient Asset Management
Co., Ltd. and Dongxing Securities Co., Ltd are deemed to be interested in the Shares

in which Dongxing Securities (Hong Kong) Financial Holdings Limited is interested.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors and chief executive are not aware of
any other person, not being a Director or chief executive of the Company,
who had an interest or short position in the Shares or the underlying Shares
of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO as at 31 December 2024.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or

existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In 2024, due to the nature of the Group’s business, revenue derived from
its top five customers accounted for less than 30% of total revenue, and the
purchases from its top five suppliers accounted for less than 30% of total

purchase cost.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”)
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules and the Corporate Governance Code. The Audit Committee consists
of three members, namely Mr. XIE Jun, Mr. WANG Chuanxu and Ms.
YANG Yongyi, each an independent non-executive Director. Ms. YANG
Yongyi has been appointed as the chairman of the Audit Committee, and
is the independent non-executive Director possessing the appropriate
professional qualifications. The primary duties of the Audit Committee
include: (i) making recommendations regarding the appointment and
removal of external auditors of the Company; (ii) reviewing the accounting
policies and financial positions of the Company; (iii) reviewing and
supervising the internal audit functions and internal control structure of
the Company; and (iv) reviewing and overseeing the risk management of

the Company.
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The Group’s audited consolidated financial statements for the Year 2024
were reviewed by the Audit Committee before recommendation to the
Board for approval.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS AND TAX RELIEF

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the articles of association
of the Company, although there are no restrictions against such rights

under the laws in the Cayman Islands.

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the

shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

During Year 2024, the Group had an average number of 927 employees
(Year 2023: average 1,549 employees). Please refer to Notes 6, 8, 9 and 39
to the notes to financial statements in this annual report for details of
employee remuneration and benefit expense (including directors’ and chief

executive’s remuneration) incurred for Year 2024.

The Group recruits qualified personnel in local markets through various
channels, such as recruiting firms, internal referrals and advertisement on
the Internet. The Group particularly values employees who demonstrate
loyalty to their work and who value corporate culture, as well as those with
relevant working experiences. The Group’s future development, to a
considerable extent, depends on its ability to identify, hire, train and retain
suitably skilled and qualified employees, including management personnel,
with relevant professional skills. Therefore, the Group has established
systematic training programs for employees based on their positions and

expertise.

The Group enters into labor contracts with all employees and offers
employees competitive remuneration packages that include basic salaries,
discretionary bonuses and performance-based payments. The Company has
also adopted the Share Option Scheme, details of which are set out in the
section headed “Directors’ Report — Share Option Scheme”.

Under the applicable PRC laws and regulations, the Group is subject to
social insurance contribution plans. The Group also participates in the

MPF Scheme for all employees in Hong Kong.
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EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group operates its business mainly in the Chinese Mainland. The
Chinese Mainland based employees of the Group participate in various
defined contribution retirement benefit plans operated by the relevant
municipal and provincial governments in the PRC (the “PRC Retirement
Scheme”) in accordance with the rules and regulations. The Group’s
subsidiaries which operate in the PRC are required to make monthly
contributions to these plans calculated as a percentage of the employees’
salaries. The municipal and provincial governments undertake to assume
the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and future retired PRC
based employees’ payable under the plans described above. Other than the
monthly contributions, the Group has no further obligation for the
payment of retirement and other post-retirement benefits of its employees.
The assets of these plans are held separately from those of the Group in
independently administrated funds managed by the PRC government.

The Group also participates in the MPF Scheme for all employees in Hong
Kong. The contributions to the MPF Scheme are based on minimum
statutory contribution requirement of the lower of 5% of eligible
employees’ relevant aggregate income and HK$1,500. The assets of this
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in independently
administered funds.

There are no provisions under the PRC Retirement Scheme and MPF
Scheme whereby forfeited contributions may be used to reduce future
contributions. Particulars of the employee retirement benefits of the Group
are set out in Notes 2.4, 6, 8, 9 and 39 to the financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 15 December 2017, the Share Option Scheme was conditionally
approved and adopted by the then shareholders of the Company and its

implementation is conditional on the listing.

(1) Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide the Company
with a means to incentivise the Participants (as defined below) and
retain employees of the Group, and to encourage employees to work
towards enhancing the value of the Company and promote the long-
term development of the Company.
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(2)

(3)

Participants, Duration and Remaining Life

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Board shall be
entitled at any time within the period of 10 years after the adoption
date, being 15 December 2017 to 14 December 2027, to grant
options to any director or employee of the Group who in the sole
discretion of the Board has contributed or will contribute to the
Group (the “Participant”). Subject to earlier termination by the
Company in general meetings or by the Board, the Share Option
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on the adoption date. As at 31 December 2024, the
remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is approximately 2 years
and 11 months.

No offer shall be made and no option shall be granted to any
Participant in circumstances prohibited by the Listing Rules at a
time when the Participant would or might be prohibited from
dealing in the Shares by the Listing Rules or by any applicable rules,
regulations or law. In particular, no options may be granted during
the period commencing one month immediately preceding the earlier
of (i) the date of the Board meeting (as such date is first notified to
the Stock Exchange in accordance with the Listing Rules) for the
approval of the Company’s results for any year, half-year, quarterly or
other interim period; and (ii) the deadline for the Company to
publish its interim or annual results announcement under the Listing
Rules; and ending on the date of actual publication of such results

announcement.

Maximum Number of Shares Available for Issue

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and all
other share option schemes existing at such time of the Company
shall not in aggregate exceed 400,000,000 Shares (representing 10%
of the total number of Shares in issue (excluding treasury shares) as of
the date of the listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange, the
“Scheme Mandate Limit”), which represents 9.16% of the total
number of Shares in issue as at the date of approval of this annual
report. The number of options available for grant under the Share
Option Scheme at the beginning and the end of the year ended 31
December 2024 was 400,000,000.
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The Company may renew the Scheme Mandate Limit at any time
subject to prior shareholders’ approval but in any event, the total
number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company under the limit as refreshed must
not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue (excluding treasury share) as at
the date of approval of the renewal of the Scheme Mandate Limit.

Maximum Entitlement of Each Participant and Scheme
Limit

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted and to be granted to any Participant
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) in any 12 month period shall not at the time of grant exceed
1% of the Shares in issue (excluding treasury share), unless otherwise
separately approved by shareholders in general meeting with such
Participant and his associates abstaining from voting.

At any time, the maximum number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options which then have been granted and have
yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 10% of the
total number of Shares in issue (excluding treasury share) from time
to time.

Grant of Options to Connected Persons or Any of their
Associates

Each grant of options to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or their respective associate(s), must be
approved by the independent non-executive Directors (excluding any
independent non-executive Director who is the proposed grantee).
Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director, or their respective associate(s),
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and to be granted under any share option scheme(s)
of the Company (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and
including the date on which an offer of the grant of option is made to
the Participant (the “Offer Date”) representing in aggregate over 0.1%
of the Shares in issue at the Offer Date, such grant of options must be
approved by the shareholders of the Company in general meeting, in
which the grantee, his/her associates and all core connected persons of
the Company must abstain from voting in favour of such resolution.
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(6)
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8)

Acceptance and Exercise of Options, Vesting Period

Participants are required to pay HK$1.00 as consideration for the
acceptance of an option granted to them. There is no specific period
set for such payment. The period for such acceptance and payment
are determined by the Board at the time of granting the options.

Subject to the terms of grant of any option, an option may be
exercised by the grantee at any time during the option period and in
accordance with the vesting schedule and other terms specified in the
offer. No option may be vested more than 10 years after the date of

grant.

Exercise Price

The exercise price shall be a price determined by the Board and
notified to a Participant but in any event shall be at least the higher
of:

o the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets on the date of grant of the option, which

must be a business day;

J the average of the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the Offer Date; and

J the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant.

Option Granted

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up to the date of
this report, no option has been granted or agreed to be granted by the
Company pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, or were exercised,
cancelled, lapsed or outstanding. Therefore, it is not applicable for the
Company to set out the number of Shares that may be issued in respect
of the share options granted under the Share Option Scheme during
2024 divided by the weighted average number of Shares of the relevant
class in issue in 2024.

Further details of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are
set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 28 December 2017.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of approval of this annual report and based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the minimum
public float of 25% as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young who shall
retire at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of auditor will be
proposed at the forthcoming AGM. There has been no change in the
auditor of the Company during the past three years.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no reserve available for
distribution to shareholders of the Company.

INDEBTEDNESS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had total outstanding bank and other
borrowings of RMB27,827.9 million (31 December 2023: RMB29,000.5
million), corporate bond with carrying amounts of RMBS5,098.5 million (31
December 2023: RMB4,953.7 million), senior notes with carrying
amounts of RMB24,514.7 million (31 December 2023: RMB24,162.2
million) and PCS with carrying amounts of RMB1,412.7 million (31
December 2023: RMB1,391.9 million). The Group’s borrowings are
denominated in Renminbi, Hong Kong dollars and US dollars. The details
are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis —

Liquidity, Financial and Capital Resources — Indebtedness”.
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RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE THE COMPANY’S
SECURITIES AND EQUITY-LINKED
AGREEMENTS

At no time during Year 2024 was the Company, or any of its holding
companies or subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executive of the Company or
their respective associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) to have any
right to subscribe for securities of the Company or any of its associated
corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate, nor did the Company enter into any equity-linked agreement
save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in this
Directors’ Report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at the date of approval of this annual report, none of the Directors and
directors of the Company’s subsidiaries, or their respective associates had
interests in businesses, which compete or are likely to compete either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Company and its
subsidiaries as required to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules.

CHANGES IN DIRECTOR’S AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS UNDER
RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Biographies of the Directors and
Senior Management” and Note 8 to the financial statements, there is no
other change in Directors’ biographical details which is required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules since the date of
the 2024 interim report of the Company.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

In order to restrict competition activities with the Company, the
controlling shareholders, namely Mr. OU Zongrong, Mr. OU Guogqiang,
Mr. OU Guowei, RoYue Limited, RoJing Limited, RoSheng Limited and
Warm Shine Limited (the “Controlling Shareholder(s)”), entered into a
deed of non-competition in favor of the Company on 15 December 2017 (the
“Deed of Non-competition”). Pursuant to the Deed of Non-competition,
the Controlling Shareholders have undertaken, among others, not to
compete with the business of the Group, and details of the Deed of Non-
competition are set out in the sub-section headed “Deed of Non-
competition”
Shareholders” of the prospectus of the Company dated 28 December 2017.

in the section headed “Relationship with Controlling
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Each of the Controlling Shareholders has made a written confirmation to
the Board in respect of their compliance with the undertakings in the Deed
of Non-competition (the “Undertakings”) during Year 2024 (the “Relevant
Period”).

Upon receiving the confirmations from the Controlling Shareholders, the
independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the same as part of the
annual review process. In determining whether the Controlling
Shareholders had fully complied with the Undertakings in the Relevant
Period for the annual assessment, the independent non- executive Directors
noted that: (a) the Controlling Shareholders declared that they had fully
complied with the Undertakings in the Relevant Period; (b) no new
competing business was reported by the Controlling Shareholders during
the Relevant Period; and (c) there was no particular situation rendering the
full compliance of the Undertakings being questionable. In view of the
above, the independent non-executive Directors confirmed that, as far as
they can ascertain, all of the Undertakings were complied with by the
Controlling Shareholders in the Relevant Period.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Subject to applicable laws, the Directors and key officers shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain by or by reason of
any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their
duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices, pursuant to the articles
of association of the Company. The Company has arranged for appropriate
insurance cover for Directors’ and key officers’ liabilities in respect of legal
actions that may be brought against the Directors and key officers
throughout the year.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

As disclosed in the Company's announcement dated 29 December 2023,
each of Zhenro Services Group Limited (Stock Code: 6958) and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Zhenro Services Group”) is a connected
person of the Company. Accordingly, the transactions between Zhenro
Services Group and the Group constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions (as the case may be) of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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2023 Pre-Delivery Property Management Services
Agreement

The Company (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) entered into
a framework agreement in relation to the provision of pre-delivery
property management services with Zhenro Services (for itself and on
behalf of its subsidiaries) on 15 November 2022 (the “2023 Pre-
Delivery Property Management Services Agreement”’). Under
the 2023 Pre-Delivery Property Management Services Agreement,
Zhenro Services Group shall, where it is selected following the tender
processes in accordance with the relevant pre-delivery property
management laws and regulations, provide pre-delivery management
services for residential property projects developed by the Group
before the delivery of such properties to property owners (including
but not limited to security, cleaning, landscaping, repair and
maintenance of common area and shared facilities) according to the
tender documents and definitive management agreements to be
entered into between Zhenro Services Group and members of the
Group from time to time (collectively, the “Pre-Delivery
Services”). The 2023 Pre-Delivery Property Management Services
Agreement had been effective from 1 January 2023 and up to and
including 31 December 2025 and its term may be renewed as the
parties may agree, subject to applicable laws and regulations. The
service fees payable by the Group to Zhenro Services Group for the
Pre-Delivery Services shall be based on the fee quotes to be submitted
by the Zhenro Services Group under the relevant tender bids and the
pricing terms as recommended by the relevant government
authorities. The aggregate management service fees paid by the
Group to Zhenro Services Group for their service in 2024 were
RMB2.0 million, which did not exceed the annual cap of the
transaction for 2024 of RMB20.0 million. The transactions
contemplated under the 2023 Pre-Delivery Property Management
Services Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions
for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As one or
more of the applicable percentage ratios of the transactions of the
annual cap in respect of the management and related services under
the 2023 Pre-Delivery Property Management Services Agreement
exceeded 0.1% but all of them were less than 5%, the transactions
were subject to the reporting, annual review and announcement
requirements but are exempt from the independent shareholders’
approval requirement under Rule 14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules.
The transactions contemplated under the 2023 Pre-Delivery Property
Management Services Agreement also constituted related party
transactions of the Company under IFRS, details of which are set out
in Note 38 to the financial statements.

Details of the 2023 Pre-Delivery Property Management Services
Agreement with the annual caps relating thereto are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 15 November 2022.
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2023 Management Services Agreement

The Company (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) entered into
a framework management services agreement in relation to the
provision of management and related services with Zhenro Services (for
itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) (the “2023 Management
Services Agreement”) on 15 November 2022. Under the 2023
Management Services Agreement, Zhenro Services Group shall
provide management and related services to the residential property
projects of the Group and their display units, sales offices and
community clubhouses as well as commercial properties operated by
the Group, including but not limited to cleaning, landscaping,
concierge, maintenance of public order, security services and other
related value-added services to the aforesaid venues according to the
definitive management agreements to be entered into between
Zhenro Services Group and members of the Group from time to time
(collectively, the “Management Services”). The management fees
payable by the Group to the Zhenro Services Group for the
Management Services shall be determined on arm’s length basis
taking into account a wide range of factors set out in the pricing
policy in the 2023 Management Services Agreement. The 2023
Management Services Agreement had been effective from 1 January
2023 and up to and including 31 December 2025 and its term may
be renewed as the parties may agree, subject to applicable laws and
regulations. The aggregate management service fees paid by the
Group to Zhenro Services Group in 2024 were RMB29.4 million,
which did not exceed the annual cap of the transaction for 2024 of
RMB50.0 million. The transactions contemplated under the 2023
Management Services Agreement constituted continuing connected
transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios of the
transactions of the annual cap in respect of the management and
related services under the 2023 Management Services Agreement
exceeded 0.1% but all of them were less than 5%, the transactions
were subject to the reporting, annual review and announcement
requirements but were exempt from the independent shareholders’
approval requirement under Rule 14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules.
The transactions contemplated under the 2023 Management Services
Agreement also constituted related party transactions of the
Company under IFRS, details of which are set out in Note 38 to the
financial statements.

Details of the 2023 Management Services Agreement with the annual
caps relating thereto are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 15 November 2022.
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3)

2023 Consultancy Services Agreement

On 15 November 2022, the Company entered into the Consultancy
Services Agreement (the “2023 Consultancy Services Agreement”)
with Zhenro Commercial Management Co., Ltd.* (1 4% P¥ 3£ & 3
A R 2~ #l) (“Zhenro Commercial”), a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of Zhenro Services, in relation to the provision of
commercial property operational and consultancy services (collectively,
the “Consultancy Services”) by Zhenro Commercial and its
subsidiaries (the “Zhenro Commercial Group”) to the Group. The
2023 Consultancy Services Agreement has been effective from 1
January 2023 and up to and including 31 December 2025 and its
term may be renewed as the parties may agree, subject to applicable
laws and regulations. The service fees payable by the Group to the
Zhenro Commercial Group for the Consultancy Services shall be
determined taking into account a wide range of factors set out in the
pricing policy in the 2023 Consultancy Services Agreement. There
were no commercial property operational and consultancy services
fees paid by the Company to the Zhenro Commercial in 2024, which
did not exceed the annual cap of the transaction for 2024 of
RMB15.0 million. The transactions contemplated under the 2023
Consultancy Services Agreement constitute continuing connected
transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios of the
transactions in relation to the annual cap in respect of the commercial
property operational and consultancy services under the 2023
Consultancy Services Agreement exceed(s) 0.1% but all of them are
less than 5%, the transactions are subject to the reporting, annual
review and announcement requirements but are exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirement under Rule
14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules. The transactions contemplated under
the 2023 Consultancy Services Agreement also constitute related
party transactions of the Company under IFRS, details of which are

set out in Note 38 to the financial statements.

Details of the 2023 Consultancy Services Agreement with the annual
caps relating thereto are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 15 November 2022.
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Lease Agreement

Members of the Group (as lessor) entered into the Existing Lease
Agreements (“Existing Lease Agreements”) and the New Lease
Agreement (“New Lease Agreement”) with members of Zhenro
Commercial Group (as lessee) by 10 May 2021, pursuant to which
the such respective lessee leases the entire property from the relevant
member of the Group (as lessor), and has the right to procure tenants
and sub-lease any units in the relevant property, and to engage in
advertising, management and operation activities in respect of the
relevant property. The Existing Lease Agreements and the New Lease
Agreement have been effective from their respective signing date and
up to and including 31 December 2023 and the terms may be
renewed as the parties may mutually agree, subject to applicable laws
and regulations. There was no rental fees paid by members of Zhenro
Commercial Group to the Company in respect of the Existing Lease
Agreements and the New Lease Agreement in 2023. The transactions
contemplated under the Existing Lease Agreements and the New
Lease Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions for
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. With respect
to the Existing Lease Agreements, pursuant to Rule 14A.60(1) of the
Listing Rules, the Company is required to comply with the annual
review and disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules regarding the continuing connected transactions under the
Existing Lease Agreements, each of which is an agreement for a fixed
period with fixed terms. The Company will comply with all
applicable requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
upon variation or renewal of any of the Existing Lease Agreements.
With respect to the New Lease Agreement, as all of the applicable
percentage ratios (as defined under Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules)
in relation to the highest annual cap for the New Lease Agreement
were less than 0.1%, the New Lease Agreement was fully exempted
from the shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure
requirements under Rule 14A.76(1)(a) of the Listing Rules. The
transactions contemplated under the Existing Lease Agreements and
the New Lease Agreement also constitute related party transactions
of the Company under IFRS, details of which are set out in Note 38

to the financial statements.

Details of the Existing Lease Agreements and the New Lease
Agreement and the annual caps relating thereto are set out in the

Company’s announcement dated 19 May 2021.
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2024 Lease Agreements

In order to renew the Existing Lease Agreement and the New Lease
Agreement which expired on 31 December 2023, on 29 December
2023, the Company and members of Zhenro Commercial Group (as
lessee) entered into lease agreements (the “2024 Lease
Agreements”), pursuant to which the such respective lessee leases
the entire property from the relevant member of the Group (as
lessor), and has the right to procure tenants and sub-lease any units
in the relevant property, and to engage in advertising, management

and operation activities in respect of the relevant property.

While the 2024 Lease Agreements were entered into during Year
2023, the term of each 2024 Lease Agreements will be from 1
January 2024 to 31 December 2025 (both days inclusive), which may
be renewed as the parties may agree, subject to compliance with the
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and all other

applicable laws and regulations.

The rental fees payable by Zhenro Services Group to the Group shall
be determined on arm’s length basis and with reference to the
prevailing market rental fee for comparable premises in the vicinity

of the property.

During Year 2024, there was no transaction contemplated under the
2024 Lease Agreements. Details of the 2024 Lease Agreements and
the annual caps relating thereto are set out in the Company’s

announcement dated 29 December 2023.
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Review by the independent non-executive Directors and
external auditor

All the independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the continuing

connected transactions have been entered into:

(i)  in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i1) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii) according to the agreements governing them on terms that are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of

the Company as a whole.

The Company’s external auditor, Ernst & Young, was engaged to
report on the continuing connected transactions and the Board of
Directors confirmed that, pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules, Ernst & Young has provided a letter confirming that:

(i)  nothing has come to their attention that caused them to believe
that the disclosed continuing connected transactions have not
been approved by the Board;

(i)  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by
the Group, nothing has come to their attention that caused
them to believe that the continuing connected transactions
were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance

with the pricing policies of the Group;

(iii) nothing has come to their attention that caused them to believe
that the continuing connected transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant

agreements governing such transactions; and

(iv) nothing has come to their attention that caused them to believe
that the disclosed continuing connected transactions have

exceeded the annual cap set by the Company.
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(7) General

Save as disclosed above, for Year 2024, the Group had not entered
into any connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
which are required to be disclosed in this annual report pursuant to
the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, the other related party transactions as disclosed in
Note 38 to the financial statements did not constitute “connected
transactions” or ‘“continuing connected transactions” required to be
disclosed under the Listing Rules. The related party transactions that
constituted continuing connected transactions of the Group have complied
with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

All references above to other sections, reports or notes in this annual report

form part of this annual report.

By order of the Board
LIU Weiliang
Chairman of the Board

Shanghai, PRC, 28 March 2025
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The Company is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance by focusing on principles of integrity, accountability,
transparency, independence, responsibility and fairness. The Company has
developed and implemented sound governance policies and measures with
the Board being responsible for performing such corporate governance
duties. The Board will continue to review and monitor the governance of
the Company with reference to the Corporate Governance Code so as to
maintain a high standard of corporate governance practices of the
Company.

So far as the Directors are aware, during Year 2024, the Company has
complied with the code provisions set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing
Rules.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND DIVERSITY
POLICY

The Board is responsible for directing and supervising the Company’s
affairs in order to lead the Company towards success. The Board has general
powers for the management and conduct of the Company’s business. The
day-to-day operations and management are delegated by the Board to the
management of the Company, who will implement the strategy and

direction as determined by the Board.

The Board will review the structure and composition of the Board from
time to time in light of prevailing circumstances, in order to maintain a

high standard of corporate governance practices of the Company.

The Board has a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company. The Company has also
adopted a board diversity policy setting out the approach adopted by the
Board regarding diversity of Board members. In designing the Board’s
composition, Board diversity has been considered from a number of
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, industry experience, technical and professional
skills and/or qualifications, knowledge, length of services and time to be
devoted as a director of the Company. The Company will also take into

account factors relating to its own business model and specific needs from
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time to time. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board. As at the
date of approval of this annual report, the analysis of the Board composition
is as follow:

R E
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No. of 1 Air AF it 41 Skill/Industry Directors’ Educational T
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The Board is fairly diverse in terms of position, age, skills and industry
experience, length of service and knowledge. Following the appointment of
Ms. YANG Yongyi as an independent non-executive Director on 31
December 2024, the Company had achieved the gender diversity
requirement at Board level pursuant to Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules.
The Board targets to have at least one female Board member at all time and
will continue to seek opportunities to increase the proportion of female

members over time as and when suitable candidates are identified.
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As at 31 December 2024, 40.3% and 59.7% of the employees (including
senior management) of the Group were female and male, respectively,
which is regarded by the Board as satisfactory and is in line with the
attributes of the real estate industry. There are no mitigating factors or
circumstances which make achieving gender diversity across the workforce
(including senior management) more challenging or less relevant as the
Group selects or promotes suitable talents based on criteria such as
academic background, working experience and performances rather than on
the ground of gender. The Group will continue to take gender diversity
into consideration during recruitment and when recruiting staff members
of mid to senior levels in order to develop a pipeline of potential successors
to the Board, and will maintain or even increase female proportion at all

levels with the ultimate goal of achieving gender parity.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, there is no financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationships among the Directors and in
particular, between the chairman, Mr. LIU Weiliang and the chief

executive officer, Mr. LI Yang.

The Company has entered into service contracts with each of the executive
Directors and has issued letters of appointment to each of the independent
non-executive Directors. The principal particulars of these service contracts
and letters of appointment are (a) for an initial fixed term of three years
commencing from 8 June 2023 (for executive Director Mr. LIU Weiliang),
26 March 2024 (for executive Director Mr. LI Yang), 15 December 2023 (for
independent non-executive Directors Mr. WANG Chuanxu), 13 September
2022 (for independent non-executive Director Mr. XIE Jun), and 31
December 2024 (for independent non-executive Director Ms. YANG
Yongyi) and (b) subject to termination in accordance with their respective
terms. The service contracts and letters of appointment may be renewed in
accordance with the articles of association of the Company and the
applicable Rules.

The aggregate remuneration (including fees, salaries, contributions to
pension schemes, share-based compensation expenses, discretionary
bonuses, housing and other allowances and other benefits in kind) payable
to the Directors for Year 2024 was approximately RMB5.8 million.
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The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference to salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of
the Directors and performance of the Group. Details of the remuneration of
the Directors and senior management for 2024 are set out in Notes 8 and 9
to the financial statements. In addition, pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of
the Corporate Governance Code, the annual remuneration of members of

the senior management by band for Year 2024 is set out below:

EES £ 1PN

Number of senior

5 i [ ) oy A PR SH Remuneration to the senior management by band management
B % 2,000,001 78 £ A B % 2,500,000 RMB2,000,001 to RMB2,500,000 1
st Total 1
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During Year 2024, the Company has three independent non-executive
Directors, which meets the requirement of the Listing Rules that the
number of independent non-executive directors must represent at least one-
third of the Board and should not be less than three.

The independent non-executive Directors play an important role in
ensuring the Board obtains independent views. They use their independent
analysis and professional judgments to provide professional and fair
opinions on the decisions made by the Board. This ensures the interests of
the Company and the shareholders are being protected. All Directors,
including the independent non-executive Directors, are given various
channels to communicate and express their views to the Board and have
separate and independent access to the management of the Group in order
to make informed decisions. Pursuant to Code Provision C.2.7 of the
Corporate Governance Code, the chairman of the Board should hold at least
one meeting every year, with the independent non-executive Directors and
without the presence of other Directors, to discuss significant matters and
any concerns. Further, all Directors or any of their close associates who have
a material interest in any matter to be considered in a meeting should
abstain from voting on the relevant resolution, and shall not be included in
the quorum of the meeting. Independent non-executive Directors who, and

whose associates, have no interest in the matter should attend the meeting.
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The Board reviews the above mechanisms annually to ensure independent
views are available to the Board and the implementation and effectiveness
of such mechanisms, and confirmed that such mechanisms were effective
during Year 2024.

The nomination committee is authorised to assess the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors. The independent non-executive
Directors are required to provide an annual confirmation of their
independence to the Company and to notify the Company as soon as
possible of any subsequent change of circumstances that may affect their
independence. The Company has received the annual written confirmation
of independence from each of the independent non-executive Directors
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and considers them to be
independent.

Directors have access to the services of the company secretary to ensure that
the Board procedures are followed. During Year 2024, Mr. CHAN King
Tak was one of the Company’s joint company secretaries. The Company has
also engaged Ms. KWONG Yin Ping, Yvonne, a senior vice president of
SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited (a company
secretarial service provider), as another joint company secretary to assist
Mr. CHAN King Tak in discharging his duties as company secretary of the
Company. Ms. KWONG Yin Ping, Yvonne’s primary contact person at
the Company is Mr. CHAN King Tak.

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, each of Mr. CHAN
King Tak and Ms. KWONG Yin Ping, Yvonne have undertaken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training during Year 2024.

BT FFRK

Annual Report 2024 vavi



REAWS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BERNERERTR AXFAC %
ETPN S I R o < NN R
LEBEHEENTH HAasmBER
A TR R R Al AR B S R IE R
BAT o Mok & & (R =& U4+
CTHE+—HEREMAERE) O R
SECE A JUH R BT A
3.09D M 17] — [l A &A% ot & ok 1k R 4R it
LR R AT IR ARk A
HTHEBFEHRELAEINEEZL I
EMEEWAEELEREWHRL - AN
AN L EMEERCHEAEE . DR
T O L G B AR o 1E A HRR A
BETRAY — 34 o A B AR AN
F B %Pk bR B AR B85S DUAE B
ERFAHBEEREN S EFNR
ClERE iR i R I

On the first occasion of each Director’s appointment, the Company has
arranged a comprehensive induction to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and business and is fully aware
of the director’s responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other relevant
statutory requirements. Ms. YANG Yongyi, who was appointed to the
Board on 31 December 2024, had obtained legal advice relating to
director’s duties and responsibilities under applicable laws and regulations
on 9 December 2024 from a law firm qualified to advise on Hong Kong
law pursuant to Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules, and had confirmed that
she understood her obligations as a Director. The Company will arrange
suitable training for all Directors in order to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills as part of their continuous professional development.
During Year 2024, the Company has arranged Listing Rules-related
training as part of Directors’ continuous professional development and the

training records of the Directors are summarized as follows:
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Attending briefings,
trainings or seminars

and reading materials
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Executive Directors
Mr. LIU Weiliang V
Mr. LI Yang vV

Non-executive Director
Mr. OU Guowei (resigned with effect from
17 January 2025) v

Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. LOKE Yu (alias LOKE Hoi Lam)
(resigned with effect from 31 December

Wk - (B =& W4+ = H =1 —H Ms. YANG Yongyi (appointed with effect
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2024) v
Mr. WANG Chuanxu v
Mr. XIE Jun y

from 31 December 2024) N
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Code provision C.5.1 of the Corporate Governance Code requires that at
least four regular Board meetings should be held each year at approximately

quarterly intervals.

During Year 2024, the Company held 4 Board meetings and two general
meetings. A total of 32 proposals were considered at the Board meetings,
including proposals for the consideration of the Company’s 2023 annual
report, 2023 annual results announcement, 2024 interim report and 2024

interim results announcement.

The table below sets out the details of the attendance of each Director at
the Board meetings, Board committee meetings and general meeting held
during Year 2024.

R HE R R B

Number of meetings attended/meetings eligible to attend

HREREG WAZHEHEG HMZET  BREAE

HHG Audit Nomination Remuneration General
The Board Committee committee committee meeting
HIr#EF Executive Directors
BlfE s e Mr. LIU Weiliang 4/4 - 3/3 3/3 2/2
B Mr. LI Yang 4/4 - - - 2/2
JIE 17 # F Non-executive Director
BB Mr. OU Guowei'” 3/4 2/2 - - 2/2
B I 7 # FH Independent non-
executive Directors
e v AR+ Dr. LOKE Yu (alias
LOKE Hoi Lam)” 4/4 2/2 - - 2/2
£ A Mr. WANG Chuanxu 4/4 2/2 3/3 3/3 2/2
R e B Mr. XIE Jun"’ 4/4 - 3/3 3/3 2/2
Wik Y Ms. YANG Yongyi” - - _ _ _
Bt 5L Notes:
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(1) Mr. OU Guowei resigned as a non-executive Director and the member of the audit

committee with effect from 17 January 2025.

2) Dr. LOKE Yu (alias LOKE Hoi Lam) resigned as an independent non-executive
Director and the chairman of the audit committee with effect from 31 December
2024.

3) Mr. XIE Jun was appointed as the member of the audit committee with effect from 17
January 2025.

(4) Ms. YANG Yongyi was appointed as an independent non-executive Director and the
chairman of the audit committee with effect from 31 December 2024. There was no
board meeting, meeting of the audit committee or general meeting of the Company
held on 31 December 2024.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code
provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code. The Board reviewed
the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior management,
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and written
employee guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with the Corporate

Governance Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has three principal Board committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the nomination committee and the remuneration committee.
Each of the Board committees operates under its terms of reference. The
terms of reference of the Board committees are available on the website of
the Company and that of the Stock Exchange.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent

professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the
Corporate Governance Code. The Audit Committee consists of three
members, namely Mr. XIE Jun, Mr. WANG Chuanxu and Ms. YANG
Yongyi, each an independent non-executive Director. Ms. YANG Yongyi
has been appointed as the chairman of the Audit Committee, and is the
independent non-executive Director possessing the appropriate professional
qualifications. The primary duties of the Audit Committee include: (i)
making recommendations regarding the appointment and removal of
external auditors of the Company; (ii) reviewing the accounting policies
and financial positions of the Company; (iii) reviewing and supervising the
internal audit functions and internal control structure of the Company; and

(iv) reviewing and overseeing the risk management of the Company.

During Year 2024, the Audit Committee reviewed the financial reporting
system, compliance procedures, internal control (including the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs and
budgeting of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
departments), the effectiveness of the internal audit function and risk
management systems and processes, whistleblowing policy and the
reappointment of the external auditor. The Board had not deviated from
any recommendation given by the Audit Committee on the selection,

appointment, resignation or dismissal of external auditor.
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The Audit Committee also reviewed interim and final results of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the interim period and the fiscal year as
well as the audit report prepared by the external auditor relating to
accounting issues and major findings in the course of audit.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code. The chairman
of the nomination committee is Mr. LIU Weiliang, an executive Director,
and the other members are Mr. WANG Chuanxu and Mr. XIE Jun, each an
independent non-executive Director. The primary duties of the nomination
committee include: (i) reviewing the composition of the Board of Directors
and assessing the ability and experience of Directors at least annually; (ii)
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal of
Directors; and (iii) assessing the independence of the independent non-
executive and succession planning for directors, in particular the chairman
and the chief executive officer.

The Board had adopted a board nomination policy which sets out the
purposes and principles, the process and criteria for identifying and
recommending candidates for election to the Board. The nomination
committee has been delegated by the Board to identify individuals suitably
qualified to become a Director and make recommendations to the Board on
the selection and appointment of individuals nominated for directorships.
In assessing the Board composition, the nomination committee would take
into account various aspects set out in the board diversity policy, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
industry experience, technical and professional skills and/or qualifications,
knowledge, length of services and time to be devoted as a director of the
Company. The nomination committee would discuss and agree on
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary,
and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
nomination committee would consider the candidate’s character,
qualifications, experience, independence and other relevant criteria
necessary to complement the corporate strategy and achieve board diversity,
where appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.

During Year 2024, the nomination committee has reviewed the
nomination policy and the board diversity policy; assessed the independence
of independent non-executive Directors; and considered the working
background of Ms. Yang Yongyi, it is believed that she will further
enhance the independence and balanced perspectives of the Board and her
appointment as an independent non-executive director will contribute to
gender diversity of the Board. In light of this, the Audit Committee has
recommended her appointment to the Board and made recommendation to
the Board in relation to the re-election of retiring Directors at the annual
general meeting.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the
Corporate Governance Code. The chairman of the remuneration committee
is Mr. WANG Chuanxu, an independent non-executive Director, and the
other members of remuneration committee are Mr. XIE Jun, an
independent non-executive Director, and Mr. LIU Weiliang, an executive
Director. The primary duties of the remuneration committee include: (i)
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board regarding
remuneration policies for Directors and senior management; (ii) supervising
the implementation of remuneration policies; (iii) assessing performance of
executive directors and approving the terms of executive directors’ service
contracts; and (iv) reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share

schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has in place a policy on Directors’ remuneration to ensure
that there is an appropriate level of remuneration to attract and retain
people of high calibre to oversee the Group’s business and development.
For details regarding the emolument policy of the Group, please refer to
the section headed “Directors’ Report — Employees and Remuneration
Policy”. The remuneration committee has adopted the model described in
code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the Corporate Governance Code in its terms of

reference.

During Year 2024, the remuneration committee discussed and reviewed
the service agreements, appointment letters and remuneration policy for
Directors and senior management of the Company, and made
recommendations to the Board on the service agreements, appointment
letters and remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management. The remuneration committee also assessed the
petformance of the executive Directors. There were no matters relating to
share schemes that were required to be reviewed and/or approved by the

remuneration committee.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiry made
by the Company, that they have complied with the Model Code during
Year 2024.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”),
pursuant to which the Company may declare and distribute dividends to
the shareholders of the Company, provided that the Group records a profit
after tax and that the declaration and distribution of dividends does not

affect the normal operations of the Group.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject to the
discretion of the Board, and any declaration of final dividend will be
subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company. In proposing
any dividend payout, the Board shall also take into account, inter alia, the
Group’s operations, earnings, financial condition, capital requirements and
any other conditions the Directors may deem relevant at such time. Any
payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the articles of
association of the Company.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time and there is no
assurance that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific

periods.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

For Year 2024, the fees paid to the Company’s external auditor, Ernst &
Young, for the audit of the financial statements of the Group were RMB5S.5

million.

During the year, the fees of non-audit services, including tax filing and
turnaround and restructuring strategy service provided by Ernst & Young
and its subsidiary and other affiliate entities to the Group are
approximately RMBO.7 million.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of the financial
statements in order to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and of the results and cash flow during the reporting period. A
statement from the auditor about its reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out on pages 93 to 96 of this annual report. In
preparing the financial statements for Year 2024, the Directors have
selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently, made
judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared
the financial statements on a going concern basis for the reasons as set out

in note 2.1 to the financial statements.
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The Directors noted that the Company’s external auditor did not express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 due to the potential interaction of multiple
uncertainties related to going concern and their possible cumulative effect
on the consolidated financial statements as described in the Basis for

Disclaimer of Opinion section of the independent auditot’s report.

The Group recorded a net loss of RMB7,539,046,000 for the year ended 31
December 2024. As at 31 December 2024, (i) the Group recorded net
current liabilities and net liabilities amounted to RMB12,867,740,000 and
RMB2,279,785,000, respectively; (ii) the Group’s aggregate principal and
interest of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, senior notes,
corporate bonds, perpetual capital securities and asset-backed securities
amounted to RMBG69,477,634,000, out of which RMB63,537,982,000
will be due for repayment within the next twelve months, while its cash
and cash equivalents amounted to RMB1,215,294,000; (iii) the Group had
not repaid an aggregate amount of principal and interest of
RMB21,406,730,000 for certain senior notes and an aggregate amount of
interest amounting to RMB1,464,816,000 for certain senior notes
according to their scheduled repayment dates, triggering events of default
for certain senior notes amounting to RMB7,583,850,000; (iv) an
aggregate amount of principal of RMB18,148,651,000 for interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings had not been repaid according to their
scheduled repayment dates, triggering certain long-term interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings amounting to RMB7,149,749,000 becoming
repayable on demand; (v) the Group failed to repay the principal and
interest amounting to RMB1,252,621,000 for a corporate bond due in
November 2022; (vi) the Group failed to repay the outstanding amount of
RMB1,041,088,000 for the asset-backed securities due in July 2024, and (vii)
the Group failed to repay the principal and interest amounting to
RMB1,750,150,000 for the perpetual capital securities.
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The above conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties which
cast significant doubt over the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. In view of such circumstances, the directors of the Company have
undertaken a number of plans and measures to improve the Group’s

liquidity and financial position, including:

(@) The Group has been actively working with its legal advisor and
financial advisers on its offshore holistic liability management
solutions, in order to achieve a long-term sustainable capital
structure, resolve its liquidity issue and stabilise the Group’s

operations, taking into account the interests of all its stakeholders.

(b)  The Group has been actively negotiating with existing lenders on the
extension for repayments of certain borrowings. The Group may be
able to extend the payment schedule for certain interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings. Nevertheless, the confirmation of such

extension is subject to the final approval from the lenders.

(¢) The Group has been actively negotiating with several financial
institutions to obtain new loans at a reasonable cost for ensuring

delivery of its property projects under development.

(d) The Group will continue to seek for other alternative financing and
borrowings to finance the settlement of its existing financial

obligations and future operating and capital expenditures.

(e)  The Group has prepared a business strategy plan mainly focusing on
the acceleration of the sales of properties.

(f)  The Group has implemented measures to speed up the collection of

outstanding sales proceeds and effectively control costs and expenses.

(g) The Group will continue to seek suitable opportunities to dispose of
its equity interests in certain project development companies in order

to generate additional cash inflows.

The directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections prepared by
management, which cover a period of not less than twelve months from 31
December 2024. The Company will continue to work with its advisors on
reaching a feasible outcome on the holistic restructuring of the offshore
debts of the Company. They are of the opinion that, taking into account
the above-mentioned plans and measures, the Group will have sufficient

working capital to finance its operations and to meet its financial
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obligations as and when they fall due within twelve months from 31
December 2024. Accordingly, the directors are satisfied that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going

concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to whether
the Group is able to achieve its plans and measures as described above.
Whether the Group will be able to continue as a going concern would
depend upon the following:

(a) successfully completing the holistic restructuring of its offshore

indebtedness;

(b)  successfully negotiating with the Group’s existing lenders for the
renewal or extension for repayment of the Group’s interest-bearing

bank and other borrowings;

(c)  successfully securing project development loans for qualified project

development in a timely manner;

(d) successfully obtaining additional new sources of financing as and
when needed;

(e)  successfully carrying out the Group’s business strategy plan including

the acceleration of the sales of properties;

(f)  successfully implementing measures to speed up the collection of the
outstanding sales proceeds and effectively control costs and expenses;
and

(g) successfully disposing of the Group’s equity interests in certain
project development companies when suitable.

Should the Group be unable to achieve the above-mentioned plans and
measures and operate as a going concern, adjustments would have to be
made to write down the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might
arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as
current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated financial

statements.

The Audit Committee has discussed with the Board and the management
of the Group about the concerns of the external auditor and the possible
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impacts of the Plans and Measures. The Audit Committee and the Board
have given careful consideration to the future liquidity and performance of
the Group and its available sources of financing in assessing whether the
Group will have sufficient financial sources to continue as a going concern,
and have also taken into considerations that, among other things, (1)
progress made in relation to the Offshore Holistic Liability Management
Solutions; (2) the downpayment for purchasing residential units for first
time homebuyers and second homebuyers have been lowered in certain
cities in the PRC; (3) the extension of maturity dates for certain borrowings
of the Group in 2024; (4) the approvals of special loans by several local
governments and certain financial institutions to the Group to ensure
project delivery; and (5) the cash flow projections prepared by the
management, which cover a period of not less than twelve months from 31
December 2024. The Audit Committee agreed with the position taken by
and the basis of assessment on major judgmental areas adopted by the

management and the Board regarding the going concern issue.

The management will consider taking appropriate actions to address the
Disclaimer of Opinion. This will include, among others, implementing
and optimizing the plans and measures on an ongoing basis, and discussing
with the external auditor on an ongoing basis to address the Disclaimer of

Opinion.

The Audit Committee also discussed and understood the concerns of the
external auditor that uncertainties exist as to whether the management will
be able to achieve the Plans and Measures. There was no disagreement by
the Audit Committee with the external auditor’s position regarding the

Disclaimer of Opinion.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal
control and risk management systems in order to safeguard the Group’s
assets and shareholders’ interests and reviewing the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control and risk management systems, covering all
material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls,
on an annual basis, so as to ensure that internal control and risk
management systems in place are adequate. Such systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives (including, among others, material risks relating to
environmental, social and governance), and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Company
also has an internal audit function which primarily carries out the analysis
and independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the issuer’s
risk management and internal control systems, resolves material internal
control defects and reports their findings to the Board on at least an annual

basis.
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The Group has established a multi-dimensional risk management system,
which includes (1) an information platform that ensures the efficient
operation of the risk management system; (2) formulating risk management
policies to ensure the Group carries out consistent procedures and standards
for risk identification, measurement and reporting; (3) identifying potential
risks of various business segments and key procedures; (4) risk assessment
and action procedures to ensure identified risks are assessed and solutions
are proposed in a timely manner; and (5) monitoring and reviewing the
risk management policies, risks assessment procedures, measures for
managing risks and their effectiveness, and report the findings to the
Board. In addition, the Group’s internal control and risk management
systems include a well-established organizational structure with clearly
defined lines of responsibility and authority. The day-to-day departmental
operations are entrusted to individual department which is accountable for
its own conduct and performance and is required to operate its own
department’s business within the scope of the delegated authority and to
implement and strictly adhere to the strategies and policies set by the
Company from time to time. Each department is also required to keep the
Board informed of material developments of the department’s business and
implementation of the policies and strategies set by the Board on a regular
basis.

During Year 2024, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the internal
control and risk management systems of the Group to ensure that a sound
system is maintained and operated by the management in compliance with
the agreed procedures and standards. The review covered all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions. In particular, the Board considered the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs and budget
of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions. The review was made by discussions with the management of
the Company, its external and internal auditors and the assessment was
conducted by the Audit Committee. The Board considers that the existing
internal control and risk management systems are adequate and effective,

in particular, for financial reporting and Listing Rules compliance.
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WHISTLEBLOWING AND ANTI-CORRUPTION
POLICIES

Building a convenient and transparent reporting system is a crucial
component of the Group’s collective effort towards clean and honest
governance. To this end, the Group has formulated the “Guidelines for
Reporting Management”, which outline the Group’s internal and external
reporting management mechanisms, reporting channels and methods and
set forth standardized procedures for the acceptance and processing of
reports. Meanwhile, the “Guidelines for Reporting Management” provide
explicit protection and reward provisions for whistleblowers, and require
that any information about whistleblowers be kept confidential by the
recipient, so as to safeguard the rights and interests of whistleblowers to

the greatest possible extent.

In addition, the Group adheres strictly to relevant laws and regulations and
has established systems such as “Code of Conduct for Employees”, which
regulates employee behavior, including violations of integrity, abuse of
power and conflict of interests, and defines the Group’s value orientation,
enabling employees to perform their duties with loyalty, integrity, and
self-discipline, and jointly safeguard the overall interests of the Group. The
Group arranged and will continue to reinforce anti-corruption and anti-
fraud training for Directors and employees, intensifies corruption
prevention campaigns and fosters a culture of honesty and integrity among

its workforce.

INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Company takes seriously of its
obligations under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance and
the Listing Rules. The Company has adopted a Continuous Disclosure
Compliance Policy which sets out guidelines and procedures to the
Directors and officers of the Group to ensure inside information of the
Group is to be disseminated to the public in equal and timely manner.
Briefing session is held regularly for officers to facilitate their

understanding and compliance with the policy.

BT FFRK

Annual Report 2024 89



REAWS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

i 35 HE A1

A mLR B RS G R SL o T ]
P HC R 2y B DL BB IR A B S R
B o R BCR K & AR Al — A B2
24 IR R B o % A ORI B R
HHEAA LA HMBEAR DR+
— 3 A HEAE R OK & B R AN WA
e B R YE LS o A B BORZH LA
T T 3 e R AR o R DL R
G R BT B R BT A W 2 AR
B T A B e AR K & o A B ek A
ez R ER2MH RABH - ik
B E a R E AT H W FF21 B R A
7 % Be A B A B g ek B SR O AT A
Ml 77 X A AT A B gk > HaEoR AR # 5
CESGCEER R YRR D=
M A 2y A B R RO o ROk ]
TE MR 8 A A0 2R 13 B B T ROR & AR
1 T e 5

oy DR s BB SRORE 2 R RE R > AR 2% AL A
HOR B (645 2 A 3 ) R R R

SRR AUS

R A AN L2 BREROERT T RAL
] 4 ¥5 (www.zhenrodc.com) £r 3] o % R 0] 4%
T R Rk A AR A A R (b ik £
B s AT B2 5 R B SR 248 5% K BT 4 Al
Ly 40 ) > M A 52 5% 7 I 4 19 S e BR
AEDRBER > HAR %8 M B R A
JRE BL i 27 B A B3 BN 4 PR A B R OR
K@ H WA B GG &A1
TAHBKHE KRG B Wa L K4 o &l
R At 1B SRAT T L IR TH] 42 i B 2% A 4
2 8 O EORE > S B R AR B
Je R K o i a L EL Iy o] AS 22 R AH B
e R e e B AT H W AT 12| 8 A
(72 78 5L b v BRI - B 38 o B T AT 3
ZEEH)REERESHABAN L 2%
AU TSR o N/ s 8 N/
A8 25 B Rl E S N AR )Y - s b
7 AR BN JER 2 R R 0 R B A 4 R
0] [ AR B A TR K o i AN 2\ A A
B B R KR B S AT H AT A 120 26 H AR

IERINESEERAT

90 Zhenro Properties Group Limited

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The Board may
whenever it thinks fit to convene an extraordinary general meeting.
Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on the requisition of
one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the
right of voting at general meetings, on a one vote per Share basis in the
share capital of the Company. Such requisition shall be made in writing to
the Board or the Secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within
two Months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) themself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company. The requisitionist(s) may add resolutions to the agenda of a

general meeting requisitioned under this Article.

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions are and
will be proposed at general meetings on each substantial issue, including

the election of individual Directors.

The procedures for shareholder to propose a person for election as a director
are available on the Company’s website (www.zhenrodc.com). Shareholders
may lodge written proposal to the company secretary of the Company at
40/F, Dah Sing Financial Centre, 248 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong, provided that the minimum length of the period, during which
such written notice is given, shall be at least seven days and that the
lodgment of such notice shall commence no earlier than the day after the
dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election
and end no later than seven days prior to the date of such general meeting.
In order to ensure that other shareholders would have sufficient time to
receive and consider the information of the person proposed for election as
a director, shareholders are urged to lodge their written notice of his
intention to propose a person for election as director as early as practicable
in advance of the relevant general meeting and, in any case, not less than
12 business days (as defined in the Listing Rules, i.e. day(s) on which the
Stock Exchange is open for business of dealing in securities) before the date
scheduled for holding the relevant general meeting, so that the Company
can complete the verification procedure with the Company’s share registrar,
and procure the publication of an announcement and/or the dispatch of a

supplementary circular to shareholders in compliance with the applicable
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requirements under the Listing Rules. In the event that any such written
notice is received by the Company later than the 12th business day before
the date of holding the relevant general meeting, the Company will need
to consider whether to adjourn the relevant meeting so as to give
shareholders a notice of at least 10 business days of the proposal in

accordance with the Listing Rules.

Shareholders and investors who wish to make inquiries to the Board
regarding the Company may send such enquiries to the Company at the
following address:
Address: Unit 3201, 32/F, China Resources Building,
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
M:r. Chan King Tak

anthonychan@zhenro.com

Contact person:
Email address:

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous inquiries.

SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Board has adopted the shareholders’ communication policy to maintain
an open and effective communication with the shareholders and to update
the shareholders on relevant information on the Group’s business in a
timely manner. The policy is regularly reviewed to ensure its effectiveness.
The Company has established several channels to communicate with its

shareholders as follows:

(i)  Corporate communications such as annual reports, interim reports
and circulars are available on the Stock Exchange’s website at
www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website at www.zhenrodc.

com;

(i)  Announcements and other disclosures as required under the Listing
Rules are published on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company;

(iii) Corporate information and contact details of the Company are made

available on the Company’s website;

(iv) Annual and extraordinary general meetings provide a forum for the
shareholders to raise queries and make comments about the
Company, and exchange views with the Directors and senior

management; and

BT FFRK
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(v) The Hong Kong share registrar of the Company, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, serves the shareholders in

respect of share registration, dividend payment and related matters.

During Year 2024, the Company has maintained sufficient contact details
for shareholders to put forward enquiries to the Board. In addition, the
Company held an AGM on 14 June 2024 at which shareholders were able
to communicate their views with the chairman of the Board. Corporate
communications were published on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange in a timely manner. The Board has reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication
policy during Year 2024 and based on the above factors, the Board
considers the shareholders’ communication policy to be effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

A special resolution was passed at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 14 June 2024, which approved the amendment of the
articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”) and
the adoption of the amended and restated Articles of Association with
effect from 14 June 2024. Please refer to the circular of the Company dated
29 April 2024 and the poll results announcement of the Company dated
14 June 2024 for details.

The amended and restated Articles of Association is available on the

websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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To the shareholders of Zhenro Properties Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of Zhenro
Properties Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 97 to 260, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated

financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group. Because of the potential interaction of the multiple
uncertainties relating to going concern and their possible cumulative effect
on the consolidated financial statements as described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, it is not possible for us to form
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. In all other respects,
in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
recorded a net loss of RMB7,539,046,000 for the year ended 31 December
2024. As at 31 December 2024, (i) the Group recorded net current
liabilities and net liabilities amounted to RMB12,867,740,000 and
RMB2,279,785,000, respectively; (ii) the Group’s aggregate principal and
interest of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, senior notes,
corporate bonds, perpetual capital securities and asset-backed securities
amounted to RMBG69,477,634,000, out of which RMB63,537,982,000
will be due for repayment within the next twelve months, while its cash
and cash equivalents amounted to RMB1,215,294,000; (iii) the Group had
not repaid an aggregate amount of principal and interest of
RMB21,406,730,000 for certain senior notes and an aggregate amount of
interest amounting to RMB1,464,816,000 for certain senior notes
according to their scheduled repayment dates, triggering events of default
for certain senior notes amounting to RMB7,583,850,000; (iv) an
aggregate amount of principal of RMB18,148,651,000 for interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings had not been repaid according to their
scheduled repayment dates, triggering certain long-term interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings amounting to RMB7,149,749,000 becoming
repayable on demand; (v) the Group failed to repay the principal and
interest amounting to RMB1,252,621,000 for a corporate bond due in
November 2022; (vi) the Group failed to repay the outstanding amount of
RMB1,041,088,000 for the asset-backed securities due in July 2024, and (vii)
the Group failed to repay the principal and interest amounting to
RMB1,750,150,000 for the perpetual capital securities. These conditions,
together with other matters disclosed in note 2.1 to the consolidated
financial statements, indicate the existence of material uncertainties which
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going

concern.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern (Continued)

The directors of the Company have been undertaking plans and measures
to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, which are set out
in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements. The validity of the
going concern assumption on which the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared depends on the outcome of these measures, which are
subject to multiple uncertainties, including: (i) successfully completing the
holistic restructuring of its offshore indebtedness; (ii) successfully
negotiating with the Group’s existing lenders for the renewal or extension
for repayment of the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other borrowings; (iii)
successfully securing project development loans for qualified project
development timely; (iv) successfully obtaining additional new sources of
financing as and when needed; (v) successfully carrying out the Group’s
business strategy plan including the acceleration of the sales of properties; (vi)
successfully implementing measures to speed up the collection of
outstanding sales proceeds and effectively control costs and expenses; and (vii)
the successful and timely implementation of the plans to dispose of its
equity interests in certain project development companies, and the timely

collection of the proceeds.

As a result of these multiple uncertainties, their potential interaction, and
the possible cumulative effect thereof, we were unable to form an opinion
as to whether the going concern basis of preparation is appropriate. Should
the Group fail to achieve the abovementioned plans and measures, it might
not be able to continue to operate as a going concern, and adjustments
would have to be made to write down the carrying amount of the Group’s
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects
of these adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated financial

statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud

or error.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or

have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial

reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and to issue an auditor’s report. We report solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
However, because of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of
Opinion section of our report, it is not possible for us to form an opinion

on the consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is Ho Wai Ling.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
e ?(;F efde(zd:s? Sec’e;w Eerifog%l

F -~y 11! 2 —E =
Notes 2024 2023
A R¥ T AR EFo
RMB’000 RMB’000

e £5 REVENUE 5 33,416,906 38,774,935
5 6 A Cost of sales (31,453,104) (36,596,210)
T Gross profit 1,963,802 2,178,725
oAt st A Bl % Other income and gains 5 30,647 82,244
BB KA 8 B <X Selling and distribution expenses (797,318) (922,979)
17 BUBH 2 Administrative expenses (629,542) (655,900)
4 A EE TR (E I 4 VR AR Impairment losses on financial assets, net 22, 38 (664,343) (1,426,423)
HoAth BH 2 Other expenses 5 (3,123,457) (4,594,607)
BEWEN AT EEHE Fair value losses on investment properties 14 (573,200) (644,419)
¥ NP EFE A 435 19 £ il Fair value losses on financial assets at fair

&R A P E G 1 value through profit or loss = (254,155)
il A Finance costs 7 (3,730,262) (2,588,893)
JE A DL B 36 A B2 518 0 Share of profits and losses of:

EEAE Joint ventures 38,430 (28,178)

= a/NEl Associates 116,467 (149,697)
B B 1l i 48 LOSS BEFORE TAX 6 (7,368,776) (9,004,282)
Ji A5 B BH 52 Income tax expense 10 (170,270) (481,280)
N LOSS FOR THE YEAR (7,539,046) (9,485,562)
NN X Attributable to:

UNEIE XN Owners of the parent (6,829,835) (8,467,942)

I 2 B HE 2 Non-controlling interests (709,211) (1,017,620)

(7,539,046) (9,485,562)

BAwHERERREA A LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE

VA 5 % Js 18 TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS

OF THE PARENT

FEAR K i Basic and diluted 12 AR¥asem AR®a.947C

RMB(1.56) yuan RMB(1.94) yuan
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HItEFEE
Year ended 31 December 2024

e~y 1 - = —EF =
2024 2023
VN A BT e
RMB’000 RMB’000
A I 1R LOSS FOR THE YEAR (7,539,046) (9,485,562)
H A 4 1 s 4R OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
AIAAER A E B /> £ 4845 Other comprehensive loss that may be
2 FC A 4 T R 18 reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
periods:
i 5, 7% % Exchange differences:
o it SN SEFS P AL M FE 50,75 % Exchange differences on translation of foreign
operations (230,467) (54,417)
FAE AR I % AN € 5 0 8% Other comprehensive loss that will not be
18 45 2 oAt 4 T s 4H reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
periods:
FE 58, 2 %A - Exchange differences:
MBI ETS B SL 2% Exchange differences on translation of foreign
operations (258,063) (128,618)
A b 2 4R - MBXBLH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (488,530) (183,035)
SN Z RS H - MBRBIH  TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (8,027,576) (9,668,597)
AN N L REAL Attributable to:
BEAFHER A Owners of the parent (7,318,365) (8,650,977)
I B HE 25 Non-controlling interests (709,211) (1,017,620)
(8,027,576) (9,668,597)

EFRMEREEBRAT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
—E-NFE+=—A=+—H

31 December 2024

Fh 5 B4 —EF =
Notes 2024 2023
AR¥ T VN
RMB’000 RMB’000
FE i B & NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Y WE K Property, plant and equipment 13 522,152 1,244,300
&Y ¥ Investment properties 14 7,433,700 8,006,900
i RE & Right-of-use assets 15 222,173 247,203
HoAth TR Other intangible assets 16 28
HEEMENRE Investments in joint ventures 16 2,254,602 2,179,692
QRN S <y Investments in associates 17 6,359,924 6,346,465
I JiE Bl JEUE Deferred tax assets 18 19,201 578,263
I it B & AR E Total non-current assets 16,811,768 18,602,851
B & CURRENT ASSETS
N R A H AR Financial assets at fair value through
S il profit or loss - 2,701
B %% i) 25 Properties under development 19 33,373,365 64,430,208
FrE & Ok T Completed properties held for sale 20 29,483,387 29,801,224
& T WK A Trade receivables 21 262,670 574,284
B i R B 2 W) 3K IE Due from related companies 38 9,916,396 10,281,064
TEAS AR ~ At JE i 3 IR Prepayments, other receivables and
e HAth ¥ 7 other assets 22 18,589,696 22,465,143
IR QERR Tax recoverable 1,760,203 1,994,545
Z PR B4 K CHEHF/E3K Restricted cash and pledged deposits 23 1,969,388 3,318,649
Ha K% EY Cash and cash equivalents 23 1,215,294 1,716,960
B A = ME Total current assets 96,570,399 134,584,778
_B_NFFR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

—E-M&E+=-—A=+—H
31 December 2024

Fh 5 R YA R =
Notes 2024 2023
A R F i AR¥T
RMB’000 RMB’000
i B A 1K CURRENT LIABILITIES
B 5 EAT 3 E & EAT 5245 Trade and bills payables 24 16,349,689 17,734,022
HAth FEAT 3K IH K ESF 2 | Other payables and accruals 25 15,737,159 13,522,987
A& AR Contract liabilities 26 13,841,193 45,469,076
JRE A B 56 2 ) EE Due to related companies 38 5,375,738 5,608,784
FT S R AT B Al 18 3K Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 27 26,795,849 25,834,848
o2 g Senior notes 28 24,514,674 24,162,213
NEGIKI=E = Corporate bonds 29 1,496,056 1,187,772
K A AR S Perpetual capital securities 32 1,412,671 1,391,908
JRE A ol T Tax payable 10 3,913,574 4,472,318
GENE=R Lease liabilities 15 1,536 14,026
i E) B AR Total current liabilities 109,438,139 139,397,954
it By £ 1K 5 NET CURRENT LIABILITIES (12,867,740) (4,813,176)
A8 B IO B A TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 3,944,028 13,789,675
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
—E-NFE+=—A=+—H

31 December 2024

F - Sy 11! —E =
Notes 2024 2023
A R¥Fox ARMTF o
RMB’000 RMB’000
e B £ NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Fh S ER AT S At £ 3K Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 27 1,032,050 3,165,631
HAth MEAT 3K IE K FESF 2 | Other payables and accruals 25 1,305,123 328,370
NEIK=E Corporate bonds 29 3,602,479 3,765,969
0% JE B T B & Deferred tax liabilities 18 279,287 367,883
GENES=R Lease liabilities 15 4,874 10,293
JE B B A Total non-current liabilities 6,223,813 7,638,146
T (AR & Net (liabilities)/assets (2,279,785) 6,151,529
L EQUITY
BN A HEA N Ak RE 4 Equity attributable to owners of the parent
lii&N Share capital 30 282 282
o A Reserves 31 (11,207,610) (3,889,245)
(11,207,328) (3,888,963)
I 1 B 4 Non-controlling interests 8,927,543 10,040,492
HE 25 4 Total equity (2,279,785) 6,151,529
Plfgse ZHRE Mr. Liu Weiliang Mr. Li Yang
o HH Director Director
—_B_MEFR
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mEERBER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Noar oniod o1 Decomb 2024

B0 A A A
Attributable to owners of the parent
BERE  ERNH
Bk BB GO KA i Wi RaEH it RuBES  EEAE
Statutory  Exchange Non-
Share Share Merger Capital surplus  fluctuation  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserves reserve losses Total interests equity
ARWTE ARWTFLE ARBTFLE ARBTLE ARWTZ ARKTZ ARETZ ARNTT AR¥TE ARHTL
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
(k0 (Wibsiw)  (WEEsie)  (BEie)  (WREsi)  (WRE3ie)
(note 30)  (note 31())  (note 31(b))  (note31(c)  (note31(d))  (note 31(e))
RZFZ N4 Asat 1 January 2024
—~H—H 282 3,696,478 4,527,360* (15,068 1,851,021*  (1,026,027)*  (12,723,009% (3,888,963) 10,040,492 6,151,529
ERES Loss for the year - - - - - - (68298%)  (68298%) (709211 (7,539,046)
B2 ER : Other comprehensive loss
for the year:
BHBINER EE  Bxchange differences on
il translation of foreign
operations - - - - - (488,530 - (488,530 - (488,530
FNREERAH  Towl comprehensive loss
for the year = = - - - (488,530) (6,829,835 (7,318,365) (709,211 (8,027,576)
WEA SRR Capital reduction of subsidiaries
& for non-controlling interests = = = = = = = - (320465 (320,465
1o [ /2 7 JE #E A Dividends paid to non-controlling
SR £ ¢ 6 shareholders of subsidiaries = = = - - - - - (83,273) (83,273)
BEERERE  Appropriations to statutory
it i surplus reserves - - - - 34,149 - (34,149) - - -
REFZ N4 Asat 31 December 2024
+ZA=1+—H 282 3,696478%  4527,360%  (215,068)*  1885,170%  (1,514,557)* (19,586993)* (11,207,328) 8,927,543  (2,279,785)

REFZ=E Asat 1 January 2023
—A—A W2 3696ATS* 4527360 QIS8 1719094% (342092 (41233400 475893 12720723 17479657

FhER Lossfor the year - - BATID  BATMD)  (017620)  948556)
R A Other comprehensive loss for

the year:
BN EREL  Exchange differences on

i I 325 5 translation of foreign

operations - - - - - (183,035) = (183,039) = (183,039)
FER2TEREHE  Total comprehensive loss

for the year - - - - - (183,035) (8,467,942)  (8,650,977)  (1,017,620)  (9,668,597)
W RMR  Acquisition of non-controlling

interests - - - 3,080 - - = 3,080  (1,238,308)  (1,235,228)
i A 7] Disposal of subsidiaries = = = = = (20,639) (20,635)
1)} 85 4 7] JE £ Dividends paid to non-controlling

SRR £ A L shareholders of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - (403,668) (403,668)
HBERERE  Appropriations to statutory
it i surplus reserves = - - - 131,727 - (131,727) - - -
g S5 Asat 31 December 2023
+-A=+-H 282 3,696,478%  4,527,360% (215,068 1,851,021%  (1,026,027)%  (12,723,009)*  (3,888,963) 10,040,492 6,151,529
& IR E SR A MR R R * These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB(11,207,610,000) (2023:
) %5 A it A N R (11,207,610,000) 76 (= RMB(3,889,245,000)) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

T =4F 0 AR (3,889,245,000)78) ©
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mERSRER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE_Z_ME+_A=1+—HItEE
Year ended 31 December 2024

B 5E RBP4 =
Notes 2024 2023
N AR# T
RMB’000 RMB’000
HEGHIEHE CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
% i i fEs 18 Loss before tax (7,368,776) (9,004,282)
i Adjustments for:
e UG R Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 6,13 21,958 24,231
i P G I Depreciation of right-of-use assets 6, 15 20,220 33275
0 615 A TR Amortisation of other intangible assets 6 12 20
EYE - WE I Losses/(gains) on disposal of items of
H i k48, ( 4d) 19 %8 property, plant and equipment, net 5,6 6 (4,428)
R A R EE A Losses on disposal of subsidiaries, net - 25,243
B AP EE A 7 Losses on disposal of financial
B 45 il S 2 Yl 4R T AR assets at fair value through profit or
loss, net 5,6 87 9,504
FHHA 2 1E B U 48 Gain on lease term termination 15 (1,096) =
JRE A& DA T B 36 1) K Share of profits and losses of:
18
GEAE Joint ventures (38,430) 28,178
T % 4 7 Associates (116,467) 149,697
e N PAE T AR 45 1 4 Rl Fair value losses from financial assets at
B A E R fair value through profit or loss - 254,155
BEWEANFEES Changes in fair value of investment
properties 14 573,200 644,419
4 Pl VA (L e RV R Impairment losses on financial assets, net 6 664,343 1,426,423
T BR b ) 2E KRR AR Impairment losses recognised for
TR L) S e w8 1 ek (E properties under development and
Ji5 18 completed properties held for sale 5,6 2,328,116 4,375,883
Y~ RS Bk R D Impairment losses recognised for
SORCRIEN F it property, plant and equipment 5,6 700,196 -
il & R A Finance costs 7 3,730,262 2,588,893
I U A Interest income 5 (21,917) (50,813)
491,714 500,398
— B UFEFER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HItEFEE
Year ended 31 December 2024

Fh 5 R4 S
Notes 2024 2023
A R¥ T AR¥T
RMB’000 RMB’000
R Ry E Y E S (R Decrease in properties under development
Bk TYEW D and completed properties held for sale 29,019,608 25,438,484
2 PR il B 4 Uk D Decrease in restricted cash 1,281,786 2,705,499
I (7150 B & 17 3K Withdrawal/(placement) of pledged deposits 66,750 (48,789)
54 5 JRE i 3¢ 3 ek > Decrease in trade receivables 311,614 173,574
TA AT 300 ~ HoAth BE IR IH & Decrease in prepayments, other receivables
HAh & 7 kD and other assets 1,901,223 1,709,214
JEE i R B 2 W) B IE Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from
WA () related companies 6,869 (25,675)
B Ty WEAT BT K AT S 5 (Decrease)/increase in trade and bills
(D), #m payables (1,249,449) 2,142,215
oA JRE A 3 IE e EFHEE L Increase in other payables and accruals
& m 105,589 1,116,483
a R A WD Decrease in contract liabilities (31,603,442) (31,254,149)
JRE ASF B8 W 2 ] K E (Decrease)/increase in amounts due to
(3 A) /B4 related companies (6,772) 26,008
R TR & Cash generated from operations 325,490 2,483,262
SR IPES Interest received 21,917 50,813
B (B BLIAE Tax refunded/(paid) 3,234 (346,582)
287 1% W) T 15 3 5 i 2 1T #H Net cash flows from operating activities 350,641 2,187,493
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HERERER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE_Z-_NF+-_A=+—HIFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

Bt & E R4 =
Notes 2024 2023
N VN
RMB’000 RMB’000
B B BB R CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
W E W2 - W m M5 THH  Purchases of items of property, plant and
equipment (37) (1,698)
NEREYE Additions to investment properties = (23,919)
B i A Disposal of subsidiaries = 109,002
B ot A A i S Dividends received from associates 14,400 -
R JB 2 i U Liquidation of subsidiaries 35 (2,043) =
A qzﬁ wH A HH fi HY Disposal of financial assets at fair value
4 Tl E through profit or loss 2,641 38,711
WEWE - WE Kk H  Disposal of items of property, plant and
equipment 25 7,370
BE G B Ir A5 Bl & W B 15 88 Net cash flows from investing activities 14,986 129,466
il T 3 B B O A CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
S B I 4 M A Acquisition of non-controlling interests - (159,565)
B W A ) AR Advances from related companies 38 271,282 786,164
3 B VB 2 ) K Repayment of advances from related
companies 38 (497,556) (1,332,747)
BB T BB AR MFAZ  Repayment of advances to related companies 38 531,883 2,409,477
Faanid ) /NIRRT Advances to related companies 38 (398,723) (2,375,787)
P2 R B A7 K Withdrawal of pledged deposits 725 4,245
%1“, SR AT B H At £ 3R BT Proceeds from interest-bearing bank and
FIE other borrowings 423,778 534,956
Tfé“ FFEERAT R H A5 3 Repayment of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings (1,115,387) (2,716,765)
(ES-UNEILiE:S Repayment of corporate bonds (3,320) (3,753)
EfTEE X RESE 5F'J Interest paid to asset-backed securities (4,176) (2,411)
TG #CE (645 A1 B A B Lease payments including related interest 15 (13,001) (22,392)
A LB Interest paid (63,771) (992,566)
Fill 3% ) T ) 3L 4 U i 1F #H Net cash flows used in financing activities (868,266) (3,871,144)
_FFR

Annual Report 2024 105



= ATH AR E
%méi@ium%%

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HItEFEE
Year ended 31 December 2024

CE ST
Notes 2024 2023
N AR# T
RMB’000 RMB’000
Bl KRBl &%5EY WA H 8 NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS (502,639) (1,554,185)
FENBLE LB EEEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
year 1,716,960 3,270,111
T 2 58 B 10 2 28 - VR Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 973 1,034
FERB G KRB &S EY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF YEAR 1,215,294 1,716,960
B RkBEFHME MBS ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bl b RAT & B Cash and bank balances 23 3,184,682 5,035,609
W 2 PR B Less: Restricted cash 23 1,905,468 3,187,254
BEGELIREE Pledged deposits 23 63,920 131,395
GEHEMERKES Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the
WA 5 0 W00 2% i 41 B 4 consolidated statement of cash flows and
R B4 S AE ) consolidated statement of financial
position 1,215,294 1,716,960

EFRMEREEBRAT
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BB R AR MY aE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-NE+ZA=+—H
31 December 2024

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 21 July 2014. The
Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 16
January 2018. The registered office of the Company is located at
Walkers Corporate Limited, 190 Elgin Avenue, George Town, Grand
Cayman KY1-9008, Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Group was principally involved in property
development and property leasing.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company is Mr. Ou Zongrong.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out below:

AR ) A

I 24 AL B R EERE  CRMEERGEMEA O REWAL LEER
Percentage of
equity interest

Place of incorporation/

Issued ordinary/ attributable to

Subsidiaries registration and business registered share capital the Company Principal activities

A

Indirectly held:

R 7 L KB AR B 7 A\ R 18,000,000 7 100% IR R EHE

Hunan Xiushan Lishui Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB8,000,000 Property development and

property leasing

RINBHEREARAF oo B A B #100,000,000 78 50% WIEH %

Kunshan Jianbao Real Estate Co., Ltd.** PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 Property development

() BERRARAA /o A A B 80,800,000 76 100% ¥ 5 %

Zhengrun (Putian) Real Estate Development PRC/Mainland China RMB80,800,000 Property development
Co., Ltd.

ETH(CF8) BRERARA A B/ AR H50,000,000 78 100% ¥)3€ b %

Zhengsheng (Pingtan) Real Estate Development  PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 Property development

Co., Ltd.

— B UFEFER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ECME+ZA=+—H

31 December 2024

1. A6 REEER @ 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)
A B BB 2w i & OB ()
e/ I o RN DR e |

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out below:

mr (4 (Continued)
AR ) HE A
W 2 sl AL B R E L TR R A ehEvi b EEEH
Percentage of
equity interest
Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ attributable to
Subsidiaries registration and business registered share capital the Company Principal activities
MR A (#)
Indirectly held: (Continued)
REERETEEARAA /o A B 100,100,000 7 100% Y13 b %
Wuhan Zhenro Zhengsheng Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB100,100,000 Property development
B R B XA RA A oo T AR H1,570,000,000 7C 100% W%
Xiamen Ronglianjia Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB1,570,000,000 Property development
b 1l 7 S A R /o A A\ B 500,000,000 78 100% ¥)3€ 6 %
Foshan Xunmao Real Estate Development Co.,  PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000,000 Property development
Led.
R IE A0 5 o 7 B B PR ) th /o A R H1,430,306,200 7 100% WFEHERMEHE
Nanjing Zhenro Dexin Property Development ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB1,430,306,200 Property development and
Co., Ltd. property leasing
AR (BN JF A R A ) B/ 7 A B 750,000,000 7 100% ¥)3€ b
Zhengrong Sunan (Suzhou) Real Estate Co., Ltd ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB750,000,000 Property development
RUEBERHRAA B/ B A\ B #800,000,000 7 100% WEREEMEHE
Changsha Zhengze Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB800,000,000 Property development and
property leasing
MO B SR A A IR ¢ (/o R 3,000,000,000 72 98% I % R EH B
Zhengzhou Xinronggui Real Estate Co., Led.* ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000,000 Property development and
property leasing
TG IE 285 R A TR ) VLT AR 10,363,000 9719% MR
Xi’an Zhengjie Real Estate Development Co., ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB10,363,000 Property development

Led *

EFRMEREEBRAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NE+ZA=+—H

31 December 2024

oy ) B 4R BB B ) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)
A A B 8 2 W) i & R () Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
AN ) Mg A F R S Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out below:
W () (Continued)
AR i HE A
W 2 sl AL B R TR R A ehEvi b EEEH
Percentage of
equity interest
Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ attributable to
Subsidiaries registration and business registered share capital the Company Principal activities

MHERH - ()
Indirectly held: (Continued)

RS EERRARA A Gl AR 50,000,000 76 B L

Wuhan Zhengzhou Real Estate Development ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 Property development
Co., Ltd.

B aM) B & RA R A A B/ A A #2,800,000,000 7 80% W3 %

Rongrui (Fuzhou) Investment and Development  PRC/Mainland China RMB2,800,000,000 Property development
Co., Ltd.*

AR B B A R AT B/ R A B 30,000,000 7 100% 4 %5 %

Chengdu Ronghengyun Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 Property development

EY (FH) BEARAA /o 3 N H50,500,000 7 100% 15 b %

Zhengzhe (Putian) Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,500,000 Property development

A BB 5 o B PR A /o B 200,000,000 7C 55% BB

Hefei Xingyu Real Estate Development PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 Property development
Co., Led . *

ER (FH) BXARAA /o B g AR 50,000,000 7 100% 13 B 8

Zhengjia (Putian) Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 Property development

REFAEEERARAA /o B H5,000,000 7 100% 1% b %

Wuhan Original Property Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB),000,000 Property development

R R 7 A B A R A o B/ AR #50,000,000 7 519 YIEHE

Wuhan Hengrui Jufu Real Estate Development ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 Property development
Co., Ltd.*

— B UFEFER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ECME+ZA=+—H

31 December 2024

1. 2w B 5 W& R )

A1 Bl Vi 2> ) B4R ()
A A E B 2 A A S

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out below:

W () (Continued)
AR i HE A
W 2 sl AL B R TR R A ehEvi b EEEH
Percentage of
equity interest
Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ attributable to
Subsidiaries registration and business registered share capital the Company Principal activities

MHERH - ()
Indirectly held: (Continued)

R ESHREEARAF /o B A A B 30,000,000 78 100% Y136 %

Chengdu Zhenggitai Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 Property development

BMTEYEEERAF oo T R 50,000,000 7 100% HF 5%

Xiamen Zhengpeng Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 Property development

AMERERHRA A B/ 7 R 150,000,000 7 100% WHFR%

Quanzhou Zhengyao Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 Property development

BT REEAEXEARAF B/ 7 AR 50,000,0007C 100% B

Xiangyang Changfang Zhengchuang Real Estate  PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 Property development
Co., Ltd.

RRAEEXRRARAA B/ 7 A B #100,000,000 7 100% ¥3€E B 8%

Fuyang Ronghui Real Estate Development PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 Property development
Co., Ltd.

B SR I A PR R e B/ AR M294,118,000 70 34% YHERE

Nanchang Rongming Property Development PRC/Mainland China RMB294,118,000 Property development
Co., Ltd.*#*

MREXERRRARAA i/ 7 A R 150,000,000 7 100% 3%

Nanjing Zhengzi Real Estate Development PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 Property development
Co., Ltd.

HRMN SR B B EBRA R F B/ 7 A\ R 100,000,000 7 51% YIER

Zhengzhou Rongxi Real Estate Development PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 Property development

Co., Ltd.*

EFRMEREEBRAT
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PRI

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NFE+=—A=+—H

31 December 2024

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out below:

mr (4 (Continued)
AR i HE A
I 24 AL B R TR R A ehEvi b EEEH
Percentage of
equity interest
Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ attributable to
Subsidiaries registration and business registered share capital the Company Principal activities
MR A (#)
Indirectly held: (Continued)
MO 5 B SR R T RS W+ /o B A A\ B 100,000,000 7 s1% WER%
Zhengzhou Rongrui Real Estate Development  PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 Property development
Co., Ltd.*
HRESEEARA A L/ 7 A B #100,000,000 78 49% MK
Yichun Zhengze Real Estate Co., Led ** PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 Property development
M ER BEXBERARA A /o A R 124,688,000 76 100% ¥)3€ b %
Chuzhou Zhenggian Real Estate Development ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB124,688,000 Property development
Co., Ltd.
PR E LB R A A ]+ R/ A AR #1,615,000,000 78 60% B %
Nanjing Zhengao Real Estate Development Co., PRC/Mainland China RMB1,615,000,000 Property development
Led.*
RIS S 7 WA RA s/ 7 B %100,000,0007C 100% B
Hefei Rongjin Property Development Co., Ltd. ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 Property development
% EL B R /o A A B 10,363,000 7 971% WIEB%LMERE
Xi'an Zhenghongfeng Real Estate Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China RMB10,363,000 Property development and
property leasing
B IE R 0 A A 7+ B/ B N B #330,000,000 2 620 W%
Nanchang Zhuzheng Real Estate Development ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB330,000,000 Property development

Co., Ltd.*

B FFRK
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—T-mE+=—A=+—H
31 December 2024

oy W B 5L T &R )

A1 Bl Vi 2> ) B4R ()

Fi AR I EE I A 4R B R Y SR
3C 44 M TG AR A ) L 3 R
R R A Y
3 T R H I 4 OE S0 M o b
SCHE R Y BT A 2 R A F R ik
BEABAERAF -

I RIDEE & S W KRS
AEELE S EAEETFERE
FEEHB AL F B AR - EF
w8 J o A HEC At B R > R B R
FLEMBRILE -

MR Ak 22 e > A5 B SRR S
MR AR AE R R A B T E
& B G AR o~ F i E AR B
e HE o

BEAh - R4 A] (BIAE 5 & 2 A
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H #% % TH H 2~ 7 0 &85 15 B 2 B
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* 57 /NI % NI O o < g
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MRKZWRRME BEHAERHE
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AE T o UL A 4R F 3 3% 55 0 A
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

The English names of all group companies registered in the PRC
represent the best efforts made by the management of the Company
to translate the Chinese names of these companies as they do not have
official English names. The legal form of all the above disclosed

principal subsidiaries are limited liability companies.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,

result in particulars of excessive length.

Under the aforementioned arrangements, the Group was obliged to
purchase the related equity interests at a fixed amount on a future
date upon repayment of the borrowings from the trust financing

companies.

In addition, the Group retains the power to control these companies
in the ordinary course of business by confirmation from the legal
equity holder of each company (i.e., the trust financing company). In
this regard, considering the facts that the substance of the
arrangements is to collateralise some equity interests in these
subsidiaries for the borrowings for project development and the
Group retains the practical ability to govern the financial and
operating policies of these project companies so as to obtain benefits
from the operating activities of these project companies, the directors
of the Company are of the view that the financial position and
operating results of these companies should be consolidated into the

Group’s financial statements.

* These companies are subsidiaries of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company and, accordingly, are accounted for as subsidiaries by virtue of the

Company’s control over them.

*% The Group was granted more than a majority of voting rights in the
shareholders’ meeting according to the contractual arrangements with the other
shareholders of the subsidiaries, and the articles of associates of the subsidiaries,
which gives the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
these companies. Accordingly, the Group has control over these companies

which are accounted for as subsidiaries of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
IFRS Accounting Standards (which include all International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”)
and interpretations) approved by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, except for investment properties and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest

thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Going concern basis

The Group recorded a net loss of RMB7,539,046,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2024. As at 31 December 2024, (i) the Group
recorded net current liabilities and net liabilities amounted to
RMB12,867,740,000 and RMB2,279,785,000, respectively; (ii) the
Group’s aggregate principal and interest of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, senior notes, corporate bonds, perpetual capital
securities and asset-backed securities amounted to
RMBG69,477,634,000, out of which RMB63,537,982,000 will be
due for repayment within the next twelve months, while its cash and
cash equivalents amounted to RMB1,215,294,000; (iii) the Group
had not repaid an aggregate amount of principal and interest of
RMB21,406,730,000 for certain senior notes and an aggregate
amount of interest amounting to RMB1,464,816,000 for certain
senior notes according to their scheduled repayment dates, triggering
events of default for certain senior notes amounting to
RMB7,583,850,000; (iv) an aggregate amount of principal of
RMB18,148,651,000 for interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
had not been repaid according to their scheduled repayment dates,
triggering certain long-term interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings amounting to RMB7,149,749,000 becoming repayable
on demand; (v) the Group failed to repay the principal and interest
amounting to RMB1,252,621,000 for a corporate bond due in
November 2022; (vi) the Group failed to repay the outstanding
amount of RMB1,041,088,000 for the asset-backed securities due in
July 2024, and (vii) the Group failed to repay the principal and
interest amounting to RMB1,750,150,000 for the perpetual capital

securities.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Going concern basis (Continued)

The above conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties

which cast significant doubt over the Group’s ability to continue as a

going concern. In view of such circumstances, the directors of the

Company have undertaken a number of plans and measures to

improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, including:

(a)

(b)

(0

(d)

(e)

®

(2)

The Group has been actively working with its legal advisor and
financial advisers on its offshore holistic liability management
solutions, in order to achieve a long-term sustainable capital
structure, resolve its liquidity issue and stabilise the Group’s
operations, taking into account the interests of all its
stakeholders.

The Group has been actively negotiating with existing lenders
on the extension for repayments of certain borrowings. The
Group may be able to extend the payment schedule for certain
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings. Nevertheless, the
confirmation of such extension is subject to the final approval

from the lenders.

The Group has been actively negotiating with several financial
institutions to obtain new loans at a reasonable cost for

ensuring delivery of its property projects under development.

The Group will continue to seek for other alternative financing
and borrowings to finance the settlement of its existing
financial obligations and future operating and capital

expenditures.

The Group has prepared a business strategy plan mainly

focusing on the acceleration of the sales of properties.

The Group has implemented measures to speed up the
collection of outstanding sales proceeds and effectively control

costs and expenses.

The Group will continue to seek suitable opportunities to
dispose of its equity interests in certain project development

companies in order to generate additional cash inflows.
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31 December 2024

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Going concern basis (Continued)

The directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections
prepared by management, which cover a period of not less than
twelve months from 31 December 2024. They are of the opinion
that, taking into account the above-mentioned plans and measures,
the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall
due within twelve months from 31 December 2024. Accordingly,
the directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the

consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to
whether the Group is able to achieve its plans and measures as
described above. Whether the Group will be able to continue as a
going concern would depend upon the following:

(a) successfully completing the holistic restructuring of its offshore

indebtedness;

(b)  successfully negotiating with the Group’s existing lenders for
the renewal or extension for repayment of the Group’s interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings;

(¢)  successfully securing project development loans for qualified

project development in a timely manner;

(d) successfully obtaining additional new sources of financing as
and when needed;

(e)  successfully carrying out the Group’s business strategy plan

including the acceleration of the sales of properties;
(f)  successfully implementing measures to speed up the collection
of the outstanding sales proceeds and effectively control costs

and expenses; and

(g) successfully disposing of the Group’s equity interests in certain

project development companies when suitable.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Going concern basis (Continued)

Should the Group be unable to achieve the above-mentioned plans
and measures and operate as a going concern, adjustments would
have to be made to write down the carrying values of the Group’s
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and
non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected

in the consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of

the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power

over an investee, including:
(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(¢)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
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31 December 2024

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated

until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on

consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control described above. A change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is

accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair
value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit
in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or

liabilities.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRS Accounting

Standards for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

B 72 n] o g FH B A
Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
B 5 By 5 JE ) ([ & T AFAERT )
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments™)
Wt 22 49 09 7F I B A 1 ([ —%F — BT )
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

1A P

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The nature and the impact of the revised IFRS Accounting Standards

are described below:

(@) Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-
lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and
leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not
recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the
right of use it retains. Since the Group has no sale and leaseback
transactions with variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate occurring from the date of initial
application of IFRS 16, the amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.
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31 December 2024

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)

(©)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant
by a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must
exist at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a
liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement. The amendments also
clarify that a liability can be settled in its own equity
instruments, and that only if a conversion option in a
convertible liability is itself accounted for as an equity
instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that,
among covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement,
only those with which an entity must comply on or before the
reporting date affect the classification of that liability as current
or non-current. Additional disclosures are required for non-
current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with

future covenants within 12 months after the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its
liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and concluded that
the classification of its liabilities as current or non-current
remained unchanged upon initial application of the
amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not have any

impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of
supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure
of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the
amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements
on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity
risk. As the Group does not have supplier finance arrangements,
the amendments did not have any impact on the Group’s

financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRS
Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are not yet effective,
in these financial statements. The Group intends to apply these
revised IFRS Accounting Standards, if applicable, when they become
effective.

Vg EJEIVET &

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements’
KRR L I B AE N B 2 A - R

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures’

T BRI R A 1T

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial

2
Instruments

W RN F A BE I 4 e 7 7 B9 £ [FT

. .. 2
Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity

BB A BRI 4 T B A 2 Y B

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture'

B Z ] gh P

Lack of Exchangeability'

] 5% B 5 7R £ 2 I A 1 [ R R R AR 5 7 9
4] 5% B 55 e £ 2 R 25 9 9 ~ [ E A R £ T R AR 10 9 R
0] 5% it 2 Rl 55 7 % 0 A5 7T

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7, IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 72

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

Further information about those IFRS Accounting Standards that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described below.
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31 December 2024

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

IFRS 18 replaces IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. While
a number of sections have been brought forward from IAS 1 with
limited changes, IFRS 18 introduces new requirements for
presentation within the statement of profit or loss, including
specified totals and subtotals. Entities are required to classify all
income and expenses within the statement of profit or loss into one of
the five categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes and
discontinued operations and to present two new defined subtotals. It
also requires disclosures about management-defined performance
measures in a single note and introduces enhanced requirements on
the grouping (aggregation and disaggregation) and the location of
information in both the primary financial statements and the notes.
Some requirements previously included in IAS 1 are moved to IAS 8
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors,
which is renamed as IAS 8 Basis of Preparation of Financial
Statements. As a consequence of the issuance of IFRS 18, limited,
but widely applicable, amendments are made to IAS 7 Statement of
Cash Flows, IAS 33 Earnings per Share and IAS 34 Interim Financial
Reporting. In addition, there are minor consequential amendments
to other IFRS Accounting Standards. IFRS 18 and the consequential
amendments to other IFRS Accounting Standards are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier
application permitted. Retrospective application is required. The
Group is currently analysing the new requirements and assessing the
impact of IFRS 18 on the presentation and disclosure of the Group’s

financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

IFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced disclosure
requirements while still applying the recognition, measurement and
presentation requirements in other IFRS Accounting Standards. To
be eligible, at the end of the reporting period, an entity must be a
subsidiary as defined in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements,
cannot have public accountability and must have a parent (ultimate
or intermediate) that prepares consolidated financial statements
available for public use which comply with IFRS Accounting
Standards. Earlier application is permitted. As the Company is a
listed company, it is not eligible to elect to apply IFRS 19. Some of
the Company’s subsidiaries are considering the application of IFRS
19 in their specified financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Amendments to the
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments clarify the
date on which a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised
and introduce an accounting policy option to derecognise a financial
liability that is settled through an electronic payment system before
the settlement date if specified criteria are met. The amendments
clarify how to assess the contractual cash flow characteristics of
financial assets with environmental, social and governance and other
similar contingent features. Moreover, the amendments clarify the
requirements for classifying financial assets with non-recourse
features and contractually linked instruments. The amendments also
include additional disclosures for investments in equity instruments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income and
financial instruments with contingent features. The amendments
shall be applied retrospectively with an adjustment to opening
retained profits (or other component of equity) at the initial
application date. Prior periods are not required to be restated and can
only be restated without the use of hindsight. Earlier application of
either all the amendments at the same time or only the amendments
related to the classification of financial assets is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the

Group’s financial statements.
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31 December 2024

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity clarify the application of the “own-use”
requirements for in-scope contracts and amend the designation
requirements for a hedged item in a cash flow hedging relationship
for in-scope contracts. The amendments also include additional
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to understand the
effects these contracts have on an entity’s financial performance and
future cash flows. The amendments relating to the own-use exception
shall be applied retrospectively. Prior periods are not required to be
restated and can only be restated without the use of hindsight. The
amendments relating to the hedge accounting shall be applied
prospectively to new hedging relationships designated on or after the
date of initial application. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 shall be applied at the same time.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on

the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing with
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate
or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a gain
or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss
resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that
associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied
prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to IFRS 10 and TAS 28 was removed by the IASB. However, the

amendments are available for adoption now.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether a
currency is exchangeable into another currency and how it shall
estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require disclosures of
information that enable users of financial statements to understand
the impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application
is permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot
restate comparative information. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount of
translation differences accumulated in a separate component of
equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the

Group’s financial statements.

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11
set out amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7 (and the accompanying
Guidance on implementing IFRS 7), IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7.
Details of the amendments that are expected to be applicable to the

Group are as follows:

o IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amendments
have updated certain wording in paragraph B38 of IFRS 7 and
paragraphs IG1, IG14 and IG20B of the Guidance on
implementing IFRS 7 for the purpose of simplification or
achieving consistency with other paragraphs in the standard
and/or with the concepts and terminology used in other
standards. In addition, the amendments clarify that the
Guidance on implementing IFRS 7 does not necessarily
illustrate all the requirements in the referenced paragraphs of
IFRS 7 nor does it create additional requirements. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial

statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify that
when a lessee has determined that a lease liability has been
extinguished in accordance with IFRS 9, the lessee is required
to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of IFRS 9 and recognise any resulting
gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition, the amendments have
updated certain wording in paragraph 5.1.3 of IFRS 9 and
Appendix A of IFRS 9 to remove potential confusion. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial

statements.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The amendments
clarify that the relationship described in paragraph B74 of IFRS
10 is just one example of various relationships that might exist
between the investor and other parties acting as de facto agents
of the investor, which removes the inconsistency with the
requirement in paragraph B73 of IFRS 10. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any

significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

1AS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace the
term “cost method” with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of IAS 7
following the prior deletion of the definition of “cost method”.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any impact on the Group’s financial

statements.
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Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it has significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the

investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent

of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s share
of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line any
dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. The Group’s share of
the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of
associates and joint ventures is included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive income,
respectively. In addition, when there has been a change recognised
directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its
associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investments in the associates or joint ventures, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets
transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates or
joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s investments in

associates or joint ventures.
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31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured. Instead,
the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity
method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence over the
associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures
and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint
venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair
value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is

recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the

ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the

separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss or other

comprehensive income, as appropriate.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and

subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for
non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously
held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and
other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain

on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each
of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment

loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.
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31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that
unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit

retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, derivative financial
instruments and equity investments at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell
the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by
the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using
the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their

economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a
market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and

minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is

significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for

identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is

observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is

unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting

period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, financial assets and investment properties), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in
use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-

generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises in those expense categories consistent with the function of the

impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is

credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family

and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the

Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions

applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same

third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the

other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;
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31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)  (Continued)

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management

personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the

Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the catrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with

specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal estimated useful

lives and the annual depreciation rates are as follows:

FETEE R0 F
il W7 £ A AR 490 AR R
Annual
Estimated depreciation
useful lives rates
BE Buildings 204F 5%
20 years 5%
1 B H Motor vehicles 455 19% % 24%
4 to 5 years 19% to 24%
W sl M THE Office equipment and electronic devices 3B SAE 19% %32%
3 to 5 years 19% to 32%
LIRS Leasehold improvements 3 3 g4 12.5% £33%
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3 to8years 12.5% to 33%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable
basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year
end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the

relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment losses,
and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the appropriate category of

property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.
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31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at

the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the statement of profit or loss in the year in
which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year

of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or inventories, the deemed cost of a property for
subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use. If
a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property
becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such
property in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant
and equipment and depreciation” for owned property and/or accounts
for such property in accordance with the policy stated under “Right-
of-use assets” for property held as a right-of-use asset up to the date
of change in use, and any difference at that date between the carrying
amount and the fair value of the property is accounted for as a
revaluation in accordance with the policy stated under “Property,
plant and equipment and depreciation” above. For a transfer from
inventories to investment properties, any difference between the fair
value of the property at that date and its previous carrying amount is

recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Properties under development

Properties under development are intended to be held for sale after
completion.

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
comprising land costs, construction costs, borrowing costs,
professional fees and other costs directly attributable to such
properties incurred during the development period and net realisable
value.

Properties under development are classified as current assets unless
those will not be realised in the normal operating cycle. On
completion, the properties are transferred to completed properties
held for sale.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated in the statement of
financial position at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined by an apportionment of the total costs of land and
buildings attributable to the unsold properties. Net realisable value
takes into account the price ultimately expected to be realised, less
estimated costs to be incurred in selling the properties.

Allocation of property development costs

Land costs are allocated to each unit according to their respective
saleable gross floor area (“GFA”) to the total saleable GFA.
Construction costs relating to units were identified and allocated
specifically. Common construction costs have been allocated
according to the saleable GFA similar to land costs.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying
assets.
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31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(@)  Right-of-use assets
Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for
use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. When the
right-of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold land held as
inventories, they are subsequently measured at the lower of cost
and net realisable value in accordance with the Group’s policies
for “properties under development” and “completed properties
held for sale”. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the
amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-
of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets as follows:

20 £ 404F
20 to 40 years
PESEE

2 to 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the
end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold
land held as inventories, they are subsequently measured at the
lower of cost and net realisable value in accordance with the
Group’s policy for “properties under development” or “‘completed
properties held for sale”. When a right-of-use asset meets the
definition of investment property, it is included in investment
properties. The corresponding right-of-use asset is initially
measured at cost, and subsequently measured at fair value, in
accordance with the Group’s policy for “investment properties”.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

(©)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made over
the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under
residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest
and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of
an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of motor vehicles and office equipment
(that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the recognition exemption for leases of
low-value assets to leases of office equipment and laptop
computers that are considered to be of low value.

When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value
asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a
lease-by-lease basis. Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessor
When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an

operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as
operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental
income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term
and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the

period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for as

finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently

measured at amortised cost, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on
the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of
trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component ot for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied
the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for

“Revenue recognition” below.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at

fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are
not held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date

that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their

classification as follows:
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair

value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity
investments are also recognised as other income in the statement of

profit or loss when the right of payment has been established.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e.,
removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has

transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates
if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that
case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”)
for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows
due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the
original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit

enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on
a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30

days past due.
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31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering

the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which

apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured

at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing component
and lease receivables, the Group chooses as its accounting policy to
adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as

described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and

borrowings, and payables at amortised cost, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly

attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities primarily include trade and bills
payables, other payables, amounts due to the related companies,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, senior notes and

corporate bonds.
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31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their

classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables, and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, interest-bearing
borrowings, and payables (including payables under asset-backed
securities) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate

amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is

included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss
it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when
due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial
guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value,
adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
Group measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i)
the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy as set
out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income

recognised.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Corporate bonds

Corporate bonds issued by the Company that contain both liability
and early redemption option (which is not closely related to the host
contract) are classified separately on initial recognition. At the date
of issue, both the liability and early redemption option components
are recognised at fair value. In subsequent periods, the liability
component of the corporate bonds are carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The early redemption option is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit
or loss. Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the corporate
bonds are allocated to the liability and early redemption option
components in proportion to their relative fair values. Transaction
costs relating to the early redemption option are charged to profit or
loss immediately. Transaction costs relating to the liability
component are included in the carrying amount of the liability
portion and amortised over the periods of the corporate bonds using

the effective interest method.

Senior notes

Senior notes issued by the Company that contain both liability and
early redemption option (which is not closely related to the host
contract) are classified separately into respective items on initial
recognition. At the date of issue, both the liability and early

redemption option components are recognised at fair value.

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the senior notes is
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The
early redemption option is measured at fair value with changes in fair

value recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the senior notes are
allocated to the liability and early redemption option components in
proportion to their relative fair values. Transaction costs relating to
the early redemption option are charged to profit or loss immediately.
Transaction costs relating to the liability component are included in
the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised over the

period of the senior notes using the effective interest method.
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31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Perpetual capital securities

Perpetual capital securities with obligation to repay principal or to
pay any distribution are classified as part of liabilities. In subsequent
periods, the perpetual capital securities are carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. Transaction costs relating to the
perpetual capital securities are included in the carrying amount of
the liability and amortised over the periods of the perpetual capital
securities using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the

liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and
a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit

or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle

the liabilities simultaneously.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of

meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term
deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on

demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the

amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed,
the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when
the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a
provision is presented in the statement of profit or loss net of any

reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the

statement of profit or loss.
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31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit

or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which the

Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial

reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary

differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and

deductible temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will

not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax

credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences;

and

J in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against

which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax
assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in
each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax

liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable for the sales of properties and services provided in the
ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown, net of

taxes.

Sales of properties

Revenues are recognised when or as the control of the asset is
transferred to the purchaser. Depending on the terms of the contract
and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the asset may
transfer over time or at a point in time. Control of the asset is

transferred over time if the Group’s performance:

J provides benefits which are received and consumed

simultaneously by the purchaser; or

o creates and enhances an asset that the purchaser controls as the

Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Revenue is recognised at a point in time when the purchaser obtains
control of the asset.
In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised

amount of consideration for the effect of a financing component if it

is significant.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Sales of properties (Continued)

For property development and sales contracts for which the control of
the property is transferred at a point in time, revenue is recognised
when the purchaser obtains the physical possession or the legal title
of the completed property and the Group has a present right to

payment and the collection of the consideration is probable.

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in time
when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on

delivery of the goods.

Management consulting services

Management consulting service income derived from the provision of
support services in connection with development of property projects
is recognised when the relevant services are rendered and the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they

are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying

amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the

Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e.,

transfers control of the related goods or services to the customer).
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31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil a
contract with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the

following criteria are met:

(@) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated

contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will
be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance

obligations in the future.
(c)  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract cost assets are amortised and charged to the
statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which

the asset relates. Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.

Employee benefits

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into
the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland
China are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the statement of
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of

the central pension scheme.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group
can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the
Group recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of

termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of
such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the

borrowing of funds.

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period, but
prior to the date of authorisation for issue, about conditions that
existed at the end of the reporting period, it will assess whether the
information affects the amounts that it recognises in its financial
statements. The Group will adjust the amounts recognised in its
financial statements to reflect any adjusting events after the reporting
period and update the disclosures that relate to those conditions in
light of the new information. For non-adjusting events after the
reporting period, the Group will not change the amounts recognised
in its financial statements, but will disclose the nature of the non-
adjusting events and an estimate of their financial effects, or a

statement that such an estimate cannot be made, if applicable.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends

are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
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31 December 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
Group’s presentation currency. The functional currency of the
Company is the Hong Kong dollar while RMB is used as the
presentation currency of the financial statements of the Company for
the purpose of aligning with the presentation currency of the Group.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and
items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised

in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value
of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or

loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for

each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting period,
the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and
their statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of

the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve, except to the extent that the differences are attributable to
non-controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that particular foreign

operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of

the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange

rates for the year.

Perpetual capital securities

Perpetual capital securities with no contracted obligation to repay
their principal or to pay any distribution are classified as part of
equity. Perpetual capital securities with obligation to repay principal

or to pay any distribution are classified as part of liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected

in the future.

Going concern consideration

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, apart
from those involving estimations, management has prepared the
consolidated financial statements on the assumption that the Group
will be able to operate as a going concern in the coming year, which
is a critical judgement that has the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements. The
assessment of the going concern assumption involves making a
judgement by the directors of the Company, at a particular point of
time, about the future outcome of events or conditions which are
inherently uncertain. The directors consider that the Group has the
capability to continue as a going concern and the major events or
conditions, which may give rise to business risks, that may
individually or collectively cast a significant doubt upon the going

concern assumption are set out in note 2.1 to the financial statements.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the

amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of future

taxable profits, together with future tax planning strategies.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its
investment property portfolio. The Group has determined, based on
an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such
as the lease term not constituting a major part of the economic life of
the commercial property and the present value of the minimum lease
payments not amounting to substantially all the fair value of the
commercial property, that it retains substantially all the significant
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of these properties which

are leased out and accounts for the contracts as operating leases.

Significant judgement in determining the lease term of contracts
with renewal options

The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and
termination options. The Group applies judgement in evaluating
whether or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease.
That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic
incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or termination. After
the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there
is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its
control and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option
to renew or to terminate the lease (e.g., construction of significant
leasehold improvements or significant customisation to the leased

asset).
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31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied
properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment
property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement.
Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of the other
assets held by the Group. Some properties comprise a portion that is
held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion
that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold separately
or leased out separately under a finance lease, the Group accounts for
the portions separately. If the portions could not be sold separately,
the property is an investment property only if an insignificant
portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an
individual property basis to determine whether ancillary services are

so significant that a property does not qualify as an investment

property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for properties under development and completed properties
held for sale

The Group’s properties under development and completed properties
held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Based on the Group’s historical experience and the nature of the
subject properties, the Group makes estimates of the selling prices,
the costs of completion of properties under development, and the
costs to be incurred in selling the properties based on prevailing

market conditions.

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in net sales
value, the net realisable value will decrease and this may result in a
provision for properties under development and completed properties
held for sale. Such provision requires the use of judgement and
estimates. Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, the carrying value and provision for the properties in the
periods in which such estimate is changed will be adjusted

accordingly.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables, other

receivables and deposits and due from related parties

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits and due from related
parties. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by
customer type and rating). The provision rates are based on
profitability of default and the loss given default for other receivables

and deposits, and amounts due from related parties.

The expected loss rate is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust
the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross
domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year
which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the properties
sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in

the forward-looking estimates are analysed.
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31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables, other

receivables and deposits and due from related parties (Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and
forecast economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be
representative of a customer’s actual default in the future. The
information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables, other
receivables and deposits and due from related companies is disclosed

in notes 21, 22 and 38 to the financial statements, respectively.

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group is subject to corporate income taxes in the PRC. As a
result of the fact that certain matters relating to the income taxes
have not been confirmed by the local tax bureau, objective estimation
and judgement based on currently enacted tax laws, regulations and
other related policies are required in determining the provision for
income taxes to be made. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts originally recorded, the
differences will impact on the income tax and tax provisions in the

period in which the differences realise.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision for LAT is
based on management’s best estimates according to the
understanding of the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax
laws and regulations. The actual LAT liabilities are subject to the
determination by the tax authorities upon the completion of the
property development projects. The Group has not finalised its LAT
calculation and payments with the tax authorities for all its property
development projects. The final outcome could be different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, and any differences will impact
on the LAT expenses and the related provision in the period in which

the differences realise.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimation of fair value of investment properties
In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of sources,

including:

(a) current prices in an active market for properties of a different
nature, condition or location, adjusted to reflect those

differences;

(b) recent prices of similar properties on less active markets, with
adjustments to reflect any changes in economic conditions since

the date of the transactions that occurred at those prices; and

(¢) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable estimates of
future cash flows, supported by the terms of any existing lease
and other contracts and (when possible) by external evidence
such as current market rents for similar properties in the same
location and condition, and using discount rates that reflect
current market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount

and timing of the cash flows.

At 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of investment properties
was RMB7,433,700,000 (2023: RMBS8,006,900,000). Further
details, including the key assumptions used for fair value

measurement, are given in note 14 to the financial statements.
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31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use assets) at the
end of each reporting period. These non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may
not be recoverable. Impairment exists when the carrying value of an
asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which
is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on
available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value-in-use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those

cash flows.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management monitors the operating results of the Group’s business
which includes property development and leasing and commercial
property management by project locations for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment,
while no single location’s revenue, net profit or total assets exceed
10% of the Group’s consolidated revenue, net profit or total assets,
respectively. As the economic characteristics are similar in all the
locations, where the nature of property development and leasing and
management are similar, and the nature of the aforementioned
business processes, the type or class of customer for the
aforementioned business and the methods used to distribute the
properties or provide the services are also similar, all locations were

aggregated as one reportable operating segment.

Geographical information

No geographical information is presented as the Group’s revenue
from the external customers is derived solely from its operation in
Mainland China and no non-current assets of the Group are located
outside Mainland China.
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4. REDHER @) 4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
AFRFEEZEFNER Information about major customers

BE_F_=FR-_F_NFE+
“A=Zt—HIREE AEEHE
—HFRIEER T -HEF
9 S 5 Sl 4 A A 4 T R i B9 109 BX
PLE o

No sales to a single customer or a group of customers under common
control accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024.

5. Weds > HABA Rless - s,
FC At B 32

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS,
OTHER EXPENSES

E @R (| An analysis of revenue is as follows:
—E I —E =
2024 2023
AR Fx AR ¥TF o
RMB’000 RMB’000
Z LA 2 Revenue from contracts with customers 33,340,442 38,697,406
3 Al 2 IF 19 4 2 Revenue from other sources
KH GRS E W Gross rental income from investment
4 A B8R property operating leases:
FH S Z00E - 005 E S HoOE Lease payments, including fixed payments 76,464 77,529
M Total 33,416,906 38,774,935
%P a2 4R Revenue from contracts with customers
@ B ER (a) Disaggregated revenue information
R _PULE e
2024 2023
AR Fx AR ¥T o
RMB’000 RMB’000
15 W o R B R Types of goods or services
i 2 Sale of properties 33,331,088 38,648,331
P R IR Management consulting services 9,354 42,851
FHE QY Sale of goods - 6,224
At Total 33,340,442 38,697,406
W % e W2 ] Timing of revenue recognition:
WS B — Properties or goods transferred at a point
I i 85 94 RS in time 33,331,088 38,654,555
AR 5 W PRy ] 42 5% Services transferred over time 9,354 42,851
At Total 33,340,442 38,697,406
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164 zhenro Properties Group Limited



We g ~ At e A B e £ >
H At BH 52 (4)

%P a2 iR ()

(a)

(b)

o3 JE W R R (A1)

AR W B A e
AR A OSSR AR
Lo B A TR AT R R A

BTGRP aE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NE+ZA=+—H

31 December 2024

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS,
OTHER EXPENSES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised
in the current reporting period that were included in the

contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period and

A R R W i 4 AR recognised from performance obligations satisfied in previous
periods:
2024 2023
N AR ¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
FH AR ) A A B Revenue recognised that was included in
9 e a2 2 contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period:
S5 5 W 2 Sales of properties 30,178,205 36,074,192
J& %) H AL (b)  Performance obligations

A A 4 R A B AT R E R
HE A R

#HE Y

MY EHE SO E > A&
WA 7 AR E W B A HE R
B % T Y 3 1 8 € B A IR
MR A ERERN
S -

B 7§ i) R
AL B AR R B S o A 4R
Mk LA WS L HE

5 2 43 R s 10 fE M L 4 S
1 B 5% HE < AR e BRI AR o K
Vi o A8 PR R B A A A dE
B 72 W BR o 232 AT A K kAR
B A A B PR — M B E S it
HFTENMALEELAHEE
% 5 IRHS IR Jigh T o

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is

summarised below:

Sale of properties
For property sales contracts, the Group recognises revenue
equal to the contract amount when the purchaser obtains the

physical possession or the legal title of the completed property.

Management consulting services

For management consulting services, the Group recognises
revenue in the amount that equals to the right to invoice which
corresponds directly with the value to the customer of the
Group’s performance to date. The majority of the management
consulting service contracts do not have a fixed term. The term
of the contracts for pre-delivery and consulting services is
generally set to expire when the counterparties notify the

Group that the services are no longer required.
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HELY

BB B W R i i i B R 4
il HE B RS 2= K S i (B &
¥ % F 2 R B iR - X 5
B #0255 5 WOkt B R B Ry
B S AY -

Rt A=+—H>xH5HE
% 23 TE 2 0 BR B A AR OR 2
AR ER R R ) B & #

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS,
OTHER EXPENSES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(b) Performance obligations (Continued)
Sale of goods
Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when control of the
goods has transferred to the customer, being at the point the
goods are delivered to the customer. Payment of the transaction
price is due immediately at the point the customer has accepted

the materials.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as

at 31 December are as follows:

W

g Sy 111 R =4
2024 2023
AR¥ T ARMF o
RMB’000 RMB’000
TE )M AR A5 M #2288 ¢ Amounts expected to be recognised as
revenue:
— 4R Within one year 11,488,190 30,646,827
—EfE After one year 2,353,003 14,822,249
st Total 13,841,193 45,469,076
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31 December 2024

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS,

OTHER EXPENSES (Continued)

%P a2 iR () Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
b BEH HAT (%) (b) Performance obligations (Continued)
HERY () Sale of goods (Continued)
HoAt WA Bl i o0 B dn R An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:
- Sy 11! F- 3 EC=
2024 2023
AR ¥ Fx AR ¥T
RMB’000 RMB’000
3 il e A Other income
F Bl A Interest income 21,917 50,813
HoA Others 1,879 6,306
HoAth it A H8 5 Total other income 23,796 57,119
W 4 Gains
Wi F 4 Forfeiture of deposits 5,312 13,050
LRl B Government grants 443 7,074
FH 3 2 0F P 2 Gain on lease term termination 1,096 =
HEYE - BE K Gain on disposal of items of property,
A% T H A U A plant and equipment - 4,795
A P E R AR Gain on disposal of financial assets at fair
114 < Rl R Y 0 A value through profit or loss - 206
I %5 A A Total gains 6,851 25,125
HoAth e A B2 Wi 2 40 %R Total other income and gains 30,647 82,244
_B_NFFR
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5. Wegs > Hoptge A Bl gs 5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS,

At B 32 (a) OTHER EXPENSES (Continued)
®PaHWLE#) Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
b BEH AL () (b) Performance obligations (Continued)
HERY () Sale of goods (Continued)
HAtBA S AT i F An analysis of other expenses is as follows:
2024 2023
AR ¥ T AR ¥Foo
RMB’000 RMB’000

T BR b ) 2E T R AR Impairment losses recognised for properties
MR LY EMBMBE  under development and completed

i 15 (5819 ~ 20) properties held for sale (notes 19, 20) 2,328,116 4,375,883
M - RE KM HERR Y Impairment losses recognised for Property,

WE e 4R (B 5k 13) plant and equipment (notes 13) 700,196 -
[ 5, 2% %F 5 4R Foreign exchange differences, net 54,514 160,866
KA R RS E A Losses on disposal of subsidiaries, net

(Ff5E6) (note 6) = 25,243
WL A FEFF A1) Losses on disposal of financial assets

S Rl E 1) s 18 at fair value through profit or loss 87 9,710
WY B K IE E Losses on disposal of items of property,

i s 18 plant and equipment 6 367
EEE N Donations 500 500
Ho A Others 40,038 22,038
HoAth B =7 A AR Total other expenses 3,123,457 4,594,607
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6. BB wi e 4H 6.
A 2 ] 4 BT R 1B T AR (BEA)

LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

AR % THAR 22 5L
it 5 i g L —ERT=
Notes 2024 2023
AR¥ T AW T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
e & W A Cost of properties sold 20 31,452,175 36,582,585
o BR b g 2E T RE AR Impairment losses recognised for
O T R properties under development,
14 5 (L s 18 completed properties held for sale 5,19, 20 2,328,116 4,375,883
W~ s Impairment losses recognised for
R A e R 1Y e (B 4R property, plant and equipment 5,13 700,196 =
Y2 - W T wk f TE H Depreciation of items of property, plant
Ires and equipment 13 21,958 24,231
87 P R O AT Depreciation of right-of-use assets 15 20,220 33,275
A ST A 4 B Amortisation of other intangible assets 12 20
R AT EF AR50 Losses on disposal of financial assets at
4 Rl 7 1Y Ml 4R T AR fair value through profit or loss, net 5 87 9,504
WMEYE - M K Losses/(gains) on disposal of items of
H W EE4E (as) 5 property, plant and equipment, net 5 6 (4,428)
FH A4 1E 8y I gk Gains on lease term termination 5 (1,096) -
B B 8 A A B TH TR B Losses on disposal of subsidiaries, net - 25,243
A% BT S8 P Auditors’ remuneration 5,500 6,700
4 VA (R S 1R T AR Impairment losses on financial assets, net 22, 38 664,343 1,426,423
& B 4% FI B 52 (L 45 & Employee benefit expense (including
Ff m AT BON B H ) directors’ and chief executive’s
(Bt 5E8) - remuneration (note 8):
T % K Wages and salaries 313,828 369,615
8 & nt # K % Pension scheme contributions and
+L g 4 A social welfare 51,767 61,928
—EWEER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-M&E+=-—A=+—H
31 December 2024

7. BEE BRAR

7. FINANCE COSTS

Rl LAY S BT AR An analysis of finance costs is as follows:
e~y 11! - —EF =
2024 2023
AR¥ T AR
RMB’000 RMB’000
FHEERAT R H A A R - A A Interest on interest-bearing bank and other
25~ B EE A E L borrowings, corporate bonds, senior notes
K& ST R RS R 0 BT A5 and proceeds from asset-backed securities 4,597,336 4,602,796
Wi g A A EE AE RSB SC Interest expense arising from revenue
contracts 783,402 1,222,247
& & & A E Interest on lease liabilities 998 2,645
S I 1 22 (B w5 A fi 19 Total interest expense on financial liabilities
4 Rl B 1R Y RS BR S A not at fair value through profit or loss 5,381,736 5,827,688
W EARLF R Less: Interest capitalised (1,651,474) (3,238,795)
At Total 3,730,262 2,588,893

8. I BT

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

M4 BT A A A AR AR
383(1)@) ~ (b) ~ @ KO L K A #
(4% 7% 25 == A 23 & KL KB 56 2390 4
BEHATEEFR LmITHRAR

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies

(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is

BT - as follows:
TR e
2024 2023
AR# T ANR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
I 4 Fees 900 900
b T 5 Other emoluments:
L~ G R AR A Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 5,226 5,656
7 B4 84 18 AL Performance-related bonuses 412 856
T8 & wT# A R At g AE R Pension scheme contributions and social
welfare 198 532
5,836 7,044
At Total 6,736 7,944
J AN T AT S RS hJ Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus payments
AR ESMBN AL which are associated with the operating result of the Group.

-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NFE+=—A=+—H

31 December 2024

8. HH I M ) 8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)
@ WP ESR (a) Independent non-executive directors
BN AT T SL AT E The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during
R ORerR 1 N the year were as follows:
ZE N —EC=H
2024 2023
ANR¥ T AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
1 4 Fees
Bk 2+ Ms. Yang Yongyi = -
P ¥ S 2 Mr. Loke Yu 300 300
EERFEE Mr. Wang Chuanxu 300 300
AR Se A Mr. Xie Jun 300 300
M Et Total 900 900
M ok B Lo B AT S M s Ok Ms. Yang Yongyi has been appointed as an independent non-
MATER § F UEA executive director with effect from 31 December 2024.

“H=EtHEAER-

B 1 AR 56 A= B AT B S IE BLAT Mr. Loke Yu has been resigned as an independent non-
#HHEH _FEF A executive director with effect from 31 December 2024.
=t —HEAER-
AN NI A A R A 8 S JF There were no other emoluments payable to the independent
MATHEF R H M (= F == non-executive directors during the year (2023: Nil).
o) o

— B UFEFER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—FoEE+—A=t—H
31 December 2024

8. N H )

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

b BITEF -EHITES (b) Executive directors, non-executive director and the
EERHITBANE chief executive
SR 2024
i E Executive directors:
VA M. Li Yang = 1,820 = = 16 1,836
FPfrESE Non-executive director:
el ) A8 S Mr. Ou Guowei = 1,586 412 - 167 2,165
HEATENE ¢ Chief executive:
Bl sk Mr. Liu Weiliang = 1,820 = = 15 1,835
Mgt Total = 5,226 412 - 198 5,836
ARGER L ‘EaEH
L& BB RO A (394
Wa REWEA O BEEA AR X A 4 A I A
Pension
Salaries, Equity-settled scheme
allowances  Performance share-based  contributions
and benefits related payment and social Total
Fees in kind bonuses expenses welfare  remuneration
ANRETLE AREFIE AREFLTr AREFL ARETITZ ARETI
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
“RCEE 2023
HiTESR: Executive directors:
AR e A M. Huang Xianzhi - 507 - - 40 547
eyt Mr. Li Yang = 1,549 256 = 164 1,969
FEHfTES: Non-executive director:
B A 5 A Mr. Ou Guowei - 1,845 395 = 164 2,404
BEATBNE ¢ Chief executive:
Blfgse it M. Liu Weiliang - 1,755 205 = 164 2,124
Bt Total = 5,656 856 = 532 7,044

ERWESEBRAT
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8.

N E A I

(b)

iTESR T ESF
KA BN B (4#)

AR A E BT G
BT HER RBLEZEETE
LA o = R = NN
GRS v = St
—H AR -

HATHE R R e EhER
GRIERHELEEERE LE
EZThARBEZBEGER
i = =l = B NN E
K A T =4—H
T HEER-

BEZ NEL+ A=+
— H Ik 4F B> AR 4R [ S 4
AT ] & = S ASHAT T B 4 (7 &
T A 4E [ 8 A A 4E E] £
1 SE ) > IR 4 1) AT fo] B AT #E
= o} {7 AT 5 2 A AT o] B 4
(FE B MR Al ) (= F — =
4F ) o

AN B R R AT
N B 5 B[R] 3 3 AT ]
B 22 BF (% = =4 ) -

8.

BTGRP aE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NE+ZA=+—H

31 December 2024

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b)

Executive directors, non-executive director and the
chief executive

Mr. Huang Xianzhi has resigned as the chairman of the board
of directors, an executive director, the chairman of the
Nomination Committee, a member of the Remuneration
Committee and an authorised representative of the Company
with effect from 20 January 2023.

M. Liu Weiliang, an executive director, has been re-designated
from the vice chairman of the board of directors to the
Chairman, and has been appointed as the chairman of the
Nomination Committee, a member of the Remuneration
Committee and an authorised representative of the Company
with effect from 20 January 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no emolument was
paid by the Group to any of the directors as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or to any directors or past
directors as compensation for loss of office (2023: Nil).

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the year (2023: Nil).

B FFRK
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-M&E+=-—A=+—H
31 December 2024

9. %m0 g B

FEN > T R BT R B R =4
HFR(CER_=4:=Z4#F) H

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included three
directors (2023: three directors), details of whose remuneration are

Fr O FF I OR bSO REs o 3l I AR
NEEFEREEITBEABNET

— A (R W) B
18 8 47 14 A9 3 B 15 T

set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of

the remaining one (2023:

two) highest paid employees who are

neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

TR A R =

2024 2023

AR¥Fx AR W¥T T

RMB’000 RMB’000

&~ AR AR R Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 3,773 3,559

R B ST 41 Performance-related bonuses 590 1,014
T8 & # AL R I At g 4 A Pension scheme contributions and social

welfare 183 181

st Total 4,546 4,754

Hr B 7 DA 8 R R JF % OOF
A AT BN B B R R BN B

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid

employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as

/TN follows:
& B A%
Number of employees
—E A o=

2024 2023
2,000,000 # JC £ 2,500,000 % 76 HK$2,000,000 to HK$2,500,000 1 1
2,500,001 # JC £ 3,000,000 5 HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 = 1
T Total 1 2

#wHE_F_HE+_A=+—H
1k AR 5 > A 4R ] S 48 1) AT f] T A A
55 7 P 1R B S A AT T B < o FF 4

)\ZIS%IjUJH)\ZIK%IfﬁE’J%JEb
MR R BER M E (% =
) -
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, no emolument was paid

by the Group to any of the five highest paid employees as an

inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for

loss of office (2023: Nil).



10. Fr i3 i

A 4 [ JH 0t A 42 1B 2 D GE i
Je K8 %8 B A5 Bl B W ik HE [ 2R R
B FG R i R e R R R YE A BT
THBL o AR BH 2 T S M R L B
B B BRI Bk B > AR B B 2
By B 3 Ja L B S RE AR S By B
J& o~ 7] B JH AN AT AT BT AR B o A SR
R A s G RS Y M B A R
JELASAA T A L > R 2 5% 4 28 R R R
E_F_NEF+A=Z=+—HI
A I M B R A U A AR WY AE T
JHE B ik A o

A 4R T TR B A b R B R R
T 4F N ZH 3% 259 1A 0 25 480 A b
PR -

- i B B Y B 309 £ 60% 1) B
Bl 2R )+ b R (R AR RO > Tl
(B 78 2% 0 B W 26 BT 45 3K TE Bk AT dn
WS (L HE b A O A
B HoAth 4 2EBH 8 ) o AL EAR
PE A B B A S I R R R
B R A b G (E B AL FT AR &
i Bl TR A o - i g B A8
H b B B B AT B B
HEE o

10.

BTGRP aE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NE+ZA=+—H

31 December 2024

INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the tax jurisdictions in which members of
the Group are domiciled and operate. Pursuant to the rules and
regulations of the Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands, the
Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in the Cayman Islands and British
Virgin Islands are not subject to any income tax. The Group’s
subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong were not liable for income
tax as they did not have any assessable profits currently arising in
Hong Kong for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Subsidiaries of the Group operating in Mainland China were subject
to PRC CIT at a rate of 25% for the year.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from the sale of
properties less deductible expenditures including land costs,
borrowing costs and other property development expenditures. The
Group has estimated, made and included in taxation a provision for
LAT according to the requirements set forth in the relevant Mainland
China tax laws and regulations. The LAT provision is subject to the

final review and approval by the local tax bureau.

—EZ YL -
2024 2023
AR¥Fx AR BFo
RMB’000 RMB’000

R B IH - Current tax:
Hh K A 2 BT AR B PRC CIT 159,091 214,416
Hh [ - b 3 (E B PRC LAT (459,287) 2,202
% SiE B IH (Ff 5k 18) Deferred tax (note 18) 470,466 264,662
B R B TE S AR Total tax charged for the year 170,270 481,280
_B_MFEFR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—ECME+ZA=+—H
31 December 2024

10. FIr 15 B (4)

NS N S ) N R
Fe,/ B A T AE R 5 HE [ 58 BL
atH A BR BLAT s 18 8 W /9 B 45
Bt B 32 B % B BT A5 B R EF AN

10.

INCOME TAX (Continued)

A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to loss before tax at
the statutory tax rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company
and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled and/or operate to

the income tax expense at the effective income tax rate is as follows:

P AR Bl B BRI R
YL —E =
2024 2023
AR¥ T AR WET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
i Bt il s 18 Loss before tax (7,368,776) (9,004,282)
¥ 75 2 TS Bl R 5T E At the statutory income tax rate (1,842,194) (2,251,071)
B AR 2 R N A Profits and losses attributable to joint
T A % 5 48 ventures and associates (38,724) 44,469
ASa] FnFd B 3 Expenses not deductible for tax 8,695 11,144
8 1 AR ) Y B T e 18 Tax losses and deductible temporary
T AT 0 E R 2 R differences utilised from previous years (559,961) (179,246)
o R 1K) RT3 R IRy 22 Deductible temporary differences not
recognised 1,033,460 1,313,460
o e 7R 1Y) B TE I 18 Tax losses not recognised 1,913,459 1,540,873
3 434 (B 5 A4 Provision for LAT (459,287) 2,202
- i 48 (BB 4 BB S Tax effect on LAT 114,822 (551)
P A 4 T P B R A Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate
Y B T S 170,270 481,280

R B8 A2 S A R EAS 1
BIEE M A AR 116,565,000 7C
(=& = =% : AR ¥70,589,000
J6) o FEN > BB KBS N T
JE 15 1 B TE IR e A R 564,933,000
JE(CF = =4 0 AR 129,881,000
I6) G R R R R SET AL & &
(oE WS R NN R N

EFRMEREEBRAT
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The share of tax charge attributable to joint ventures and associates
amounted to RMB116,565,000 for the year (2023: RMB70,589,000).
The share of tax credit attributable to joint ventures and associates
amounting to RMBG64,933,000 for the year (2023:
RMB129,881,000) is included in “Share of profits and losses of joint
ventures and associates” in the consolidated statement of profit or

loss.
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11.

12.

f B 5 IR DL 2R A Y B A B T A

BTGRP aE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NE+ZA=+—H

31 December 2024

10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

Tax payable in the consolidated statement of financial position

represents:

e e L' K 3 SE=
2024 2023
AR ¥ F AR ¥F o
RMB’000 RMB’000
JREASH v [ A S i A5 i PRC CIT payable 2,803,490 2,989,394
JRE A5} Fp B A i 3 (L PRC LAT payable 1,110,084 1,482,924
JRE ASF Fod, VEL A48 %A Total tax payable 3,913,574 4,472,318

Ji% B\ 11. DIVIDENDS

FREGERARMSEZE -F Y
Ft+_A=+t—HILEEZRH
B (TR =4 ) .

B wl EIEER A A
JE 4l 45 3% JEs 18

B B A s 18 T AR BE B S W
HE 5 FF A N B AL AR A 4R DL AR
N E§ AT 7E A % 8 m RE ST 2 3
4367,756,000 % ( = & = = 4
4,367,756,000 %) 5 o

5[ N S e < L1 [ S
SE =+ A=+—HIL%E
JE 7 40 5 AT T A 4 A A > i
WA E & R
T ZH =+ —HIEFE R
2 B B A s 18 A 4 v A o

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based on the loss
for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 4,367,756,000
(2023: 4,367,756,000) outstanding during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share amounts
presented for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 in respect
of a dilution as the Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares
in issue during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

— B UFEFER
Annual Report 2024 177



B RS ERR I

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T-mE+=—A=+—H

31 December 2024

12. BAwEEERFAE A 12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

W& A 5 I 0 18 (a) ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT (Continued)
(S E G TN E TR PR 3 The calculations of the basic and diluted loss per share amounts are
IFIEHE AR based on:
“ETNE

2024
i 48 Loss
(S YNNR TR ETENEC DN Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders
JRE A5 s 18 (N R T o0) of the parent (RMB’000) (6,829,835)
Jiz 4 Shares
AN E AT I Weighted average number of ordinary
Jin R T 35 shares in issue during the year 4,367,756,000 4,367,756,000
5 i s 48 Loss per share
A T 4 Basic and diluted AR¥ @560 ARM1.94 70
RMB(1.56)

EFRMEREEBRAT
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PRI

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-NFE+=—A=+—H
31 December 2024

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

WO 3% iV
[ &3 WHE KEFEE YR TR FETR Bt
Office
equipment
Motor and electronic Leasehold  Construction
Buildings vehicles devices improvements in progress Total
ARWFE ARWFE ARWTLE AR¥ETLE AR¥TLZ AR¥ETL
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
SR A 31 December 2024
+ZH=1—H
i AR At 1 January 2024
—H—H
A Cost 514,105 50,257 45,718 16,267 827,740 1,454,087
Rt Ko Accumulated depreciation
and impairment (104,407) (44,816) (45,100) (15,464) - (209,787)
SRR (el Net carrying amount 409,698 5,441 618 803 827,740 1,244,300
A% A At 1 January 2024, net of
—H—H0> accumulated
kBt eE depreciation 409,698 5,441 618 803 827,740 1,244,300
WE Additions - - 37 - - 37
i Disposals - - (31) = = (31)
AR BE AT A Depreciation provided
during the year (20,438) (500) (317) (703) - (21,958)
E Impairment - - - - (700,196) (700,196)
AT AR At 31 December 2024, net
+-H=+—H> of accumulated
b 25t depreciation and
KBifE impairment 389,260 4,941 307 100 127,544 522,152
A% YA At 31 December 2024
+TZAH=+—H
A Cost 514,105 50,257 45,595 16,267 827,740 1,453,964
ZET 8 ROBUA Accumulated depreciation
and impairment (124,845) (45,316) (45,288) (16,167) (700,196) (931,812)
Iy TRER Net carrying amount 389,260 4,941 307 100 127,544 522,152
— B UFEFER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ECME+ZA=+—H

31 December 2024

13. W3 ~ W Bk i () 13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
PN A ik
B¥ WEE RETEE R T @R Mt
Office
equipment
Motor  and electronic Leasehold Construction
Buildings vehicles devices  improvements in progress Total
ARETTE ARETTE ARETET ARETET ARETT ARETT
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
TEC=E 31 December 2023
+ZA=+—H
e S At 1 January 2023
—H—H
A Cost 525,332 55,247 46,718 16,182 827,740 1,471,219
LN Accumulated depreciation (95,193) (48,183) (44,703) (13,365) = (201,444)
g TREE) Net carrying amount 430,139 7,064 2,015 2,817 827,740 1,269,775
i S At 1 January 2023, net of
—H—H> accumulated
kBt eE depreciation 430,139 7,064 2,015 2,817 827,740 1,269,775
WE Additions = 1,683 15 = = 1,698
ik Disposals - (2,621) (321) = - (2,942)
AR BE AT A Depreciation provided
during the year (20,441) (685) (1,091) (2,014) - (24,231)
WoFE =4 At 31 December 2023, net
TZA=+—H> of accumulated
kxR 5+ 8 depreciation 409,698 5,441 618 803 827,740 1,244,300
N a1 S At 31 December 2023
+ZHA=t+—H
A Cost 514,105 50,257 45,718 16,267 827,740 1,454,087
LY ki Accumulated depreciation (104,407) (44,816) (45,100) (15,464) - (209,787)
HR I 5 Net carrying amount 409,698 5,441 618 803 827,740 1,244,300
WoEZMAE+FF A =+ —H & As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s property, plant and equipment
A5 ] W T v E 29 A\ R K 209,845,000 with a net carrying amount of approximately RMB209,845,000 (2023:
( =40 NRHE192,906,000 RMB192,906,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank and
) B W 2E - R I R M BB other borrowings granted to the Group (note 27).

Z%ZIKE I 4% 1w B §Eﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁ
fif A SR (B RE27)
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BTGRP aE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NE+ZA=+—H

31 December 2024

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Py (=% 3N A5t
Under
construction Completed Total
AREETT AR¥TFIT ARKFL
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
W E =4 —H—HB Carrying amount at 1 January 2023
e TH (L 3,319,199 5,308,201 8,627,400
NN Additions 23,919 — 23,919
NS ELY TEiEREE ) Net loss from a fair value adjustment (113,419) (531,000) (644,419)
W E -_=4F+_"H Carrying amount at 31 December
=+t —HRERZE 2023 and 1 January 2024
— A — H iR T H 3,229,699 4,777,201 8,006,900
NRSEE GRS EiREE ) Net loss from a fair value adjustment (205,600) (367,600) (573,200)
X ZNEFZH Carrying amount at 31 December
ﬁ+ H B 3 T 2024 3,024,099 4,409,601 7,433,700

2 £ [ 1) 5% ) 2E A b A b o
A AR Y 5% Y 3 TS R B B
2E G G Al (E B DR AT 4 2L ST
il B ws w0 A5 BR A 7D ([ b B B 47 1)
FEAE A —E T E+ T H =+ —
H & il £ A R 7,433,700,000 7G (—
T =4 N R H8,006,900,000

o 7 A [H) 1 = A B S A8 B K W
ﬁ%%@$“7%$@M@ﬁﬁ
FE TAT A1 F Al (Al B E AL Y
251 A FBAG (E o T 998 1 ME L 35 T 15
SIS VA 2N T N Sl
SEATUE o A 4R B (V) = A B S A B
5 M B BELA (R R SR 4 AT B
b R R R R O AR
@ﬁ?nfuﬁﬂ°

R oEZMFEFFH=+—H &
2 ] 7 i T 40 N R 55,826,019,000
JC (R =4 0 NR¥6,277,319,000
O MR EYECEMN AALE
ﬁfxf:‘lﬁnf@%ﬁ 1 B o Ath A 3 A K

(B 55 27)

The Group’s investment properties are situated in Mainland China.
The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31 December
2024 based on valuations performed by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate
Appraisal and Advisory Limited (“JLL”), an independent
professionally qualified valuer, at RMB7,433,700,000 (2023:
RMBS,006,900,000). The Group’s senior finance manager and the
chief financial officer decide, after approval from the board of
directors of the Company, to appoint which external valuer to be
responsible for the external valuations of the Group’s properties.
Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation,
independence and whether professional standards are maintained.
The Group’s senior finance manager and the chief financial officer
have discussions with the valuer on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results when the valuation is performed for financial

reporting.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s investment properties with an
aggregate carrying amount of approximately RMB5,826,019,000
(2023: RMB6,277,319,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings granted to the Group (note 27).

_FFR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-M&E+=-—A=+—H

31 December 2024

14. BEWE @) 14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Concinued)
2 FAE g % Fair value hierarchy
TR A EEBEEYENLT The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy
E =&k of the Group’s investment properties:

RN ZH = A R PUT 0  A F &
Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2024 using
WS EAWBE EALTBE

Z M LN ¢ LN ¢

GE—#) GE=#) (GE=#) At
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
AR¥ETFLT ARBTLT AR¥EFTZ AR¥TE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
LN IEHE T Recurring fair value measurement for:
RE AT &
GRS ENHE L7/ 3 Completed commercial properties - - 4,409,601 4,409,601
TERTEYE Commercial properties under
construction = = 3,024,099 3,024,099
At Total - - 7,433,700 7,433,700
REZFZ=ZF+ZHA=+—BERA TR A AR
Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2023 using
EHEWY EATBEE ERATBEE
ZHfE LN L€ LU L€
(55— %) (58 — %) (5B =%) A5
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARETLE ARWTET ARETLT ARFTI
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB’000
BT IHE ET R Recurring fair value measurement for:
BN P&
ESZENHE L/E 3 Completed commercial properties - - 4,777,201 4,777,201
TE 2 SEW) 3 Commercial properties under
construction = = 3,229,699 3,229,699
Rat Total - — 8,006,900 8,006,900
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NE+ZA=+—H

31 December 2024

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3
(2023: Nil).

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key

BT B 3 i A R g 2 inputs to the valuation of investment properties:
i 8 B 4 K A W] B 5 A\ v i [ =% S 3
Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs Range or weighted average
ZEFNE —F=F
2024 2023
S ENEERYE S A B AL % it w6
(NRW BTk EER)
Completed commercial Income capitalisation  Estimated rental value 26-250 30-263
properties method (RMB per sq.m. and per month)
ALt A
Capitalisation rate 4.5%—6% 4%—6%
TE 2 7 6 W) 2 IRFS EEIRIREES
Commercial properties Comparison method Expected profit margin 5% 10%

under construction

ERTEEYEN S FETTER
WA B AL I B - T kR R
Be A7 T 0 26 R B AT AEL A T8 A R
s AE BLAT UL T AT AE R4S A
e A A CREAEL 40 B V8 72 A M A
TR 78 7 B ) > RE ML E A
fb o DA% 8 8 1 & AL L R i E A
F{H o I B TE B EE UL T 2% M B
[T R C RO A

L e

f AL B )
B 0 3 0 28 K 6 38 G
D) o BEA L He % K R I (O
D) i B 30 2 (K O
Wb,/ () -

The fair value of completed commercial properties is determined by
the income capitalisation method, taking into account the net rental
income of the properties derived from the existing leases and/or
achievable in the existing market with due allowance for the
reversionary income potential of the leases, which have been then
capitalised to determine the fair value at an appropriate capitalisation
rate. Where appropriate, reference has also been made to the

comparable sales transactions as available in the relevant market.

A significant increase/(decrease) in the estimated rental value would
result in a significant increase/(decrease) in the fair value of the
investment properties. A significant increase/(decrease) in the
capitalisation rate would result in a significant decrease/(increase) in

the fair value of the investment properties.

B FFRK
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14. B&WE @)

15.

2 P& % (4)

TE 72 T W) 2 7 (E 1 L
HHE > BB E MBS LR
14 W] L S By AR S8l (i ) &€
fHER DLT JH B & A5 Y 38 A
EH(RIEHEDRT)

o THIGZ M TN KN E L
W fili 5F & 5 A & H ¥ H
A &

o WHZHEEMIFA K EZ
Yy 2k = % T T % 8 4 5 A

il w2 5 RA M A B &
BE Y 2N (E AR - TR R
B A EREEREY SRR
{E A -

il
A 4 AR 2 R HLA

AREEBEA AR HLELEENZ
1] e > ~ o8 EE R L At 3 £ TE HI
MAEARK - AEEERATES —
YR AT 2k LA 3 g A
(FHH 2 204F) » R PEZ % T o fH 5
AR K o A 4 T R A A S AN AT
A FRCTE o N B A B H N F2
TS o HoAth 5 M 09 HL I B W A 12
i A B LA B SR R R 0 1R (E
K e — T 5 > AS 4 R v] ) AR
S 9 DL AN N A e o R A
FE o f 8 A U] K B 1 iR S RE K ] A
40 Z A& G L7 F SCRFa o

IERINEKEBRAT

184 zhenro Properties Group Limited

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

15.

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The fair value of commercial properties under construction is
determined by using the comparison method, with reference to
comparable sales evidence as available in the relevant market to
derive the fair value of the property assuming it was completed and,

where appropriate, after deducting the following items:

J Estimated construction costs and professional fees to be
expensed to complete the properties that would be incurred by

a market participant; and

U Estimated profit margin that a market participant would

require to hold and develop the property to completion.

The higher the estimated construction costs, the lower the fair value
of the investment properties under construction would be resulted.
The higher expected profit margin, the lower fair value of the

investment properties under construction would be resulted.

LEASES
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of office buildings,
motor vehicles and other equipment used in its operations. Lump
sum payments were made upfront to acquire the leased land from the
owners with lease periods of 20 years, and no ongoing payments will
be made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of office
buildings generally have lease terms between 2 and 5 years. Other
equipment generally have lease terms of 12 months or less and/or are
individually of low value. Generally, the Group is restricted from
assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group. There
are several lease contracts that include extension and termination
options and variable lease payments, which are further discussed

below.
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31 December 2024

15. & @) 15. LEASES (continued)
A 4R [ VR s AR LN () The Group as a lessee (Continued)
@ fHiH WE & A (a) Right-of-use assets
AN A 4R 0 RE A E Y IR The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and
[EREDSE LRI the movements during the year are as follows:
b £ A o1 A5t
Land use Office

rights buildings Total
ARHEFIT ARWTIT ARWKTLT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

W_E - =HF—H—H As at 1 January 2023 245,759 32,776 278,535
=R Additions = 13,265 13,265
FHHA 4 1k Br B 2R 2 D Decrease arising from lease term
termination — (11,322) (11,322)
785 BH =2 Depreciation charge (13,015) (20,260) (33,275)
W oE =44+ H As at 31 December 2023 and
=t —H R ZFPUE 1 January 2024
—H—H 232,744 14,459 247,203
FELHA 4 1k BT 7 A 22 D Decrease arising from lease term
termination = (4,810) (4,810)
PreEp X Depreciation charge (13,015) (7,205) (20,220)
e gl e S As at 31 December 2024
+—-H=+—H 219,729 2,444 222,173
W oE UE+ A =+ — As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s right-of-use assets with
H > 7 48 [ 4 HR a4 AR an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
#156,932,000 00 ( — F —. = RMB156,932,000 (2023: RMB165,775,000) were pledged to
0 N R #165,775,00078) 1Y secure interest-bearing bank and other borrowings granted to
HREEECEM . &AL the Group (note 27).

5% B4 S SR AT K A £
AR R (B 5E27) -

— B UFEFER
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15. flE @)
A AL AR B R LN (4)

15. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) FHLEHRE (b)  Lease liabilities
AR A6 A AR T (E K A The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements
o/ N during the year are as follows:
e~y 11! - e S
2024 2023
AR T AR# T
RMB’000 RMB’000
W — A — H i IR T E Carrying amount as at 1 January 24,319 42,123
B & New leases = 13,265
AN e R RS 1Y Accretion of interest recognised during
the year 998 2,645
FHHA 4 1k B A AR 2 D Decrease arising from lease term
termination (5,906) (11,322)
5 3K Payments (13,001) (22,392)
W ZH=1T—HmIEHEE Carrying amount as at 31 December 6,410 24,319
i Analysed into:

IR R Current portion 1,536 14,026
FE B HA A0 Non-current portion 4,874 10,293
GER= =R R E I T The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 41

A B R M 541 - to the financial statements.
() JAHE 25 b R Y FH & AH B 3K (¢)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are
THF - as follows:
SEopE o=
2024 2023
ANR# T ANR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
L & A S Interest on lease liabilities 998 2,645
i Pl S A B B X Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 20,220 33275
B S 300 AH B A B Y B 32 Expense relating to short-term leases
(5 AAT BB 32) (included in administrative expenses) 3,255 4,932
HALEEEEHEA RN Expense relating to leases of low-value
B 3 (EA 8 8 B ) 8 assets (included in selling and
BH 32) distribution expenses) 1,578 1,491
FAME R P AERR Y K H A% Total amount recognised in profit or loss 26,051 42,343
(d) FHEMAEB LR E MM KB (d) The total cash outflow for leases and future cash outflows

fh 09 FHL B A B A9 R SR B & IR
HH B B S T R W RE 33 o

EFRMEREEBRAT
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relating to leases that have not yet commenced are disclosed in

note 33 to the financial statements.



15. & @) 15. LEASES (Continued)
A 4R [ AR 2y LN The Group as a lessor
AEERBLEHELEHEHR The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) consisting of
& W2 (MY 5k 14) - A3 FE 410 four commercial properties in Mainland China under operating lease
A i B SE W) 3E o T B R — R K arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require the tenants to
5 S AT AR S 4 - 3l K 2 AR 45 0 Iy pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments
L E R AR & o AR R AR R according to the then prevailing market conditions. Rental income
MR AR AR recognised by the Group during the year was RMB76,464,000 (2023:
76,464,0007C (—F Z =4 + AR RMB77,529,000), details of which are included in note 5 to the
77,529,000 7C) - wf 1 A W R &R financial statements.
BE&ES ©
A-EWEL+ A=+ —H A& At 31 December 2024, the undiscounted lease payments receivable
A R PR B LA P RT AL ) &g by the Group in future periods under operating leases with its
B R AR TH] R e B o G B A B tenants are as follows:
AIAWTE
ZENE —EF=HF
2024 2023
AR¥ T AR #T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
— R Within one year 84,587 87,296
—A4E DA EAH W AR PA Y After one year but within two years 14,121 84,587
W AERL EAH ZAE DAY After two years but within three years 14,358 14,121
=R FHEUERIR After three years but within four years 14,602 14,358
Y4 DL B AE AR DLA After four years but within five years 14,853 14,602
FARAR After five years 150,658 165,511
At Total 293,179 380,475
16. REBAEMNRE 16. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES
R —EF =
2024 2023
N A BT e
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR E Share of net assets 2,254,602 2,179,692

BTGRP aE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NE+ZA=+—H

31 December 2024

JE UL K JE A B A A 26 R TH R BB
K M 5E 38 5 -

The amounts due from and to joint ventures are disclosed in note 38

to the financial statements.

— B UFEFER
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31 December 2024

16. B EFENERE @ 16. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
(@  ASEE R F O E (@) Particulars of the Group’s material joint ventures in 2024 are
aEMEFEMT as follows:
A4 ] A
BEAREE I
HEHEAR Percentage of
Paid-in capital ownership interest 3 221§ B}
VAR ERUEE P& AR¥ T attributable to the Principal
Name of company Place and year of registration RMB’000 Group activities

M RUTLRE IR E B A R AR P B

—E_%k
Nanjing Jiangyucheng Real Nanjing, PRC
Estate Co., Ltd. 2020

A N T2 g5 A 26 A8 B S B A R

AR ] —F—hEF
Hefei Liangjin Enterprise Hefei, PRC
Management Consulting 2019
Co., Ltd.
(b) P AUILARIRCE EA R R (8 (b)

WA AREHEE & _UF
F_E_=H£+‘+_H=+—
HIEFEWEESSME) H
R A HE Y At &S R 3
[ & — My EHEEE -
AR AR o

G 8 8 A 2E A gk A A R
A (HHRAAREREE %
=+ -HA=+—H1L#E
EE TGS S E HRAE
FEENEF A=+ —
A 1k 4F BG4 i 5 oK) B
A b A A A
&g —MyEREEH >
PR JF ME 28 95 AR o
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1,501,841 50% YR

Property

development
200,000 33% W3R %%

Property
development

Nanjing Jiangyucheng Real Estate Co., Ltd. is considered a
material joint venture of the Group for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023. It operates a property development
project with the other joint venture partner in Mainland China
and was accounted for using the equity method.

Hefei Liangjin Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd.
was considered a material joint venture of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023 but was not material for the
year ended 31 December 2024. It operates a property
development project with the other joint venture partner in
Mainland China and was accounted for using the equity
method.
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(b)

(%)

T RSB R A B AL AR A
B AN N R S ]
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31 December 2024

16. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information in respect of Nanjing Jiangyucheng Real Estate
Co., Ltd. adjusted for any differences in accounting policies and

reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial

TR 1Y) B T (L 3 statements:
R4 R4
+ZA=+—H +-A=+—H
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
AR¥ T AR
RMB’000 RMB’000
Ha LB EEEY Cash and cash equivalents 7,484 19,489
HoAth it B & Other current assets 2,088,699 4,669,789
B Current assets 2,096,183 4,689,278
I E) G E Non-current assets 2 2
SRARE NEIEE S Kk Financial liabilities, excluding trade and
At 1 £ ZK0H other payables (173,790) (2,898,390)
Al i ) £ £ Other current liabilities (361,594) (374,187)
REA R Current liabilities (535,384) (3,272,577)
3 HE Net assets 1,560,801 1,416,703
BARLE N A EBEMMELR  Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in
HIR - the joint venture:
7 £ (B i A A HE EC 491 Proportion of the Group’s ownership 50% 50%
REBMBAEAEBEFERE  Group’s share of net assets of the joint
venture 780,401 708,352
58 1Y i 11 (E Carrying amount of the investment 780,401 708,352
I i Revenue 2,701,992 1,039,312
b Expenses (2,509,863) (859,325)
B IH Tax (48,032) (81,073)
A A Vi A B A T K A A Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year 144,097 98,914
_B_NFFR
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31 December 2024

16. REBREMNTE @) 16. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
b) (#) (b)  (Continued)
N RN A B AR A The following table illustrates the summarised financial
FHEWA RS R M E information in respect of Hefei Liangjin Enterprise
B 2> © Ot AT ] & 5 BUR Management Consulting Co., Ltd. adjusted for any differences
2 HLAE Wy o0 R I B A7 A A S in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in
2% T4 11 R T R 3 R the consolidated financial statements:
e S
+=-HA=+—H
31 December
2023
AR ¥ T
RMB’000
e R EEEY Cash and cash equivalents 157,735
Ho A v B Other current assets 867,988
T B B Current assets 1,025,723
I ) & Non-current assets 7
EMARE NSRS K Financial liabilities, excluding trade and
HoAth R A 3k0E other payables (533,222)
HoAt 7 B) B AR Other current liabilities (212,374)
i) A R Current liabilities (745,596)
& Net assets 280,134
BLA B2 WA G 8 R SE R RE 4 IR Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in
the joint venture:
A A [ T A A RE L B Proportion of the Group’s ownership 33%
AEMMEEGESCETEE Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture 92,444
& 1 R 1 E Carrying amount of the investment 92,444
IR %5 Revenue 453,234
B % Expenses (389,234)
i JH Tax —
AF TN i A R 4 T A 4 4 AR Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year 64,000

EFRMEREEBRAT
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31 December 2024

16. REBREMNTE @) 16. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
(© T3 A £ B R R R 8 (¢) The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
R A A 35 0 HE 2 B information of the Group’s joint ventures that are not
HR individually material:
R e
2024 2023
N AR HT T
RMB’000 RMB’000

ERNSAEEESFEEL KX Share of the joint ventures’ profits and

4 18] W A AR A losses and total comprehensive income
for the year (33,619) (98,755)
AEEREBEREREN Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
i TAT (B 4 %H investments in the joint ventures 1,474,201 1,378,896
ApNrEERL HRRE The directors of the Company are of the opinion that no
AR SR B AR 4 R A B provision for impairment was necessary as at 31 December
W [m] > o = % AR - 2024 as the investments in joint ventures were considered fully
H =+ — B 5 5 2 (3 recoverable (2023: Nil). The joint ventures have been accounted
(B ) - fEh for using the equity method in these financial statements.
2O HE A 5 R A% SF B R
AN -
17. Bk 2 v B 1 & 17. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
2024 2023
A R¥T AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
O A R Share of net assets 6,359,924 6,346,465
JRE ST B JE ASF Wk A s R R TE Y BE S The amounts due from and to associates are disclosed in note 38 to
R B FE 38 B o the financial statements.
—BNEFEFR
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31 December 2024

17. Wi 8 2 B R BEE ) 17. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
@ AEHEEH=EAAFEE (a)  Particulars of the Group’s material associates are as follows:
mr
A 52 1 B Al
AT I
HEHEAR Percentage of
Paid-in capital ownership interest 3 221§ B}
VAR ERUEE P& AR BFIC attributable to the Principal
Name of company Place and year of registration RMB’000 Group activities
1E % (f8 1) 1% & 8% Hh 18 A 1,800,000 40% )3 B %
AR —EoE
Zhengmao (Fuzhou) Investment ~ Fuzhou, PRC Property
Development Co., Ltd. 2020 development
B SR B AR AR AR 2,660,000 25% WG %
SR
Xiamen Lianrongyue Properties ~ Xiamen, PRC Property
Co., Ltd. 2021 development
by EXGEMN) HEFRARA (b) “Zhengmao (Fuzhou) Investment Development Co., Ltd., which

A (R E % I+
= b B AR SR
CES SN ¥ N
EoFoSEF A=t
F1 L 4 1l 5 k) B 8
S 2 W 5 L 3 )
38 ) 8 i AT

I M W 2 0 B E A PR A A (K
FEZERE = A= —
H 1k 47 B w40 2 7 42 B ) &
BEHEAF HRBEEZE
“WEF A=+ —HIEF
BE R EE oK) B ) A Y B
m R A B A HE A
RO R 25 8 AR o HHH B A
A fEE Y B IEE -
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was considered a material associate of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 but was not material for the year
ended 31 December 2023, operates property development
projects with strategic partners in Mainland China and is
accounted for using the equity method.

Xiamen Lianrongyue Properties Co., Ltd., which was
considered a material associate of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 but was not material for the year ended 31
December 2024, was an investment holding company with
strategic partners in Mainland China and is accounted for using
the equity method. Its subsidiary is engaged in property

development projects.
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31 December 2024

17. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information in respect of Zhengmao (Fuzhou) Investment
Development Co., Ltd. adjusted for any differences in

accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in

A 114 M T R the consolidated financial statements:
ZETNE
+oAZt—H
31 December
2024
VN
RMB’000
B4 e B4 5 18 Cash and cash equivalents 68,928
Ho A v B Other current assets 2,640,539
B A Current assets 2,709,467
EMAR NEEE S K Financial liabilities, excluding trade and
At 8 AT 3 IH other payables (187,152)
HAth 37 B £ AR Other current liabilities (51,328)
i By AR Current liabilities (238,480)
I i B H A Non-current liabilities (346,200)
FEE Net assets 2,124,787
B B2 (3] A W W) Y Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the
HE 1 AR associate:
A B2 H T Ak A HE EL 1) Proportion of the Group’s ownership 40%
7% A5 [ A B N WD Group’s share of net assets of the associate 849,915
& 1 R 1 E Carrying amount of the investment 849,915
IR %5 Revenue 2,403,175
B Expenses (1,912,862)
BLIH Tax (122,578)
AF TN i A R 4 T A 4 4 AR Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year 367,735
— B UFEFER
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31 December 2024

17. JRBEE 2~ AR BE @) 17. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
b) (#) (b)  (Continued)
RN R A B R B AN The following table illustrates the summarised financial
kAR~ E BB E R information in respect of Xiamen Lianrongyue Properties Co.,
o B AT & mhER 2 R Ltd. adjusted for any differences in accounting policies and
E 4 B NI BLAR & S R R reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
T 1) R T {3 AR statements:
e S
+=-HA=+—H
31 December
2023
AR ¥ T
RMB’000
B B B 5 8 Cash and cash equivalents 63
At 3 ) Other current assets 2,712,812
B A Current assets 2,712,875
I U ) Non-current assets 10,000
oA B B AE Other current liabilities (63,245)
i B A R Current liabilities (63,245)
T EE Net assets 2,659,630
BHLAS £ [T W WD RO RE 4 IR Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the
associate:
A 4 [ T A e A HE LE 491 Proportion of the Group’s ownership 25%
7 B [ A e O ) TR O Group’s share of net assets of the associate 664,908
#E BA B 7 38 B W R 5 B AR A Adjustment for unrealised profits and losses
TE o1 B from related party transactions -
& 1 R 1 E Carrying amount of the investment 664,908
it Revenue -
B =< Expenses =
i I Tax —
AF TN i A R 4 T A 4 4 AR Profit and total comprehensive income

for the year -

EFRMEREEBRAT
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31 December 2024

17. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(¢) The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
information of the Group’s associates that are not individually

material:

SEomE o=
2024 2023
ANR# T ANRW¥ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
iRl k- R/NEIE S E Share of the associates’ profits and losses
A TH) R 45 AL AR and total comprehensive income (30,627) (149,697)
AL B T s w RE Y Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
e T (B 4 %E investments in the associates 5,510,009 5,681,557

NN 2 G A
/NIRRT A g
1o 1 =~ L1 [ =y el
H =+ — H 7 55 w8 (H #
5 (T =R ) o B A
A B 4% RE 2 5% 5F B TS i
FAME -

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that no
provision for impairment was necessary as at 31 December
2024 as the investments in associates were considered fully
recoverable (2023: Nil). The associates have been accounted for

using the equity method in these financial statements.

— B UFEFER
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31 December 2024

18. ¥E 4 B IH 18. DEFERRED TAX
R ST i TH R KX B R AR A Y s The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year
Bar are as follows:
8 %L B JH & e Deferred tax assets

RZZZ=F+-HA=1—H At 31 December 2023 6,080 6,159 912 115,022 487,922 134,698 4,484 755,277
FERIRABRGERGELHE  Deferred tax charged to
(M5 10) the statement of profit or loss
during the year (note 10) (4477 (510) (145) (99,643) (487,922) (23,916) (4,484) (621,097)
MEZFZNEFZH=F—H A3l December 2024 1,603 5,649 767 15,379 - 110,782 - 134,180
% %t B IH £ 1K Deferred tax liabilities

REFZZEFZA=t-H At 31 December 2023 47,030 49522 44,730 3,615 544,897
AR AR R IR LA Deferred tax credited to the statement of
(W5 10) profit or loss during the year (note 10) (143,300) (2,018) (2,309) (3,004) (150,631)
REFZNEFZH=+—H Gross deferred tax liabilities
MEEREA AR at 31 December 2024 303,730 47,504 2421 611 394,266
R EREER AT
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31 December 2024

> )
18. %E % B H (a) 18. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)
1% AT B TH G E K AR AR A s The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year
BT () are as follows: (Continued)
R 4t B IH B Deferred tax assets
SES=F
2023
A R 4
RAEARE R IE e REB B L SEEE
HEAR WAMER  REMN  BERE Bl BB WEER Mgt
Losses
available
for offsetting Unrealised Impairment
against future  Payroll and Accrued revenue losses on
Lease taxable welfare  construction received Accrued financial
liabilities profits accrual cost  inadvance LAT assets Total
AREFL ARETL ARBTLE ARETL ARBTE ARETL ARETL ARETL
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
RZZEZZHEFZAZ+—H  Ac31 December 2022 10,531 15,179 933 105970 932664 135,774 4484 1,205,535
FERF }\/ (MR E)BEEME  Deferred tax credited/(charged) to
FEBLIA (M 3t 10) the statement of profit or loss
during the year (note 10) (4,451) (9,020) (21) 9,052 (444,742) (1,076) (450,258)
MEFZZHFZA=4—H  Gross deferred tax liabilities at
MR & A 31 December 2023 6,080 6,159 o2 115022 487922 134,698 4484 755217
R %t B IH £ 1K Deferred tax liabilities
“ECZE
2023
EN
RENEREL Lt ERafEs
WATEREE  WATHEAYE  HATHEFEE HREERE 5
Fair value Fair value Fair value
adjustment adjustment adjustment
arising from arising from arising from
investment property, plant business Right-of-use
properties and equipment combination assets Total
AREFI AREF I AREFL AR¥TF T ARBT T
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
REZFZ A+ =10 At 31 December 2022 608,135 52,607 61,557 8,194 730,493
ERFT ARG FZEEHIA (H5E10)  Deferred tax credited to the statement of
profit or loss during the year (note 10) (161,105) (3,085) (16,827) (4579) (185,596)
REFZ=ZF+ZA=+—H Gross deferred tax liabilities
MEER AR RAH at 31 December 2023 447,030 49,52 44,730 3,615 544,897
_FFR
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18. #E %L Fi JB ()

;2B E A TR B IE E E R
BB R AR A BB IR DL SR
LA"FP%TJEEH%‘EﬁﬁiE i /Y 1% 4E Bt

18. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial

TH &5 % 40 #r - reporting purposes:
2024 2023
AR Fx AR¥T o
RMB’000 RMB’000
T FR A BE5 R L 2R A e R R Net deferred tax assets recognised in the
I SiE B JECE 7 R (E consolidated statement of financial position 19,201 578,263
A & 5 R UL 3R A R Y Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
% SiE B IH B T E consolidated statement of financial position (279,287) (367,883)
R 5t Total (260,086) 210,380

A H A R B OK e EE A 1 B TE S
B 5 N K %16,450,668,000 7C ( — &
= AR %99,775,768,0007G)
e — % IR R R LK B R 2k
JRE SR B 5 ] o NI aZ S s 4R R AR
R GE Bl TH G > N HE AR B
B BRHEKHE AR BB A A
K n] BE A ME BR B i R K & Bl IE
B AEETHIBEREEFH S AR
5 23,171,960,000 7C ( — & = = 4F:
A R %20,587,946,0007G) °

MR8 b 2 R 3 A 3 £ 2 B 45 B
ey e L TN ) YA O N 5 <
4 2 1) 3 S HO& E F IR 1B A%
B0 FEIBL - i E R &
T \AE— H — H AR 8 R
“EEELE+ A=+ -HEE
A 10 R o i R I A i BEL % A AR
T ) R A T BT A
A BRI T 0 B R o A 4R ] A
F B R B 10% o H UL > 7 48 4 78 5l
5% 25 AE B A bR T R B A ED
HoZFEZNFE—H—-HEELMW
B3R BT 43 IR A 8 S A TE DB o

EFRMEREEBRAT
W983%mummm%Gmemmd

The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB16,450,668,000 (2023: RMB9,775,768,000) that will expire
in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses
as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for
some time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will
be available against which the tax losses can be utilised. The Group
has deductible temporary differences of RMB23,171,960,000 (2023:
RMB20,587,946,000).

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the
jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable
rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on
dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland

China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.
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19.

W& 2 B I ()

W oEWEFH =+ —H
I 5t A £ A A B A b ST ) R
J& N ) 28 Ak TE F0 B ok BE &
I HE AT 19 FE $00 B RE R AT AT 28 AE B
He ANFIEHBLE  REBEME
& K B A0 R AR A Y A8 A
B A AR B o R S I JE 4N A AT
T LR AN AT HE 40 R A BH 2L A o B
A SIf7 4 e 58 AR 4 Bl TE A fE 1 B
AT H B B 2N A 45 AR B AG T Ry
EHBMHEAELENYHF(ZF - =
M E) o

A W B JE s 18 U9 4% AT REE AR I R

2 R B R B R B A B BB
] it T e e A0 AE ot T
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18. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings
that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in Mainland China. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the Group’s fund will be retained in Mainland China for
the expansion of the Group’s operation, so it is not probable that
these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled

approximately nil (2023: nil).

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to the
extent that the realisation of the related tax benefits through future
taxable profits is probable.

19. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

2024 2023

AR# T AR WET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

W —H— H i R E (E Carrying amount at 1 January 64,430,208 113,364,362

nE Additions 2,432,567 11,921,383
HEERRELEC R TYE Transferred to completed properties held for

(B 5% 20)

sale (note 20)

(33,690,205) (63,863,847)

. e 52 (B e 4R (B s - 6) Impairment losses recognised (notes 5, 6) (1,811,642) (4,257,253)
EEERELECR TYER  Impairment losses transferred to completed

T s 4R (B 5k 20) properties held for sale (note 20) 2,012,437 7,265,563
At H=+—H iR E Carrying amount at 31 December 33,373,365 64,430,208

A% 42 [ B4 B g b ) €O A P B N
WA E ko

AZEUEFT A =+ —H A&
£ E A IR ®mMEHN ANR K
19,887,661,000 G ( = F = = 4 : A
K 33,019,538,000 7T ) 11 BH 4 1 4
ECE I A S EE B0 EEE R
AT B At A 3K HE A7 (B 5% 27) ©

The Group’s properties under development are situated on leasehold
lands in Mainland China.

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s properties under development
with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
RMB19,887,661,000 (2023: RMB33,019,538,000) were pledged to
secure interest-bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the
Group (note 27).
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19. BH 8 h W3 ()

19. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT (Continued)

BH 3% Hh 4 S 1 Bl (B JBE M A B A T

The movements in provision for impairment of properties under

development are as follows:

e Ju L 2 —E =
2024 2023
AR T AR #TF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
»—H — B R (E Carrying amount at 1 January 4,980,488 7,988,798
. ffE 52 (B s 4R (B s~ 6) Impairment losses recognised (notes 5, 6) 1,811,642 4,257,253

RS EREL R TY¥EN  Impairment losses transferred to completed
W (H G 18 (B 5E 20) properties held for sale (note 20) (2,012,437) (7,265,563)

WA=t — MR A Carrying amount at 31 December 4,779,693 4,980,488

BH 3% T ) 3 10 AR R 45 B R
AT Ak o i B T (D A AT A B O
{6 RUAFAE B - T 2 B (E T i
A 45 S i OR 25 BLAT UL
Je 354 {8 M R T AT 8 g 1 B SC
Fe i 58 J ey 2 TEU 39 BAR o S o i B
B W SRR WE R R
BH B b ) 2 (9 R R AR G
LB BH B ) € 0 AT 8 BT (B
3t JEL MR T A (L > B A R L R Y B
P Y SE R E B & BN T L
[m] > o [a] Y S B RE A B IR AR

EFRMEREEBRAT
200 Zzhenro Properties Group Limited

The value of properties under development (“PUD”) is assessed at
the end of each reporting period. An impairment exists when the
carrying value exceeds its net realisable value. The net realisable value
is determined by the Group with reference to the prevailing market
conditions and existing prices, less applicable variable selling
expenses and anticipated costs at completion, at the end of the
reporting period. After making the provision for impairment of
PUD, in case the factors causing impairment of PUD no longer exist,
and the net realisable value exceeds the carrying amount, the original
provision for impairment shall be released to the profit or loss for the

current period.
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20. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

e <y L' = e
2024 2023
AR¥Fx AR EFoc
RMB’000 RMB’000
w—H—H M RmEE Carrying amount at 1 January 29,801,224 9,904,155
P B B 2E (5T 19) Transferred from properties under
development (note 19) 33,690,205 63,863,847
T3¢ 28 g 4 R A (ko) Transferred to cost of sales (note 6) (31,452,175) (36,582,585)
B R EM M EREHE  Impairment losses transferred from properties
(Fff 5E19) under development (note 19) (2,012,437) (7,265,563)
e 52 (B e 4R (B s - 6) Impairment losses recognised (notes 5, 6) (516,474) (118,630)
R Jag 2N ) i B (B EE35) Liquidation of subsidiaries (note 35) (26,956)
At —A=+—HrRmHE Carrying amount at 31 December 29,483,387 29,801,224

4:{4@@*‘ A=+—H %
£ AR W ME A ANR ¥
2250030600075( FEZF N
K #11,260,898,000 70 ) HY 5 1F i &

R T EH > BAEE R Group (note 27).
) T SR AT S A A 3k 4R 4 (B

5E27) o

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s completed properties held for
sale with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
RMB22,500,306,000 (2023: RMB11,260,898,000) were pledged to

secure interest-bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the

_FFR
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20. FFEHMEBECHE TME®w

FrfE & B R LW 30 b (588

. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

(Continued)

The movements in provision for impairment of completed properties

BEEUT - held for sale are as follows:
e~y L' - e
2024 2023
AR ¥% Tz ANRW¥ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
™ — A — B B AR TE (E Carrying amount at 1 January 6,011,235 1,646,272
9 (H e 15 B Impairment losses written off (2,974,968) (3,019,230)
B B EE R ) 2E 0 (B R Impairment losses transferred from properties
(B 5E19) under development (note 19) 2,012,437 7,265,563
. e 52 W (B R 4R (B TS - 6) Impairment losses recognised (notes 5, 6) 516,474 118,630
Wi Jagg > ) 3 Liquidation of subsidiaries (14,788) -
W+ —HA=+—HrRmHE Carrying amount at 31 December 5,550,390 6,011,235

Fr A AR Bk T W) € 00 13 (B %
e ORGP A o i B T (L A KL AT
5 LT (E > I AFAE W E - W] B2 BL TR
{EL 75 AR 98 B AT i ME BE 8 6 B
323l 2 7% A R IR E o LR AR
B % TS nt 18 B EH 12 > W
BRELECRIYEBRMBENR
ROEHEA BHHFELRECLRT
W) 3 1 AT A BT (E R A R T E
B> MEFEFRNFFELECR
T 3 el R 45 A < A T DA ]
L [e] Y < R AE A CE R A -

PEEh R EEC R TY
36 B T A B E B E W L Y
AR H ~ AR B B DA S 58 % S
) 3 G5 85 I 75 1 AR o B B P ) 2
B R AR & B R T4 30 B 55 it
5 H O R T A B R R AR
A o A5 B HE Z 1SN
il B B 36 2 T 4 S AT B SLAG (H -
HH B P AN (] TR D7 B A
S Bt B4 S M E T 5 I LA i > L
175 R {5 B8 5 D R B O - mT BB
% SF TG B A L B o

EFRMEREEBRAT
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The value of completed properties held for sale (“PHS”) is assessed at
the end of each reporting period. An impairment exists when the
carrying value exceeds its net realisable value. The net realisable value
is determined by reference to the selling price based on the prevailing
market price less applicable selling expenses. After making the
provision for impairment of PHS, in case the factors causing
impairment of PHS no longer exist, and the net realisable value
exceeds the carrying amount, the original provision for impairment

shall be released to the profit or loss for the current period.

The determination of the net realizable value of PUD and PHS
involves expected future selling prices, the relevant taxes, and costs
necessary to complete the sale of these properties. The calculation of
the net realisable value for PUD and PHS at the financial reporting
date is performed by the Group’s management. The Group’s
management engaged an external valuer to perform independent
valuations for certain properties. Recent property market cooling
measures imposed by the local governments in different cities in
Mainland China, which include policies of limiting prices and home
purchase restrictions, could lead to volatility in property prices in

these cities.
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES

ZE YL B A

2024 2023

AR Fx AR¥F o

RMB’000 RMB’000

B 5 M WO IR Trade receivables 262,670 574,284

5 I WK JH E 2R R L S A
& B EY - B R Y K%
afl) i 5 o A% 4R ] 55 5K 3 H R i (] e
WA I A R R A T o PR
J1 7 BE 26 0 A5 B o BE Y DA B P Al
ALEENE 5 YK EY XL T
L% 5 ) 8 3l 48 B K {5 L B
LRI - AEEEHEDENE S
JRE Wi TR T B R B A A 3 R
R E P A BROH o A 42 [ S 4 H
B by M WO JE A B A AT AT 4 4
i B A5 3R T T H o 5 5 i
HIEF AR

B 5y E WO IE f SR R R -
B 5 WK JH B9 B T (B 5RO A o
EAR AT o A2 i il R R 3% 52 H
B0 ) M SRR SEL AR B 2 AT AN T

Trade receivables mainly represent rentals receivable from tenants,
sales of properties, sales of goods and sales of consultation service.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by management.
In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade
receivables relate to diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. Included in the Group’s trade receivables
of sales of properties are mainly due from state-owned enterprises and
government departments. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade

receivables are non-interest-bearing.

Trade receivables are unsecured and non-interest-bearing. The
carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate to their fair values.
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the

reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

— B P —E =
2024 2023
AR ¥ Tt ANR¥TFor
RMB’000 RMB’000
— R Less than 1 year 104,306 152,986
—4EP, bk Over 1 year 158,364 421,298
BTt Total 262,670 574,284

B MFFR
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21. ¥ 5 W Wk JH ) 21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)
WE oA 4 9 T8 oA IR Y E i Kk TE Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to
B A 4 75 1 2 K BN FR P 2 diversified customers including state-owned enterprises and
TALEF > %% %P W iE K50 government departments, for whom there was no recent history of
SR E K = e default and high collectability.
7 B2 ) AR % 1B R B S R O R RN B 9 The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for ECLs
98 KL E R 5 5 S RS B prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected
M R Rt AR A - X R R AR AT A ” loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the ECLs, trade
S JE W AR TE BRI A U R R receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk
W EBME - At HEENGERE characteristics and the days past due. The expected loss rate of trade
o B 5 ME Ik EH B AR BRI %F receivables is assessed to be 0.7% (2023: 0.4%). Based on evaluation
JE 55 e e B H o e B 5 on the expected loss rate and gross carrying amount, the directors of
e 3 TE B T 9 s 18 % R AG 45 0.7% the Company are of the opinion that the ECL in respect of these
(CF =4 1 04%) - BEHEEMN balances is considered to be immaterial, and therefore, there has not
T 18 2R T e T BB R R AL > A A been a loss allowance provision.
HEERLS ARZESBRNEBGE
B s AR 0 R R B i
e A A AT M 4R T A
22. FEAF K ~ il s 22. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
JH B 3 fih % OTHER ASSETS
e~y 11! - —E =
2024 2023
AR¥Fx AR #¥TFx
RMB’000 RMB’000
i & Deposits 969,801 1,302,947
At T i[9 Bt IH Other tax recoverable 1,465,214 2,603,006
JRE Wi B g A F] IF 2 B B X H Due from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries 14,244,906 14,683,930
B KA Contract cost assets 886,506 1,441,693
A7 A7 BURS AR BB RERRF Proceeds from pre-sales of properties
1 T W 2 B A5 KR deposited in accounts of local governments
and related agencies 907,436 1,818,423
H 5 R A T A SROH Prepayments for construction cost 8,390 25,412
HC A BB AT K T Other receivables 816,747 859,332
19,299,000 22,734,743
G RIERER ] Impairment allowance (709,304) (269,600)
B Total 18,589,696 22,465,143
IERINEREBRAT

204 Zhenro Properties Group Limited
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PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS (Continued)

The movements in provision for impairment of other receivables and

deposits are as follows:

-y 11| —E =

2024 2023

A B ¥ Tt AR# T

RMB’000 RMB’000

™ — A — B B AR TE (E Carrying amount at 1 January 269,600 75,732

e R i (E s 18 (B 5 6) Impairment losses recognised (note 6) 439,704 304,703
& b g A A Disposal of subsidiaries — (110,835)

WA=+ — H R (A Carrying amount at 31 December 709,304 269,600

TEAH R~ At B ik T L A
FE J SR AT - AR EH S HL A [ R 2 K
HIRR -

7 4 [ 2 A B 4R R X O
il B AT 3K TE K AT 3k (ZE AR 8 B % B
5 A Y JU 265 o 5% 3B (L 1Y B )
AT ICME FEAS o TE M5 £ 18 & 3R
K HcE B BT DA R B B R B
BV MR Aok 2 B H) o it =&
WE+—A=1+—H  #EEE
B A N R %709,304,00070 (= F —
=&+ _A=+—H: AR#¥
269,600,000 JG) ©

Prepayments, other receivables and other assets are unsecured, non-

interest-bearing and have no fixed terms of repayment.

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on
other receivables and deposits, which are subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition. As at 31 December 2024, the ECLs were
RMB709,304,000 (31 December 2023: RMB269,600,000).

Bl B Bl % ¥~ %  23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, RESTRICTED
B ) B < K 4K 40 A7 K CASH AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS
e e 9 Y S
2024 2023
AR¥Fix AR ¥TFor
RMB’000 RMB000
W4 O ARAT & R Cash and bank balances 3,184,682 5,035,609
W 32 BR i B & Less: Restricted cash 1,905,468 3,187,254
E & 77 3K Pledged deposits 63,920 131,395
Bla KBl &5 EY Cash and cash equivalents 1,215,294 1,716,960
_B_MFEFR
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2. B kB eFHEY - 2
P i B 4 B © K 39 77 K
(#)

WREABPEER > AEHERNET
5 M EE B BN R ZE A T H & K
HAF BN ERATIEF (52 H
e M ZF _MWE+ZH =1+ —
Ho> sz a0 Z R4 5 AR
724,669,000 70 (& = 4F 1 AR
2,938,623,000 76 ) ° Jix & TP 4F A
ZH=E+1—H > 2R R R
MHANRERESMEE LS AR
#1,180,799,000 70 ( & — =4+ A
R ¥ 248,631,00070) °

A B PEFH=+—H &
N R %63,920,00000 (& . =
0 N R 131,395,000 70) 1 $R 1T A7
RO A SE ) s = R
VER B G ek - THH #ak - 4
A7 Bl HE R > SO T SR AT

By BEAT SR AT AR 0 S PR HE S

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, RESTRICTED

CASH AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS (Continued)

Pursuant to relevant regulations in the PRC, certain property
development companies of the Group are required to place certain
amounts of cash in the designated bank accounts for a specified use.
As at 31 December 2024, the restricted cash for this part amounted
to RMB724,669,000 (2023: RMB2,938,623,000). As at 31
December 2024, the restricted cash included an amount of
RMB1,180,799,000, which was seized by the People’s Court due to
lawsuits (2023: RMB248,631,000).

As at 31 December 2024, bank deposits of RMB63,920,000 (2023:
RMB131,395,000) were pledged for the Group and third parties as
security for purchasers’ mortgage loans, construction of projects,
bank facilities, or pledged to banks as collateral for issuance of bank

acceptance notes.

— YA —E =
2024 2023
AR T AR ¥For
RMB’000 RMB’000
Bl& kB eSS EY Cash and cash equivalents
PN R¥SHE Denominated in RMB 1,204,136 1,705,939
PLEILEHE Denominated in US$ 6,647 8,765
DA JoRHE Denominated in HK$ 4,511 2,256
st Total 1,215,294 1,716,960
PN R EEFHE Y Z R % B4 ) Restricted cash and pledged deposits
£ 44 A7 3K denominated in RMB 1,969,388 3,318,649

ANRHEAT A b i &R
ELAR 45 o B A 3 B O I A8 BB A0k £51)
Be K4 NE ~ 85 BEE B A°) MR R BEAR SE )
A 45 [ W] A R A ME O 4T AP BE 26
B SR AT M N RO S R 5 H
B o

EFRMEREEBRAT
2006 Zhenro Properties Group Limited

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign

exchange business.
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PR 1 B 4 K © 4K 1 A7 AR
(4)
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e T B RSB o GRAT 5 B 7 O
U J0 3 24 £ SR AT o
B4 4 % 0 W T
AT -

RoZoPEF A=+ —H A&
42 [ OF B 7 IR B4~ B KA AT K
N B4 e B4 S AE W AT N R MR
B RE A o A5 4E B REAE 2 R B
& DIRIIE R R B 4 M B A A
W 2 A5 MR B E ) 4E E ER DL IR
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, RESTRICTED
CASH AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS (Continued)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default. The carrying amounts of the

cash and cash equivalents approximate to their fair values.

As at 31 December 2024, the internal credit rating of restricted cash,
pledged deposits and cash and cash equivalents was performing. The
Group has assessed that the credit risk of the restricted cash, pledged
deposits and cash and cash equivalents has not increased significantly
since initial recognition and measured the impairment based on
12-month ECLs, and has assessed that the ECLs are immaterial.

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade and bills payables as at the

end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

R _PULE E =

2024 2023

AR¥Fii AR ¥Tor

RMB’000 RMB’000

— 4R Within 1 year 15,194,182 16,507,435
—4EDL b Over 1 year 1,155,507 1,226,587
Mt Total 16,349,689 17,734,022

B by WE AT S By MR > — S
TR HEBE A5 o A R AR
HA=+—H > & a kg F T
W) %1 N R H51,144,767,000 06 (=& —
=4 NR¥1,225,210,0007C) 7 2
7R, 25 8 3 R A

The trade payables are unsecured and are normally settled based on

the progress of construction. As at 31 December 2024, commercial
acceptance bills of approximately RMB1,144,767,000 (2023:
RMB1,225,210,000) issued by the Company’s subsidiaries were

overdue and unpaid.
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25. g% JE £ 2K B S HE Gt 25. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

~

e~y L' = e
2024 2023
ANR¥ T YN
RMB’000 RMB’000

i JEG 2 D I 48 e R Advances from non-controlling shareholders

BB =5 B of subsidiaries and third parties 4,378,420 4,686,623
M B R A Retention deposits related to construction 1,086,953 1,428,020
JREAS L % AR A Payroll and welfare payable 67,895 92,592
Yy 3 55 6 HH B 4% & Deposits related to sales of properties 69,516 79,868
B BT M Business tax and surcharges 623,332 488,838
HE1E 4 Maintenance fund 171,716 233,681
B IR SR TS 2 E (K EE)  Proceeds from asset-backed securities (note) 2,525,416 2,355,149
JRE A+ 1) S, Interest payables 8,098,439 4,459,873
oAt Others 20,595 26,713
17,042,282 13,851,357
W R R Less: Current portion 15,737,159 13,522,987
IF B HA  45 Non-current portion 1,305,123 328,370

WOR R - A5 R A Eh o B TRy <5 A A i ST

Note: The balance represented proceeds received from a special purpose entity (“SPE”)

MRk E M EMTR%RHE MR
1) B0 BT SR RE S L
T A5 3K TE > T A 48 [ 51 8 B ) 2
kWA 12 T R IR - S M K
TE AR HE AT o AR 98 A 4R 1 K% Fr ik B
MEREN B ® AEEBEF
5 Wi BB B T A R TE IR > AN 4E
4 BEE H LA A IR A9 E B
BT T B & i o S % 0 4E
+oH=+—H  &E LfFESE
BT 15 3K T 2 BT A A N R B
1,220,293,000 7% ( =% — =4 AR
#52,026,779,0007C) > FE B4 A
A R %1,305,123,0000C (= & — =
40 NR#5328370,0007C) © #E
FoWE+FH=+—H A4
[ R me AR A =& 4R E A
WY RS R R A R K IE A
[ % 1,041,088,0007C > i T 1 il 72
HHEIE i E - F _E+H
=1 — H L4 A4 E AL T B
SRR 5 RN 1 7 AE A AE
AR H e KRR KTH AR
198,579,000 7C A E& 150,241,000 G
R N B #1,135,508,000 7C Y 45 48 £
SRIGER R —F O NERA L
HZZZXNE+—ANHEZ
EoLERAAZ+TH-

IERINEKEBRAT

ZQSJ%memmm%Gmede

set up by a financial institution in Mainland China for issuance of asset-backed
securities, to which the Group has collateralised certain future trade receivables
for the remaining receipts from sales of properties. Under an assignment
arrangement between the Group and the SPE, as and when the Group receives
the sales proceeds from customers, the Group would remit any cash flows it
collects on behalf of the SPE. As at 31 December 2024, the current portion of
the proceeds from asset-backed securities was RMB1,220,293,000 (2023:
RMB2,026,779,000) and the non-current portion was RMB1,305,123,000
(2023: RMB328,370,000). As of 31 December 2024, the Group failed to repay
the outstanding amount of RMB1,041,088,000 for the asset-backed securities
due in July 2024, which constituted an event of default. During the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group successfully negotiated with creditors of asset-
backed securities on the extension for repayments of principal and interest
thereon. Repayments of the outstanding amounts of RMB198,579,000,
RMB150,241,000 and RMB1,135,508,000 have been extended to 17
September 2026, 8 November 2026 and 20 May 2027, respectively.



26.

3 il 8 ) 3k IE K E 5t
? M a)

FE A HC Al A 3K IE o Y RE A A S
T8 7B BRAT R A AR SRR
B AR K EAE R LE
FE SR S W M B - R B
PSP %S 0 B

M A R #52,525,416,000 00 (& — =
0 N R %2355,149,00000) & E S
£ 78 5 &N R 437,467,000 0C ( —
T4 NR¥K460,313,00070) A
T FE 1 e K AN (% 56 B I 4%

NT6%nE13%(ZF _=F: %%
13%) 1) [ 2 AR R 2R EEE) 0 2R H Kt
J& N I 4 I AR At i A K
TA J ik N B A R A REE
JRE e SR 2 o L At TR ASH K IE A 45
oAt 1R B 4 O (B B A RE A AR
THI {E AH 2 o

R AR

25.

26.
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31 December 2024

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Continued)

The interest payables included in other payables represent the
overdue interest on interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
senior notes, corporate bonds, perpetual capital securities, and asset-
backed securities, the non-repayment of which constitutes an event of
default.

Except for the asset-backed securities and certain advances from non-
controlling shareholders amounting to RMB2,525,416,000 (2023:
RMB2,355,149,000) and RMB437,467,000 (2023:
RMB460,313,000), respectively, which bear interest at fixed interest
rates ranging from 6% to 13% per annum (2023: 6% to 13%), other
payables and the remaining advances from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and
repayable on demand. The fair values of other payables at the end of
each of the reporting periods approximated to their corresponding

carrying amounts.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

GRAMEFERWT Details of contract liabilities are as follows:
/g Sy L3 R E =4 W E =4
+ZA=+—H +=-H=+—H —H—H
31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
AR¥Fx AR ¥ T ANR#TFx
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
e b=V Contract liabilities 13,841,193 45,469,076 76,723,225

A 52 AR B2 W) 36 8 4 T 0 A
L PRI A 3K o A BOE H TR
FRBETZA R EERA

The Group receives payments from customers based on billing
schedules as established in the property sales. Payments are usually
received in advance of the performance under the contracts which are

mainly from sales.
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27. ®5F B o AT B H: il i 3% 27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS
ZEZ-WEFZAZF—H “ECEETHA=T1T—H
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
B B A R (%) AWM ARETL EBANR@%) AMA AR¥TT
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB000 rate (%) Maturity RMB000
Hi Current
RITE - A Bank loans secured 4.6-9 i Bk 216,303 4.6-9 20244/ 242,189
on demand e #ok
2024/
on demand
SRAT A - IR Bank loans unsecured 4.19-10 R 484,677 4.19-10 20244F / 478,877
on demand Bk
2024/
on demand
HAb B - A M Other loans secured 9.8-12 202548/ 2,620,851 9.8-12 20244E / 2,674,189
HER R
2025/ 2024/
on demand on demand
RHSATERME  Current portion of long 5-8.8 20258,/ 17,714,212 4-88 20244,/ 17,423,140
Wy — AR term bank loans HE R i Ek
secured 2025/ 2024/
on demand on demand
RMBATERME  Current portion of long 4.68-8.88 WER 1,368,090  4.68-8.88 HEK 1,345,892
13y — JEE A A term bank loans on demand on demand
unsecured
RMEAMEZME  Current portion of long 2.8-11 20254/ 4,391,716 2.8-11 20244/ 3,670,561
Wy — A A term other loans HER HE R
secured 2025/ 2024/
on demand on demand
At - B Total — current 26,795,849 25,834,848
JEHD Non-current
SRATEE A - A 4 Bank loans — secured 3.94-5.1  2026-2027 980,650 43-85  2025-2035 2,022,481
HAB R - A A Other loans — secured 2.8 2026 51,400 2.8-74  2025-2026 1,143,150
F e ] Total — non-current 1,032,050 3,165,631
Mt Total 27,827,899 29,000,479
R YA —E =
2024 2023
AR T AR ¥Tor
RMB’000 RMB’000
e DLR R R R Interest bearing at:
7E ) 2% Fixed rate 22,296,200 23,412,494
7 ) A % Floating rate 5,531,699 5,587,985
A Total 27,827,899 29,000,479

EFRMEREEBRAT
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27. it BERAT B HoAb f& 3k (4)  27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS (Continued)

it Sy 1113 &=
2024 2023
A R F i A R F ot
RMB’000 RMB’000
ki Analysed into:
R A 7 SRAT B K Bank loans repayable
JHN —4F N BR R Within one year or on demand 19,783,282 19,490,098
RE In the second year 285,650 1,451,081
AR = 25 AR (B R W AR) In the third to fifth years, inclusive 695,000 571,400
/Nt Subtotal 20,763,932 21,512,579
JRE A 7 L A K Other borrowings repayable:
JH N — 4F N B EE R Within one year or on demand 7,012,567 6,344,750
T EE A In the second year 51,400 1,045,150
RE=ZFERE (BEERME) In the third to fifth years, inclusive - 98,000
/NEE Subtotal 7,063,967 7,487,900
ik Total 27,827,899 29,000,479

ATE T UEFZH =+ —H &
£5 8] O fE 8 B A 00 T 0 7T B BR
7 K H ofh 5 %k B AN R ¥
18,148,651,0007C ( — & — = 4 : A
R %9 .459,284,000 70 ) > H 4 A E 4
H Ao | H o A B R AT A S E
HTMEA AREFRD > ERkzE
BB N mD B R A T AT B R AT RHE
il £5 2N B ¥52,699,155,000 70 (&
A NRH2,735,166,000 6)
HFEA bl 3 &5 K e

R 45 A 42 13 56 40 15 3K vk > AN SEH
B ANRES - B R R
I T B SR AT B HAth A 3K IE R AT
0] 2 %0 519 55 BOR B 15 R 20 45 B R AE
Boh E _WE+ H =+ —
H> REEMNE TELEE 5T
Y SRR S A TR AT K E
il 15 3k & —EN Al R AR A
AR 7,149,749,000 TC (-
F A N R ¥6,684,544,000 76 )
B SR AT B L Ath 15 R 2R e B OR AE
o E _EF WE+ _H=1—
H > bt 4 FIE T W85 R
T AR B2 T 47 A B TSR I 26 1) T B &
fRIET o

As at 31 December 2024, the Group failed to repay or breached the
covenants of certain interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
amounting to RMB18,148,651,000 (2023: RMB9,459,284,000),
which constituted an event of default. At the same date, there were
outstanding litigations commenced by banks in the PRC against
certain subsidiaries of the Group requesting such subsidiaries to
repay certain interest-bearing bank and other borrowings amounting
to RMB2,699,155,000 (2023: RMB2,735,166,000), which were
included in the above-mentioned defaulted borrowings.

Pursuant to agreements of some of the Group’s borrowings, any
default under the Group’s senior notes, corporate bonds, asset-backed
securities or interest-bearing bank and other borrowings will trigger
the relevant borrowings becoming repayable on demand. As at 31
December 2024, the Group was in default of certain senior notes,
certain asset-backed securities, certain interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings and a corporate bond, causing interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings of a total amount of RMB7,149,749,000
(2023: RMB6,684,544,000) having become repayable on demand.
The above-mentioned borrowings that under events of default are
presented under current liabilities in the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024.

B FFRK
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31 December 2024

27. wh B8R A7 B 3 At & 3% ()

A5 B A T BRAT BCH A £ 3K
B AR A i 399 R M T AR
i 7 AR R AT

27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS (Continued)

Certain of the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
are secured by the pledges of the following assets with carrying values
at the end of the reporting period as follows:

R YL —E =
+=H=+—H +-A=+—H
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
AR T AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
B W) 2 (i sk 14) Investment properties (note 14) 5,826,019 6,277,319
i I REE 2 (Bifsk1s) Right-of-use assets (note 15) 156,932 165,775
B 5% R 4 2 (5T 19) Properties under development (note 19) 19,887,661 33,019,538
W RE KA (M E13) Property, plant and equipment (note 13) 209,845 192,906
FrfE BB TY 2 (Kt ik 20) Completed properties held for sale (note 20) 22,500,306 11,260,898

RoEZNFEFH=+—H &
£ B E 0 A BN K 387,818,000
< F =4 NR¥K415,499,000

) A B E B ER KK
ﬁ%?k CAE BB BB AR
13245100075( T AR
132,154,000 7C ) B 51 & 8 41 K& H Ath
i 3B FE I o

BREZFZWNEFZH=+—H &
%@Iﬁ]‘%“ﬂ#?ﬁﬂ&ﬁiﬁﬂ?fﬂi

£ H & T AT N
2,540,367,000 TG (47?\:E¢ AR
¥ 2,460,750,000 7 ) 1F Hi & 4R -

ATEUEFH = —H > A4
B3I SR AT B A = E AR (
T A AR ¥216,000,0009C) ©

AN A LR AT AG - FERRAT R
At A5 BKAY 22 oF (B S H R T (E A
Ao MEAR KRR BE b i R % 45 5 3K

R BUAT I 8 M R A 4R )
T 375 = 75 < Pl B A TR AR

EFRMEREEBRAT
2172 Zhenro Properties Group Limited

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has pledged future proceeds in
respect of properties sold amounting to RMB387,818,000 (2023:
RMB415,499,000) as collateral to secure interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings amounting to RMB132,431,000 (2023:
RMB132,154,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the non-controlling shareholders of the
Group’s subsidiaries have guaranteed certain of the Group’s bank
loans amounting to RMB2,540,367,000 (2023: RMB2,460,750,000).

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Group’s bank loans was
guaranteed by a third party (2023: RMB216,000,000).

The management of the Company has assessed that the fair values of
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the fact that such borrowings were
made between the Group and independent third party financial

institutions based on prevailing market interest rates.
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28. B ERE 28. SENIOR NOTES

ZEINEFZAZE—H CECEETIAET A
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Ji B WA & JREWAS
Principal Principal
atoriginal  HAIAIE acoriginal & H1F|%
currency  Contractual currency  Contractual
T interest  SIMH  AR¥TL T inerest  HMIH  ARMTIL
000 rate (%)  Maturity RMB000 000 rate (%) Maturity RMB000
CECTEBIMZ BRFAEI  Senior notes due 2022 T1T 2,777 2,771E T
((ZZF=HEEEm) (42022 Notes III") US$22,777 8.70% 2022 164,267 US$22,777 8.70% 2022 161,853
R BRI Senior notes due 2023 1T 300,000 JG 300,000% TG
( SR CAEERL) (2023 Notes II") US$$300,000 9.15% 2023 2,189,939 US$300,000 9.15% 2023 2,158,229
CECNERMZ BEEHT Senior notes due 20241 290,000 & 290,000 7T
(( ZZIEEREL) (2024 Notes I”) US$$290,000 7.88% 2024 2,116,150 U8$290,000 7.88% 2024 2,085,497
CECNERIM 2 BEEET Senior notes due 202411 200,000 76 200,000% G
(ZZ 2% (2024 Notes I’) 15$200,000 8.35% 2024 1,472,184 US$200,000 835% 2024 1,451,044
TSR M7 BRI Senior notes due 2023 11T 200,000 76 200,000 7
( QZ::ET%HIJ (2023 Notes I1I”) US$5200,000 8.30% 2023 1473,114 08$200,000 8.30% 2023 1,451,974
CECREHMZBERZHET  Senior notes due 2025 1 349,000 76 349,000 7¢
(( FHERRE) (2025 Notes I”) US$$349,000 7.35% 2025 2,561,259 US$349,000 7.35% 2025 2,516,671
CECANFEIM BREE Senior notes due 2026 T 393,000 76 393,000 % ¢
(ZZZA%EER1) (2026 Notes I”) US$$393,000 6.63% 2026 2,882,153 U8$393,000 6.63% 2026 2,833,992
~F #/\MI M2 BRI Senior notes due 202611 291,000 76 291,000 % G
(== AEZH]) (2026 Notes II”) US$$291,000 6.70% 2026 2,140,438 U8$291,000 6.70% 2026 2,104,976
iziiﬁﬂgﬁZ@%%ﬁ%ﬁW Senior notes due 2022 IV 2336178 23361F T
(( ECCHERY) (2022 Notes IV?) US$23,361 5.98% 2022 156,312 US$23,361 5.98% 2022 154,015
R CEFIM 2 BE RS Senior notes due 2024 IIT 340,000 & 340,000 % G
(ZZ 94 Egm)) (2024 Notes III”) US$$340,000 7.10% 2024 2421,690 US$340,000 7.10% 2024 2,385,752
CECCERMZEREEY  Senior notes due 2022 V AR WS 14178 AR ¥ 14170
([ZHZZFZERV]) (“2022 Notes V) RMBS, 141 7.13% 2022 8,897 RMBS, 141 7.13% 2022 8,897
SRR Z BEZEV  Senior notes due 2022 VI A R¥1,87978 AE¥18797C
({pte St 3573 )] (2022 Notes VI") RMBI,879 7.13% 2022 2,041 RMB1,879 7.13% 2022 2,041
CECTEIMZ BRFHEVI Senior notes due 2022 VIT 17,739% 76 17,739 %7t
((ZZ=FZEv) (“2022 Notes VII”) US$17,739 6.50% 2022 132,103 US$17,739 6.50% 2022 130,162
eIt New USD Notes 728,623% 70 728,623% 70
(ZZZ=FZ§v]) (2023 Notes IV”) US$728,623 8.00% 2023 5,175,412 US$728,623 8.00% 2023 5,098,395
HAREEE New RMB Notes A BB 1,589,9807¢ AR 8158998078
(ZZ-=ZFEHV)) (2023 Notes V) RMBI,589,980 8.00% 2023 1,618,715 RMB1,589,980 8.00% 2023 1618715
B 3 o A Total current portion 24,514,674 24,162,213
__UEFEFR
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—T-mE+=—A=+—H
31 December 2024

28. BEFE R @) 28. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)
R Y —ET =
+=A=+—H +-A=t—H
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
AR ¥ F oL AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AL EAR R B SE B W R ¢ The Group’s senior notes were repayable
as follows:
% 3K On demand 24,514,674 24,162,213
TR OEZRRIN 2022 Notes I1I

W oFE—FE+H=ZH > AN HE %
1T AR 4 48 % 15 300,000,000 32 J6 Y —
T AR TR ZEE M R A
87% » Wk —F = AEFIH o AR
7?@%1%?/(15\@3%293 962,000 3

JG (48 0 % £ 81 3 400 K {4 DA M H

ﬁﬁfa'ﬁ}:

A ZE - _HFNH=ZH

Z HIAE: AR BRF (] > A % ) W] 288 4% 4% TR

I 7 2 2 J (o] 4 0 JE) —

SEABIIT - M [m] (8 I R A B R S A

BEEZ-HF=A-+—H, &
45 @ E [9] B A 42 57,000,000 3 TG 1)

TR TEEREm e R E

At H ARFEBEER F
TR BRI A2 4 A T W]
SR (2B H B = H B %R AT 78
TEHEA) » A4 B 15 270,223,000 5

JCR) ZFE AR

A #4317 22

Wk & =RV O
TR BRI AR B M OREE AR S A
22,777,000 TG © A —F = T A4E )\ J]
=H > KRF KRBT T AEE

ZIK 422,777,000 3 JG #H
> R R A A o

EFRMEREEBRAT
214 Znenro Properties Group Limited

[e] I &t A

On 3 October 2019, the Company issued the 2022 Notes III at a
coupon rate of 8.7% due within 2022 with an aggregate principal
amount of US$300,000,000. The Company raised net proceeds of
US$293,962,000 (after deduction of underwriting discounts and
commissions and other expenses). At any time and from time to time
prior to 3 August 2022, the Company might redeem the 2022 Notes
III at a pre-determined redemption price. The details of the

redemption price are disclosed in the relevant offering memorandum.

By the end of 21 March 2022, the Group has repurchased the 2022
Notes III in a principal amount of US$7,000,000. On 29 March
2022, the Company completed the exchange offer and consent
solicitation for 2022 Notes III, which extended the maturity date
and waived any potential defaults, resulting in an aggregate principal
amount of US$270,223,000 of 2022 Notes III being cancelled and
exchanged to 2023 Notes IV, and the remaining outstanding
principal amount of the 2022 Notes III was US$22,777,000. On 3
August 2022, the Company failed to make the payment of the
remaining outstanding principal amount of US$22,777,000, together

with interest accrued thereon, which constituted an event of default.



28.

B EE W
TR EAEE R

MZFE—NFE+—HNH > RAA
BEAT A 4 HFH 15 300,000,000 3 TG 1)
CE AR R E AR
9.15% » M A F = AR F| M o AR
4N ) AT BT AR 3K IE 1 #0296,629,000
50 (K630 Bk 2 85 3 0 B AR 4 DA K
HMp L) o M _F =1 AN
H Z B AT A B [ > A= 2\ &) ] 258 45 9%
T 5 4 a2 M I M ) % =
A SR o W ] I R A B R
BN R - N S E =
Z LA > R E R RCR B R
FrA NIEH > DBl = = = 4F
SEPENA B AT AR o R
ETZFERANE S AN REE

i} £ K K 8 % A8 42300,000,000 3% JT
ME O SRS HRE R R A
L= R LA

CECMAERRI

MWZFEZRFE—H TMH > AN A
BEAT AR & HUEE 15 290,000,000 FE TG 1)
TR DY AR R B E AR B
7.88% » M A & D0 AE B o A
45 T AT T A3 3K TH 1 %0 286,288,000
26 70 (F8 0 B 6 85 B 40 B i 4 DL &
HMpsZ) - pZF ZW4EWm A |
VY H 2 Hif AT AT IRF ] AR 23 &) Bl 4% 7]
6 7 E Y I ) ) R AR
SEPRT o 0] R 0 SE I A A BE R
R FHE R T F=H
Z+JuH > R R ROk CEEE
FrA NIEH > DI B — o g 4F
EIA B AT VEEEL - R
T UM A H > AR AR AR
AT % R oK 2 1 AR 42 290,000,000
5 0[] HE A S, HRE AR A
R
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31 December 2024

28. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

2023 Notes 11

On 6 November 2019, the Company issued the 2023 Notes II at a
coupon rate of 9.15% due within 2023 with an aggregate principal
amount of US$300,000,000. The Company raised net proceeds of
US$296,629,000 (after deduction of underwriting discounts and
commissions and other expenses). At any time and from time to time
prior to 6 May 2023, the Company may redeem the 2023 Notes II at
a pre-determined redemption price. The details of the redemption
price are disclosed in the relevant offering memorandum. On 29
March 2022, the concurrent consent solicitation has been accepted by
the note holders to waive any potential defaults in respect of the
2023 Notes II. On 6 May 2023, the Company failed to make the
payment of the remaining outstanding principal amount of
US$300,000,000, together with interest accrued thereon, which
constituted an event of default.

2024 Notes 1

On 14 January 2020, the Company issued the 2024 Notes I at a
coupon rate of 7.88% due within 2024 with an aggregate principal
amount of US$290,000,000. The Company raised net proceeds of
US$286,288,000 (after deduction of underwriting discounts and
commissions and other expenses). At any time and from time to time
prior to 14 April 2024, the Company may redeem the 2024 Notes I
at a pre-determined redemption price. The details of the redemption
price are disclosed in the relevant offering memorandum. On 29
March 2022, the concurrent consent solicitation was accepted by the
note holders to waive any potential defaults in respect of the 2024
Notes I. On 14 April 2024, the Company failed to make the payment
of the remaining outstanding principal amount of US$290,000,000,
together with interest accrued thereon, which constituted an event of
default.

B FFRK
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28. BT @)

R CEEEN

MOEZEERHA A+ —H AR
) BE AT A 4 #UFE 15 200,000,000 3 T
B % U AR SRR - B R R A
8.35% » M A . % P AR | o AR
48 ] AT BT AT 3K IH 1 #1197,345,000
50 (K630 Bk 2 85 3 0 B AR 4 DA K
HABB ) -y —F ZWE=H +
H 2 [ AE AT IF [H] > AR 2\ &) nl 4% 78 %6
i A I D el R Y AR R
PRI o B[] 15 0 15 R AH R 25
SRS R S E - F=H
RINEINCEATID-¢- Sk L% T8
BN > DUER o B P AR B
PBEUA B AETIB A EL - ik —F
THAEZA T H > AR TR RS A
ik N R AH 2 1 A £ 200,000,000 5 TC
HE SRR HOE O E L
L= R LA

TR EEERIN

W oECEFEANHTRHE S ARAF
BEAT AR & #UEE 15 200,000,000 FE G 1)
TR T SRR B A R A
83% > Wit =& = ZAEFIHE o AR
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28. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

2024 Notes 11

On 21 May 2020, the Company issued the 2024 Notes II at a coupon
rate of 8.35% due within 2024 with an aggregate principal amount
of US$200,000,000. The Company raised net proceeds of
US$197,345,000 (after deduction of underwriting discounts and
commissions and other expenses). At any time and from time to time
prior to 10 March 2024, the Company may redeem the 2024 Notes
II at a pre-determined redemption price. The details of the
redemption price are disclosed in the relevant offering memorandum.
On 29 March 2022, the concurrent consent solicitation was accepted
by the note holders to waive any potential defaults in respect of the
2024 Notes II. On 10 March 2024, the Company failed to make the
payment of the remaining outstanding principal amount of
US$200,000,000, together with interest accrued thereon, which
constituted an event of default.

2023 Notes III

On 15 June 2020, the Company issued the 2023 Notes III at a
coupon rate of 8.3% due within 2023 with an aggregate principal
amount of US$200,000,000. The Company raised net proceeds of
US$197,594,000 (after deduction of underwriting discounts and
commissions and other expenses). At any time and from time to time
prior to 15 September 2023, the Company may redeem the 2023
Notes IIT at a pre-determined redemption price. The details of the
redemption price are disclosed in the relevant offering memorandum.
On 29 March 2022, the concurrent consent solicitation was accepted
by the note holders to waive any potential defaults in respect of the
2023 Notes III. On 15 September 2023, the Company failed to make
the payment of the remaining outstanding principal amount of
US$200,000,000, together with interest accrued thereon, which
constituted an event of default.
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28. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

2025 Notes I

On 11 September 2020, the Company issued the 2025 Notes I at a
coupon rate of 7.35% due within 2025 with an aggregate principal
amount of US$350,000,000. The Company raised net proceeds of
US$345,592,000 (after deduction of underwriting discounts and
commissions and other expenses). At any time and from time to time
prior to 5 February 2025, the Company may redeem the 2025 Notes
I at a pre-determined redemption price. The details of the redemption
price are disclosed in the relevant offering memorandum. On 29
March 2022, the concurrent consent solicitation was accepted by the
note holders to waive any potential defaults in respect of the 2025
Notes I. The Group has repurchased 2025 Notes I in the principal
amount of US$1,000,000.

By the end of 31 December 2024, the Company failed to pay interest
in the amount of US$77,175,000 before expiry of the grace period
for the 2025 Notes I, which constituted an event of default. As of the
date of approval of the financial statements, the Company failed to
make the payment of the remaining outstanding principal amount of
US$349,000,000, together with interest accrued thereon, which
constituted an event of default on 5 February 2025.

2026 Notes I

On 7 January 2021, the Company issued the 2026 Notes I at a
coupon rate of 6.63% due within 2026 with an aggregate principal
amount of US$400,000,000. The Company raised net proceeds of
US$395,850,000 (after deduction of underwriting discounts and
commissions and other expenses). At any time and from time to time
prior to 7 January 2026, the Company may redeem the 2026 Notes I
at a pre-determined redemption price. The details of the redemption
price are disclosed in the relevant offering memorandum. On 29
March 2022, the concurrent consent solicitation was accepted by the
note holders to waive any potential defaults in respect of the 2026
Notes I. The Group has repurchased 2026 Notes I in the principal
amount of US$7,000,000.

By the end of 31 December 2024, the Company failed to pay interest
in the amount of US$66,300,000 before expiry of the grace period
for the 2026 Notes I, which constituted an event of default.
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28. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

2026 Notes II

On 4 February 2021, the Company issued the 2026 Notes II at a
coupon rate of 6.7% due within 2026 with an aggregate principal
amount of US$300,000,000. The Company raised net proceeds of
US$296,661,000 (after deduction of underwriting discounts and
commissions and other expenses). At any time and from time to time
prior to 4 August 2026, the Company may redeem the 2026 Notes
II at a pre-determined redemption price. The details of the
redemption price are disclosed in the relevant offering memorandum.
On 29 March 2022, the concurrent consent solicitation was accepted
by the note holders to waive any potential defaults in respect of the
2026 Notes II. The Group has repurchased 2026 Notes II in the
principal amount of US$9,000,000.

By the end of 31 December 2024, the Company failed to pay interest
in the amount of US$60,300,000 before expiry of the grace period
for the 2026 Notes II, which constituted an event of default.

2022 Notes IV

On 15 April 2021, the Company issued the 2022 Notes IV at a
coupon rate of 5.98% due within 2021 with an aggregate principal
amount of US$220,000,000. The Company raised net proceeds of
US$218,468,000 (after deduction of underwriting discounts and
commissions and other expenses). At any time and from time to time
prior to 13 April 2022, the Company might redeem the 2022 Notes
IV at a pre-determined redemption price. The details of the

redemption price are disclosed in the relevant offering memorandum.
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28. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

2022 Notes IV (Continued)

On 29 March 2022, the Company completed the exchange offer and
consent solicitation for the 2022 Notes IV, which extended the
maturity date and waived any potential defaults, resulting in an
aggregate principal amount of US$196,639,000 of the 2022 Notes
IV being cancelled and exchanged to the 2023 Notes IV, and the
remaining outstanding principal amount of the 2022 Notes IV was
US$23,361,000. On 13 April 2022, the Company failed to make the
payment of the remaining outstanding principal amount of
US$23,361,000, together with interest accrued thereon, which

constituted an event of default.

2024 Notes II1

On 10 June 2021, the Company issued the 2024 Notes III at a
coupon rate of 7.1% due within 2024 with an aggregate principal
amount of US$340,000,000. The Company raised net proceeds of
US$333,240,000 (after deduction of underwriting discounts and
commissions and other expenses). At any time and from time to time
prior to 10 September 2024, the Company may redeem the 2024
Notes IIT at a pre-determined redemption price. The details of the
redemption price are disclosed in the relevant offering memorandum.
On 29 March 2022, the concurrent consent solicitation was accepted
by the note holders to waive any potential defaults in respect of the
2024 Notes III. On 10 September 2024, the Company failed to make
the payment of the remaining outstanding principal amount of
US$340,000,000, together with interest accrued thereon, which
constituted an event of default.
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28. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

2022 Notes V

On 2 July 2021, the Company issued the 2022 Notes V at a coupon
rate of 7.125% due within 2022 with an aggregate principal amount
of RMB1,300,000,000. The Company raised net proceeds of
RMB1,292,350,000 (after deduction of underwriting discounts and
commissions and other expenses). At any time and from time to time
prior to 30 June 2022, the Company might redeem the 2022 Notes
V at a pre-determined redemption price. The details of the

redemption price are disclosed in the relevant offering memorandum.

On 29 March 2022, the Company completed the exchange offer and
consent solicitation for the 2022 Notes V, which extended the
maturity date and waived any potential defaults, resulting in an
aggregate principal amount of RMB1,291,859,000 of the 2022
Notes V being cancelled and exchanged to 2023 Notes V, and the
remaining outstanding principal amount of the 2022 Notes V was
RMBS,141,000. On 30 June 2022, the Company failed to make the
payment of the remaining outstanding principal amount of
RMBS,141,000, together with interest accrued thereon, which

constituted an event of default.

2022 Notes VI

On 2 July 2021, the Company issued the 2022 Notes VI at a coupon
rate of 7.125% due within 2022 with an aggregate principal amount
of RMB300,000,000. The Company raised net proceeds of
RMB298,717,000 (after deduction of underwriting discounts and
commissions and other expenses). At any time and from time to time
prior to 30 June 2022, the Company might redeem the 2022 Notes
VI at a pre-determined redemption price. The details of the

redemption price are disclosed in the relevant offering memorandum.
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28. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

2022 Notes VI (Continued)

On 29 March 2022, the Company completed the exchange offer and
consent solicitation for 2022 Notes VI, which extended the maturity
date no earlier than March 2023 and waived any potential defaults,
resulting in an aggregate principal amount of RMB298,121,000 of
the 2022 Notes VI being cancelled and exchanged to the 2023 Notes
V, and the remaining outstanding principal amount of the 2022
Notes VI was RMB1,879,000. On 30 June 2022, the Company
failed to make the payment of the remaining outstanding principal
amount of RMB1,879,000, together with interest accruing thereon,
which constituted an event of default.

2022 Notes VII

On 3 September 2021, the Company issued the 2022 Notes VII at a
coupon rate of 6.5% due within 2022 with an aggregate principal
amount of US$250,000,000. The Company raised net proceeds of
US$247,595,000 (after deduction of underwriting discounts and
commissions and other expenses). At any time and from time to time
prior to 1 September 2022, the Company may redeem the 2022
Notes VII at a pre-determined redemption price. The details of the

redemption price are disclosed in the relevant offering memorandum.

By the end of 21 March 2022, the Group has repurchased the 2022
Notes VII in the principal amount of US$13,500,000. On 29 March
2022, the Company completed the exchange offer and consent
solicitation for 2022 Notes VII, which extended the maturity date no
earlier than March 2023 and waived any potential defaults, resulting
in an aggregate principal amount of US$218,761,000 of the 2022
Notes VII being cancelled and exchanged to the 2023 Notes IV, and
the remaining outstanding principal amount of the 2022 Notes VII
was US$17,739,000. On 1 September 2022, the Company failed to
make the payment of the remaining outstanding principal amount of
US$17,739,000, together with interest accrued thereon, which

constituted an event of default.
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28.

SENIOR NOTES (Continued)
2023 Notes IV

On 29 March 2022, with the completion of the exchange offer and
consent solicitation, the Company issued the 2023 Notes IV at a
coupon rate of 8% due in March 2023 with an aggregate principal
amount of US$728,623,000, in exchange for the 2022 Notes III,
2022 Notes IV, 2022 Notes VII and 5.95% Senior Notes due March
2022, which were guaranteed by the Company and issued by ZhenAn
Glory Investment Limited, a joint venture of the Company. At any
time and from time to time prior to 6 March 2023, the Company
may redeem the 2023 Notes IV at a pre-determined redemption
price. The details of the redemption price are disclosed in the relevant
offering memorandum. On 6 March 2023, the Company failed to
make the payment of the remaining outstanding principal amount of
US$728,623,000,
constituted an event of default.

together with interest accrued thereon, which

2023 Notes V

On 29 March 2022, with the completion of the exchange offer and
consent solicitation, the Company issued the 2023 Notes V at a
coupon rate of 8% due in March 2023 with an aggregate principal
amount of RMB1,589,980,000, in exchange for the 2022 Notes V
and 2022 Notes VI. At any time and from time to time prior to 6
March 2023, the Company may redeem the 2023 Notes V at a pre-
determined redemption price. The details of the redemption price are
disclosed in the relevant offering memorandum. On 6 March 2023,
the Company failed to make the payment of the remaining
outstanding principal amount of RMB1,589,980,000, together with

interest accrued thereon, which constituted an event of default.
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28. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

2023 Notes V (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had not repaid an aggregate
amount of principal and interest of RMB21,406,730,000 (31
December 2023: RMB12,763,266,000) for certain senior notes and
an aggregate amount of interest of RMB1,464,816,000 (31
December 2023: RMB1,824,355,000) for certain senior notes
according to their scheduled repayment dates, triggering events of
default for certain senior notes amounting to RMB7,583,850,000 (31
December 2023: RMB13,377,932,000), which are presented under
current liabilities in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024.

If an event of default has occurred (such as the 30-day grace period
lapses) and is continuing, the trustee or holders of at least 25% in the
aggregate principal amount of the senior notes then outstanding
may, by written notice to the Company and to the trustee, declare
the principal of, premium, if any, and accrued and unpaid interest on
the relevant senior notes to be immediately due and payable (the
“Acceleration Notice”).

Up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements,
the Company has not received any Acceleration Notice as a result of
the non-payment of principals or interest for aforementioned senior

notes.

The 2022 Notes III, IV, V, VI and VII, the 2023 Notes II, III, IV
and V, 2024 Notes I, IT and III, 2025 Notes I, and 2026 Notes I and

II are guaranteed by certain of the Group’s existing subsidiaries.

The fair values of the early redemption options of the 2023 Notes II,
III, IV and V, 2024 Notes I, II and III, 2025 Notes I, and 2026
Notes I and II were not significant and therefore were not recognised
by the Group on inception and at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

_ MR

Annual Report 2024 223



BA TSR M EE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-M&E+=-—A=+—H

31 December 2024

29. CORPORATE BONDS

e g 1112
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1 January Interest 31 December

i % 4 W Name of bonds 2024 Issued expense Payment  Transfer® 2024

ARWFL NREFLE NREFILE ARKEFLE AR¥FIL NRW¥FIL

RMB000 RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000

EEEHEV Zhenro Bond V 1,187,772 - 64,849 - 140,122 1,112,499

EZEFvI Zhenro Bond VII 1,132,767 - 66,126 1,000 - 1,197,893

1E 8 25 vin Zhenro Bond VIII 1,115,375 = 64,315 1,000 — 1,178,690

EEHRIX Zhenro Bond IX 1,517,827 = 92,946 1,320 — 1,609,453

st Total 4,953,741 = 288,236 3,320 140,122 5,098,535

TR =4

e S +=H
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1 January Interest 31 December

754 1 Name of bonds 2023 Issued expense Payment Transfer® 2023

ANRETIL NRETIL NEWT L AR¥TFr AREFT ARKETIC

RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000

E& &RV Zhenro Bond V 1,123,101 - 64,671 - - 1,187,772

IEZE v Zhenro Bond VII 1,079,297 - 54,598 1,128 — 1,132,767

1E 2 25 v Zhenro Bond VIII 1,062,003 = 54,492 1,120 — 1,115,375

EERIX Zhenro Bond IX 1,430,986 - 88,346 1,505 - 1,517,827

Mt Total 4,695,387 = 262,107 3,753 — 4,953,741
& MR-F_WE+F+_HA=+—H> & As at 31 December 2024, the Group failed to repay the principal and interest

A AR fE

HRERBEVZA

i KAE o B - ga R A S
HE 3 JEU 0 FEA A U

AR BEOR > A4 AR B 4 R R

of Zhenro Bond V. Consequently, the overdue interest payable was reclassified

as other payables.

As at the end of each of the years, the Group’s corporate bonds were

FUE repayable as follows:
EL ST
+ZH=+—H +=-A=1+—H
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
AR ¥ F oL AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
JH RS — 47 TN A% R R Repayable within one year or on demand 1,496,056 1,187,772
THNEE = & B R Repayable within third to five years 3,602,479 3,765,969
st Total 5,098,535 4,953,741
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29. CORPORATE BONDS (Continued)

Zhenro Bond V

On 4 November 2019, Zhenro Property Holdings issued a three-year
corporate bond with a principal amount of RMB1,050,000,000
(“Zhenro Bond V). Zhenro Bond V is denominated in RMB and
bears interest at a rate of 6.0% per annum, payable annually in
arrears, beginning on 4 November 2020. After deducting the
issuance costs, the Group received net proceeds of
RMB1,045,275,000 from the issuance. The effective interest rate was
6.17% on an annual basis for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

As at 31 December 2024, Zhenro Property Holdings had failed to
repay the principal and interest of RMB1,252,621,000 (31 December
2023: RMB1,187,772,000), which constituted an event of default.

Zhenro Bond VII and VIII

On 27 July 2020, Zhenro Property Holdings issued a five-year
corporate bond with a principal amount of RMB1,000,000,000
(“Zhenro Bond VII”), which was listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange. Zhenro Bond VII is denominated in RMB and bears
interest at a rate of 5.75% per annum, payable annually in arrears,
beginning 27 July 2021. After deducting the issuance costs, the
Group received net proceeds of RMB991,437,000 from the issuance.
The effective interest rates were 5.82% and 5.82%, respectively, on
an annual basis for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Pursuant to the a series of announcements in 2023, Zhenro Property
Holdings successfully extended the repayment of interest and the
outstanding principal to 27 January 2027, and waived any potential
defaults with respect to Zhenro Bond VII.
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29. CORPORATE BONDS (Continued)

Zhenro Bond VII and VIII (Continued)

On 14 September 2020, Zhenro Property Holdings issued a four-year
corporate bond with a principal amount of RMB1,000,000,000
(“Zhenro Bond VIII”), which was listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange. Zhenro Bond VIII is denominated in RMB and bears
interest at a rate of 5.45% per annum, payable annually in arrears,
beginning 14 September 2021. After deducting the issuance costs,
the Group received net proceeds of RMB994,369,000 from the
issuance. The effective interest rates were 5.49% and 5.42%,
respectively, on an annual basis for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

Pursuant to the a series of announcements in 2023, Zhenro Property
Holdings successfully extended the repayment of interest and the
outstanding principal to 14 March 2027, and waived any potential
defaults with respect to Zhenro Bond VIII.

Zhenro Bond IX

On 23 July 2021, Zhenro Property Holdings issued a four-year
corporate bond with a principal amount of RMB1,320,000,000
(“Zhenro Bond IX”). Zhenro Bond IX is denominated in RMB and
bears interest at a rate of 6.3% per annum, payable annually in
arrears, beginning 23 July 2022. After deducting the issuance costs,
the Group received net proceeds of RMB1,314,875,000.00 from the
issuance. The effective interest rates were 6.11% and 6.14%,
respectively, on an annual basis for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

Pursuant to a series of announcements in 2023, Zhenro Property
Holdings successfully extended the repayment of interest and the
outstanding principal to 23 January 2027, and waived any potential
defaults with respect to Zhenro Bond IX.
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CORPORATE BONDS (Continued)
Zhenro Bond IX (Continued)

Pursuant to the announcement of the bondholders’ meeting
resolutions, the outstanding principal amount along with accrued
unpaid interest has been included in the unit price of Zhenro Bond
VII, Zhenro Bond VIII and Zhenro Bond IX.

Furthermore, Zhenro Property Holdings has agreed to provide
enhanced security measures for Zhenro Bond VII and Zhenro Bond
IX by leveraging the equity income rights associated with the
following equity interests:

. The aggregate 100% equity income rights pertaining to the
“Nanjing Zhenro Center Mall and Office Tower” held by
Jiangxi Zhenro Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. and Zhenro
Zhengtai Hongkong Limited,;

o The aggregate 100% equity income rights related to the “Foshan
Zhangcha Jihua Zhenro Mansion Project” held by Zhengding
(Foshan) Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. and Zhenro
Zhengheng Hongkong Limited,;

o The aggregate 100% equity income rights concerning the “Wuhan
Guanggu Zhenro Mansion Project” held by Wuhan
Zhengxiang Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd.;

o The collective 100% equity income rights attached to the “Yichun
Yuelinlong Phase II Project” held by Jiangxi Zhengrong Real
Estate Development Co., Ltd. and Nanchang Zhengteng Real
Estate Co., Ltd.;

J The 40% equity income rights in the “Dongtou Zhenro
Mansion Project” held indirectly by Nanchang Shiou Properties
Development Co., Ltd.;

o The aggregate 51% equity income rights associated with the
“Nanchang Qingyun Chenyuan Project” held indirectly
through Nanchang Zhenro (Singapore) Real Estate Co., Ltd.
and Nanchang Zhengding Real Estate Co., Ltd..

These equity income rights serve as collateral to ensure repayment of
the Zhenro Bond VII and Zhenro Bond IX.
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29. CORPORATE BONDS (Continued)
Zhenro Bond IX (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the fair value of the corporate bonds was
RMB715,542,000 (2023: RMB2,516,379,000). The fair value is
calculated using the market price of the bonds on those dates. The
fair value measurement of Zhenro Bond VII, Zhenro Bond VIII and
Zhenro Bond IX issued by Zhenro Property Holdings is categorised
within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy as they are listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange. The fair value measurement of Zhenro
Bond V issued by Zhenro Property Holdings is categorised within
Level 2 of fair value hierarchy as it is not listed.

Ji AR 30. SHARE CAPITAL
Ji% Shares
— YA —EC=
2024 2023
eV e
US$ US$
AT LR Issued and fully paid:
4,367,756,000 % (— & — =4 : 4,367,756,000 (2023: 4,367,756,000)
4,367,756,000 1) 5 i 1# {H ordinary shares of US$0.00001 each
0.00001 3 J0 (=& = =4 : ) (2023: US$0.00001 each)
T {H.0.00001 35 JC) 1) % %8 A 43,678 43,678

A A A S B BT A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as
follows:
C#1T
Jie tr % H [N
Number of Share
shares in issue capital
VN o
RMB’000
WoFE_=HF—H—H- At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023
473444?4‘ A=+t—HRk and 31 December 2024
—EFZWEF+ZA=+—H 4,367,756,000 282

AR AR 2 F BB AT A I 4 A )
(ZF =4 ) o
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There were no movements in the issued share capital of the Company
during the year (2023: Nil).
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31. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for
the year ended 31 December 2024 are presented in the consolidated

statement of changes in equity.

(a) Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between the par

value of the shares issued and the consideration received.

(b) Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group represents the issued capital
of the then holding company of the companies now comprising
the Group and the capital contributions from the equity
holders of certain subsidiaries now comprising the Group
before the completion of the Corporate Restructuring and the

Reorganisation.

(c) Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the difference between the cost of
acquisition and the non-controlling interests acquired in the
case of acquisition of additional non-controlling interests of
subsidiaries, or, the difference between the proceeds from
disposal and the non-controlling interests disposed of in the
case of disposal of partial equity interests in subsidiaries to non-
controlling shareholders without loss of control. Details of the
movements in the capital reserve are set out in the consolidated

statement of changes in equity.

(d) Statutory surplus reserves

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the articles of
association of the subsidiaries established in the PRC, the
Group is required to appropriate 10% of its net profits after
tax, as determined under the Chinese Accounting Standards, to
the statutory surplus reserves until the reserve balance reaches
50% of its registered capital. Subject to certain restrictions set
out in the relevant PRC regulations and in the articles of
association of the Group, the statutory surplus reserves may be
used either to offset losses, or to be converted to increase share
capital provided that the balance after such conversion is not
less than 25% of the registered capital of the Group. The
reserves cannot be used for purposes other than those for which
they are created and are not distributable as cash dividends.

— B UFEFER
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. RESERVES (Continued)

(e) Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of group entities. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2.4 to the
financial statements.

. PERPETUAL CAPITAL SECURITIES

Classified as Liabilities

“E A e
+=A=+—H +-A=1—H
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
AR¥ T AR WF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
KEEARFH Perpetual Capital Securities II 1,412,671 1,391,908

Mo E—NENATILA > AN
B 4T R 4 %8 5 200,000,000 3% T Y 12
P8 K A8 AR B S ([ K 8B A w8
101) o 405k 3547 B AS 4% 1Y BT 15 3k IE
T %H 8% 55 198,274,000 3 TC o K
SN | 1 e S e
AANFAEBER_F__F—HZ
+ 1 H B DR e A 4 R LR E ST
o A B AE A R S A SR ) o TH B
BITAREE_Z_-__4F—H_+
HH B 43 IR 2R A 4 B % 10.25% 0 N
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S 0 £ gk A AR 55 5 ILAE A AR Bk
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On 19 June 2019, the Company issued senior perpetual capital
securities (the “Perpetual Capital Securities II”’) with the principal
amount of US$200,000,000. Net proceeds after deducting the issue
cost amounted to US$198,274,000 in total. The Perpetual Capital
Securities II have no fixed maturity date and are redeemable on or
after 25 January 2022 at the Company’s option at the principal
amount together with accrued, unpaid or deferred distribution
payments. The distribution rate for the instruments is 10.25% per
annum from the date of issue to 25 January 2022, then increases by 5%
per annum thereafter. No guarantee or pledge was made by the
Group for the Perpetual Capital Securities II. The Company may, at
its sole discretion, elect to defer a distribution pursuant to the terms
of the securities. Unless and until the Company satisfies in full all
outstanding arrears of distribution and any additional distribution
amount, the Company shall not declare or pay any dividends or
distributions, or make payment on, and will procure that no dividend
or other payment is made on or redeem, reduce, cancel, buyback or
acquire for any consideration thereof. Securities may be redeemed at
the option of the Company, in whole but not in part. The Company
has no obligation to deliver cash in respect of the perpetual

instruments, pay interest nor exercise its right of redemption.
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PERPETUAL CAPITAL SECURITIES (continued)
Classified as Liabilities (Continued)

On 29 March 2022, the consent solicitation for the Perpetual Capital
Securities IT was completed. The Company postponed the redemption
of the securities to 6 March 2023, extended the first reset date of
distribution rate to March 2023, and made modifications to relevant
indebtedness default event in order to waive any potential defaults.
Pursuant to the Consent Solicitation Memorandum and relevant
terms of the Trust Deed dated 29 March 2022, the Company
announced that all outstanding perpetual capital securities would be
redeemed in full on 6 March 2023 (the “Redemption Date”) at a
redemption price equal to 102% of the outstanding principal amount
thereof, plus any distributions accrued and unpaid to, but excluding,
the Redemption Date.

In the opinion of the directors, before 29 March 2022, the Company
was able to control the delivery of cash or other financial assets to the
holders of the Perpetual Capital Securities II, therefore the Perpetual
Capital Securities II were classified as equity instruments and
presented as a part of the equity. However, on 29 March 2022, due
to the distribution of redemption notice in relation to the Perpetual
Capital Securities II, which is mandatory and binding upon given,
the directors believe there would be a payment obligation on the
Redemption Date. Therefore, the Perpetual Capital Securities II are
reclassified as financial liabilities and presented as a part of the

liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company failed to repay the principal
and interest amounting to RMB1,750,150,000 (2023:
RMB1,610,788,000) for the perpetual capital securities, which
constituted an event of default.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had nil non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (2023: RMB13,265,000),
in respect of lease arrangements for office buildings.
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3. KA BHEeRERMEE @ 33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) FE T By EE A AR (b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
5 1)
KA
it BSRAT R KEXH KHEEA M B O 05 0 ) 105
Hipfis  BAERE AWEE it 57 W MERE AWKE bt
Total
Interest- liabilities
bearing bank Asset-  Perpetual Due to from
and other Corporate backed capital Lease related  financing
borrowings  Senior notes bonds  securities  securities liabilities  companies activities

ARBFL ARBTL ARETT ARBTE ARKTL ARWFL AREFT ARKTT
RMBU00  RMB000  RMBOO0  RMBOO0 ~ RMBUO0 ~ RMBUO0 — RMBUOO — RMB0O

MEZFZZF—H—H Acl January 2023 30,883,597 23,859,544 4,695387 2,237,786 1,311,845 42,123 6129358 69,159,640
MEB S 2 5 }J Changes from financing
cash flows (3,149,571) = (3,753) (2,411) - (22392 (503,228)  (3,681355)
EBEEE Non-cash movements 1,266,453 302,669 262,107 119,774 80,063 4,588 (17,346) 2,018,308
S At 31 December 2023
+ZA=+—H 29000479 24162213 4953741 2,355,149 1,391,908 24319 5,608,784 67,496,593
WA ST EEE) Changes from financing
cash flows (691,609) - (3,320) (4,176) - (13,001)  (226274)  (938,380)
ERRSY 3 Non-cash movements (480,971) 352461 148,114 174,443 20,763 (4,908) 67720 203,130
iy 11 At 31 December 2024
+ZA=1+—H 27,827,899 24514674 5,098,535 2525416 1412671 6410 5375738 66,761,343
0 MEMHELREHN (c) Total cash outflow for leases
AABESHE XN E A The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of
S EWT cash flows is as follows:
—EZ T IYLE —E =
2024 2023
AR ¥ T ANR¥Foo
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEWEFH N Within operating activities 4,833 6,423
il B A Within financing activities 13,001 22,392
HEr Total 17,834 28,815
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31 December 2024

. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-controlling

interests were set out below:

31 December 2024

738 P Ji il VEE 9

HE 25 15 A 1Y HE 25 B 4E Y T e i 2

B HE i 4 BB i A, O 48) Rt & 6%
Percentage of Profit/(loss) for the Accumulated

equity interest held

year allocated

balances of non-

by non-controlling  to non-controlling controlling
interests interests interests
% AR¥ T AR¥ T
% RMB’000 RMB’000
B 1E T FR AR Wuhan Hengrui Jufu Real Estate
BH 3 A PR A ) Development Co., Ltd.
([ 5% V88 1 s 235 4 1) (“Wuhan Hengrui Jufu”) 49 84,450 332,399
5 3 (A M) 15 & 5% R Rongrui (Fuzhou) Investment
HRRAR ((fME%EH])  and Development Co., Ltd.
(“Fuzhou Rongrui”) 20 15,944 537,348
MR IEEEXBEREAMR  Nanjing Zhengye Real Estate
Al ([ IESE]) Development Co., Ltd.
(“Nanjing Zhengye”) 49 (7,762) 1,212,733
R =T ZA=1+—H 31 December 2023
7 I P Vil Ve XY
e i 5 A 1 1 2 B9 4 A1 5 T HE 4
JBCHEH 7 L i 1,/ (s 5 Rk a5 B
Percentage of  Profit/(loss) for the Accumulated

equity interest held

year allocated

balances of non-

by non-controlling  to non-controlling controlling
interests interests interests
% AR ARH T
% RMB’000 RMB000
o 54 E J5 i 7E B Nanjing Hongzheng Real Estate
ABRAF (THISAIE])  Development Co., Led.
(“Nanjing Hongzheng”) 49 105,797 90,078
B 7Y o B Shaanxi Zhuoyue Jingda
HIRAR (THPHEEE])  Real Estate Co., Led.
(“Shaanxi Zhuoyue”) 66 (26,969) 73,288
M IEEEERR Nanjing Zhengye Real Estate
ABRAF (MR IE3#])  Development Co., Led.
(“Nanjing Zhengye”) 49 109,320 1,220,495
B FFRK
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34. BEA HOKJE 15 % BE 4R Y
Ik 2 & W& 2 Wl )

34. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(Continued)

R I A MU
B ERL o T4 8 0 & WK B B AT AT

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information

of the above subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed are before any inter-

o A K8 company eliminations:
- <y 11! 20 2024
o P 1E B R 1 JH 28 B A IE 3
Wuhan Fuzhou Nanjing
Hengrui Jufu Rongrui Zhengye
AR ¥ T A R ¥ T i A R ¥ T i
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
I i Revenue 974,189 3,430,293 195,107
B S 4% Total expenses (801,842) (3,257,647) (209,254)
P 15 8 B =2 Income tax expense = (92,926) (1,694)
A A s A1) B A TR 4 Profit and total
A comprehensive income
for the year 172,347 79,720 (15,841)
& Current assets 970,904 3,524,958 3,204,505
IE i B & = Non-current assets - 3,101 14,484
I ) AR Current liabilities (292,539) (841,317) (744,025)
FE VL E A & Non-current liabilities — - _
T Net assets 678,365 2,686,742 2,474,964
AT E (T ),/ BT 18  Net cash flows (used in)/
B 48 il 2 T AR from operating activities (9,684) 93,381 69,400
WEEE SIS &R Net cash flows from
T #H investing activities - - -
Tl 3% B iR 45 (FF ) Net cash flows from/
e FHE (used in) financing
activities 9,138 (189,582) (58,036)
B4e kBl &% EHY Net (decrease)/increase in
(32,1 i %A cash and cash equivalents (546) (96,201) 11,364

EFRMEREEBRAT
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31 December 2024

HAJEEBMESEM 34 PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
& B8 ] ) MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(Continued)
—E = 2023
5L IE R 7Y R IE %
Nanjing Shaanxi Nanjing
Hongzheng Zhuoyue Zhengye
ANREF T ANR¥TF T AR EFo
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
i 4 Revenue 3,286,298 = 3,117,314
b =2 8 #H Total expenses (2,965,214) (40,862) (2,810,974)
Fir 154 BA 52 Income tax expense (105,171) = (83,238)
A R Y A B 4 T IR g Profit and total
AR comprehensive income
for the year 215,913 (40,862) 223,102
i) Current assets 949,311 1,206,264 3,398,216
I H) G E Non-current assets 103 - 15,918
i B AR Current liabilities (762,249) (1,095,222) (923,328)
FE ) A & Non-current liabilities (3,332) - _
T & Net assets 183,833 111,042 2,490,806
AR E (FF ) /BT f8 Net cash flows (used in)/
T & i 2 VR from operating activities (17,429) (37,493) 234,237
BEIEH A e Net cash flows from
341 investing activities - = —
Bl &5 B TS, (Fr ) Net cash flows from/
B <5 U B AR (used in) financing
activities 17,428 40,284 (223,706)
e kB E&SEY Net (decrease)/increase in
(Bl ) /B8 5 48 cash and cash equivalents (1) 2,791 10,531
_B_MFEFR
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35. AW E T H R Z W
J& 2

S

RoEZWAEELA—H EE(E
) BE R A R A 7 ik B B
5= b A Tk B 2 R R E T (2024)
18 03 M 546%%) » H it —F — PU4E S
A+ NB#EE> ZHAFAERR
K7 b B KA A BR A A B
NIE 28 (b ) BB IR B A BR 2 A
(¥ A 99% M 25 2 Bf B A 7)) $2 th 2
W E A WAL A
BT B BN o IE £ (b i) B R
A BR A W) 5T R Ak &
EBTET o ERERL > ALE N
FIPJg de R L4 (L) B IR B A
BN T 2 o M NI i L AR A0k 4
HAIRM A 7 - 52 BBk
WEH R M R 58 BT B

W UEANA ZHEHB > LR
BREN T RV A Rk R
FHE E (2024 850509 B 17-1 5% ) #
FE BRI IF 2 5 b 2E B 25 A BR 2 A
AR > N Z AT B I AR (RR )
HBE I HEMAN o =R Y4+
THZH > AR B VL AR A RN
MR ARZERZ RF#EE
((2024) #£ 0509 17-65%) » H ik =&
“PE+—H LB #FE > B
#R M IE 2 5 b 7E B A R A
I S 4 Al ) 3 40 i R I B AR
1F AR N IE 2 55 b 5 BH B A BR 2 #
ZWEER o AR A B AR E
i 7> T 2E Ry 4% &5 1R W AR T 8 B
17 A6 ] A 3 i 8] 2 & 2 i b
AR EE > EEAARERERAR
IV ol I T A R =
(BRI SHH T 4 LB N - &
R L > A SR R R AR O R ER
M IE 5 55 Hb B B A R AN A 2 B
il 4 S s L8 4K 1k A5 A AR B

NIE

EFRMEREEBRAT
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35.

SUBSIDIARIES UNDER BANKRUPTCY
LIQUIDATION PROCEDURES

On 1 July 2024, Zhenro (Shanghai) Technology Services Co., Ltd.
received the Civil Ruling (2024) Hu 03 Bankruptcy No. 546 from
Shanghai Third Intermediate Court, which ruled on 18 June 2024
that it accepted the bankruptcy liquidation application filed by the
applicant Xiangyang Fujia Real Estate Brokerage Co., Ltd. against
the respondent Zhenro (Shanghai) Technology Services Co., Ltd., a
99%-owned subsidiary, and appointed Fangda Partners as the
administrator. Zhenro (Shanghai) Technology Services Co., Ltd is
currently in the fund collection and cancellation proceedings. The
directors considered that the Group lost control over Zhenro (Shanghai)
Technology Services Co., Ltd. upon the judgement and
deconsolidated the subsidiaries thereafter. Up to the date of approval
of the financial statements, the liquidation of Shanghai Technology
has not yet been completed.

On 25 June 2024, Civil Ruling (2024) Su 0509 Bankruptcy No.
17-1 from Wujiang District People’s Court of Suzhou City, Jiangsu
Province ruled on declaring Suzhou Zhengyu Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. bankrupt and appointed Grandall Law Firm
(Suzhou) as the administrator. On 2 December 2024, the Company
received the Civil Ruling (2024) Su 0509 Bankruptcy No. 17-6 from
Wujiang District People’s Court of Suzhou City, Jiangsu Province,
which ruled on 29 November 2024 that as Suzhou Zhengyu Real
Estate Development Co., Ltd. currently had no other assets available
for distribution, the court terminated the bankruptcy proceedings of
Suzhou Zhengyu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. According to
relevant legal stipulations, should it be found within two years
subsequent to the conclusion of the bankruptcy proceedings that
there exist assets recoverable as per the law or other distributable
assets, creditors reserve the right to petition the people’s court for
supplementary distribution. Meanwhile, Grandall Law Firm (Suzhou)
continues to act as the administrator. The directors considered that
the Group lost control over Suzhou Zhengyu Real Estate
Development Co., Led. upon the judgement and deconsolidated the
subsidiaries thereafter.
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SRR M EE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NFE+=—A=+—H

31 December 2024

35. SUBSIDIARIES UNDER BANKRUPTCY
LIQUIDATION PROCEDURES (Continued)

The carrying values of the assets and liabilities on the dates of
disposal were as follows:

—&F 4 2024
A5t
Total
N
RMB’000
WO %A AR EE T Net assets deconsolidated:
B M &FEY Cash and cash equivalents 2,043
FEAS R ~ At B iR T R A Prepayments, other receivables and other assets 60,027
G Wie B Bt 2 ) K I Due from related companies 1,338,553
FeE B2 W% Properties held for sale 26,956
B 5 A K T I IR A S Trade and bills payables (134,884)
HEHAE Contract liabilities (24,441)
At 8 AT T % R R Other payables and accruals (34,776)
JRE 4SS A 3 Tax payables (27,440)
JRE AT B8 W 2 ) 3k H Due to related companies (110,384)
W4 AR EEFHE Net assets deconsolidated 1,095,654
JE g AR AE Consideration receivable 1,095,654
[Tl RN R Nl [ Fi= Rk Net gains/losses on liquidation of subsidiaries =
ARBUE & A AR B & KB &% (HY  An analysis of the net inflow of cash and
AR /B cash equivalents in respect of the deconsolidation is
as follows:
B E Cash consideration =
BHEEEAARNB & ABESEEY Cash and cash equivalents deconsolidated (2,043)
HEBUE S A AR B & R 2% EY  Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of
A T the deconsolidation (2,043)
_B_NFFR
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36. AR AR
TR 1K > R B S R B A

36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not provided

1 AR BRI for in the financial statements were as follows:
B 5 e Ju LE 2 —ZF-=
Notes 2024 2023
AR¥ T A BTt
RMB’000 RMB’000
MERAITIEH A BT Guarantees given to banks in connection
AEEMWERE ZMER  with facilities granted to purchasers of
R the Group’s properties (1) 19,760,221 29,210,471
] $R A7 K H Ath 4 #5 /F 4 ) Guarantees given to banks and other
A BT B WA R R institutions in connection with
55 = 7 A B BE R facilities granted to related companies
and a third party 2) 2,760,452 2,886,892
et Total 22,520,673 32,097,363
Bff 5 Notes:
1) 7S 4E [F] 5t 2 T 4R AT A 4E [E AR (1) The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted by

A O 3% T 36 B A% LA
Al AR O R o AR RO DR A PR
LT/ B & W SRR I
4 B 3 R S SRAT R R R
1 A < T B 4 BT R AE i)
JRE =t LS B K e

08 k% B - B4 3 © B
T o5 AT A o A0 5 50 40 9
T EL PV T TS
5% AT 4 O
5 4 45 DAY B 9 40 3
25 -

A 45 [ A 4 R 309 el 52t AR B I A
B H I = R R Y S A
RE e I B R A > A B R —
e it B R E AR Y RN —
WA NG o

WE T ER T D ZEA
A= HIRFERE AL
R ALEBMFFELEC R TY
36 H A Y IS R R A AR
EAAEMEREL AR FES
R T e B A A K- A B W 2
f1 T A8 B 9 B A DA 2 O 2 4R
AL B WAL o] B s AR K&
Ko WO S 30 R AR 4B

EFRMEREEBRAT
2883%memmm%Gmede

certain banks to the purchasers of the Group’s completed properties held for
sale. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantee arrangements, in the case of default
on mortgage payments by the purchasers, the Group is responsible for repaying
the outstanding mortgage principals together with any accrued interest and

penalties owed by the defaulted purchasers to those banks.

Under the above arrangement, the related properties were pledged to the banks
as collateral for the mortgage loans, upon default on mortgage repayments by
these purchasers, the banks are entitled to take over the legal titles and will

realise the pledged properties through open auction.

The Group’s guarantee period starts from the dates of grant of the relevant
mortgage loans and ends upon the issuance and registration of property
ownership certificates to the purchasers, which will generally be available
within one to two years after the purchasers take possession of the relevant

properties.

The Group did not incur any material losses during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 in respect of the guarantees provided for mortgage
facilities granted to purchasers of the Group’s completed properties held for
sale. The directors of the Company considered that in the case of default on
payments, the net realisable value of the related properties would be sufficient
to repay the outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued interest and
penalty, and therefore, no provision has been made in connection with the

guarantees.
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B 5E

@

(3)

(%)

E L NGRS - (o S /A
Fe 55 = 77 B A K 1) 4R AT B HAth #
WERMER - A LR EHRDS
MRAPFEEAELR  BE %
THWERF_=ZF£+ A=+
—Ho oG E e HEA A
Be 56 = 7 4R A 0 4 AR B4R 2 AR
LB o A B B 7 32 5 W A — 2
R AR B S R A R 38

¥ BF 5E 27 B 4% 5% B9 4R 47 A0 At 4
Al A A S A 4 (9] 1) S D R R
DI/ N R Y (TR WHE SN
A5 B Y A T BT A W) 4R R R 2SR
AT E S R PR o IR A
EEMAMEEBEOE R AR
A AL E ALEBARATRER E
RS AT F S s i = F AR K
—E =T HA=Z+—H B
Mz AR BRI ATR S
JE A K TE Je BE AT B ] o AR N ]
HHERL BE F UE R
E_=HFF+_A=+—HIH¥
JE MR ARHRE M E
KUEA -

R b SCHE5R B A IRAAETE e H
BE_F_NMES_A=+—H>
A% 4 [ SIf 06 2 5 A A HC At FE K R
A MR T BORRE R - R B B A
Bro PRAS LN W EE TN AL
fr 408 HC At #3565 A 45 ] 9 R P B0
TEE ARG R W o i =% =

FE+HA=+—0  FAEHEE
T KR A B IR R
A G B W SEH R R AR
TiiaMEEN ZFHA A
0~ R A B A 2 R FR 9 R RE
B H AL A S o (A AR
H SRS o bt R AR AR AR
9 A AT 35 A AR R B AR 4R T
19 B 5 51 L B A A A T R
A

e

SRR M EE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NFE+=—A=+—H

31 December 2024

36 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

@

(3)

The Group provided guarantees to banks and other institutions in connection
with borrowings made to the joint ventures, associates and third parties. The
directors of the Company consider that provision in respect of the guarantees
provided to the joint ventures, associates and third parties is immaterial as of
31 December 2024 and 2023 since the fair value is not significant. Further
details of the related party transactions are included in note 38 to the financial

statements.

In addition to the litigations commenced by banks and other financial
institutions against subsidiaries of the Group as disclosed in note 27, there
were outstanding litigations commenced by several constructors against certain
subsidiaries of the Group claiming construction fees. Based on the advice of the
Group’s in-house legal counsel, the directors of the Company have estimated
that the Group will likely be liable to pay the construction fees, which had
been provided and included in “trade and bill payables” as at 31 December
2024 and 2023. In the opinion of the Company’s directors, no further
significant provision for litigation was required to be made for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.

Except as disclosed above, during the year and up to 31 December 2024, the
Group was not involved in any other material litigation, arbitration or
administrative proceedings, claims or disputes. As far as the directors of the
Company was aware, the Group had no other material litigation or claim which
was pending or threatened against the Group. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group was the defendant of certain non-material litigations, and also a party to
certain litigations arising from the ordinary course of business of the Group.
The likely outcome of these contingent liabilities, litigations or other legal
proceedings cannot be ascertained with reasonable certainty at present, but the
directors of the Company believes that any possible legal liability which may
be incurred from the aforesaid cases will not have any material impact on the

financial position or results of the Group.

B FFRK
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37. KR 37. COMMITMENTS
AEEPREMREAFUT EL The Group had the following contractual commitments at the end of
HAYE the reporting period:
—gopeE oo
2024 2023
ANR¥ T ANRH T
RMB’000 RMB’000
SRR (BN S Contracted, but no provided for:
BH 8% ) 3 Properties under development 6,122,296 7,492,880

BEAh > A £ B IR 18] 5 4 SE R L LA
TR IE (45 A 4R 1 B H A 5 4
5 2L A R UfE 1 R I8 A B > % R

In addition, the Group had the following commitments provided to
joint ventures (including the Group’s share of commitments made

jointly with other joint venturers), which are not included in the

WA Bl (75 .
above:
- <y 11! < TR =
2024 2023
AR¥Fx A R ¥F o
RMB’000 RMB’000
SRR (ENG S Contracted, but no provided for:
T & Capital contributions 1,832,876 1,836,176

EFRMEREEBRAT
24C)&mummm%Gmede
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(a)

(b)

PRI

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NE+ZA=+—H

31 December 2024

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

LN iR (a) Significant related party transactions
—E A —E =
2024 2023
N AR HT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
GRS AR K Advances from joint ventures and
associates 271,282 786,164
B EEMSELB S /A AN Repayment of advances from joint
e ventures and associates 497,556 1,332,747
4T EE AL /A A Advances to joint ventures and associates
%—&?Jx 398,723 2,375,787
BT A B E /N Repayment of advances to joint ventures
GINOET and associates 531,883 2,409,477
H i A 128 B B R4 il 19 /A W] Property management and management
RO Y EE R E G consulting services from companies
wf R B (B 5E) controlled by the ultimate controlling
shareholders (note) 31,424 50,786
i AR I I SR PE 1l 1) 2 7 2 Rental income to companies controlled by
AR A (B 5E) the ultimate controlling shareholders
(note) 74,095 69,608
e B E R A j $2 fft Management consulting services to joint
M A R BS (B 5T ventures and associates (note) 8,227 25,675

WEGE 3% %5 22 5 T 4% 2 8L 45 7

Note: These transactions were carried out in accordance with the terms and

3t [\ W 2 W R M ik 4 conditions mutually agreed by the parties involved.
HEAT
Bl [ 5k 5 iy B At 3R 5 (b) Other transactions with related parties

R ZPAE S T = —
H > A& 4L Bt G 8 4 2 K% 5
SAFAERZ BEARYK
2,424,952,0007C ( & =4 ¢
A R #82,525,392,000 70 ) [ #
TR AT Mo HoAth 28 A BB AR -

As at 31 December 2024, the Group guaranteed certain bank
and other loans made to joint ventures and associates of up to
RMB2,424,952,000 (2023: RMB2,525,392,000).

_FFR
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38. B Wk 5 22 5 )
(c) HLBR W O 00 AR AT 45 R

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) Outstanding balances with related parties

e~y 1! —E =
+=A=+—H +=A=+—H
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
AR T AR W¥F T
RMB’000 RMB’000
JRE sz I Wi 2 ) S EL Due from related companies
B Trade:
i 7 5 22 IR R o4 T FY Companies controlled by the ultimate
S| controlling shareholders 6,530 41,067

G A R A Companies controlled by the joint venture 27,668 -
FEG Non-trade:

B A 2 T N T Joint ventures and associates 13,008,530 13,141,690
VR Impairment (3,126,332) (2,901,693)
HEr Grand Total 9,916,396 10,281,064
JRE AT A gk /) RO Due to related companies:

B - Trade:
ot H 2 I e TR A 1) A Companies controlled by the ultimate
controlling shareholders 187,509 194,281
FE Non-trade:

B A 2 K A T Joint ventures and associates 5,188,229 5,414,503

A5t Grand total 5,375,738 5,608,784

R Wi R e 2 D R A (L Y

The movements in provision for impairment of due from

BB B DL T related companies are as follows:
2024 2023
AR¥Fx AR BFo
RMB’000 RMB’000
A —H—H R EE Carrying amount at 1 January 2,901,693 1,779,973
£ e 52 b (B BS 18 (Bff 5 6) Impairment losses recognised (note 6) 224,639 1,121,720
W H=1—HMIEHE{E Carrying amount at 31 December 3,126,332 2,901,693

IERINEKEBRAT

2 A7 Zhenro Properties Group Limited



38. B 5 22 5 #)

(©

(d)

SRR M EE
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31 December 2024

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Bl H Wi 5 9 R A &5 B (a) (¢c) Outstanding balances with related parties (Continued)
A £ AR 5% T S B R The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model
= i B B 5 B RO A AT on the amounts due from related parties, which are subject to
T Y AL 5% 5 KOE AR B impairment assessment under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
B [ B 25 e 4 o R 5 o B AT updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
B (E AL o B E B E B since initial recognition. As at 31 December 2024, the
R TR R M impairment of the amounts due from related parties was
W 5 ) B e R LR S B R RMB3,126,332,000 (31 December 2023: RMB2,901,693,000).
B i 22 AL o A & U AR T
ZH=E+— 8B BB
KEMBES AR
3,126,332,0007C ( = & = = 4F
+tZHA=+t—H: ARMW
2,901,693,0007C) °
Wi B A 8 A 36 KO g A R Except for the amounts due to joint ventures and associates of
11 3K IH N B 570,481,000 7C (— RMB70,481,000 (2023: RMB66,031,000) which are interest-
= NR %66,031,000 bearing at a rate of 5.95%, other balances are unsecured,
JC) > #5.95% KR RFE > K interest-free and repayable on demand.
fib 5% B 3 i MEHE LR - S B K
TH AR LR
AEEEEBEHAR (d) Compensation of key management personnel of the
i Group
e~y 11! - TR =
2024 2023
N AR ¥ T
RMB’000 RMB’000
55 B R B 4R A Short term employee benefits 10,901 11,985
X T B LK &AL G & F Pension scheme contributions and social
welfare 381 713
YA T EEEIABMHM Total compensation paid to key
A management personnel 11,282 12,698

ORI e O — 0 SR RO
S5 R B S

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 8

to the financial statements.

— B UFEFER
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39. &R #1505k TR
A8 90 A5 06 e T R

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

fEinF :
ZE2-MEFZH=+—H

<&l B R

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

31 December 2024

Financial assets

i i B W AR

B W 1 4 B B

Financial

assets at

amortised cost

AR¥ T

RMB’000

5 e R TR (5 21) Trade receivables (note 21) 262,670
AT AT SO - A R i sk E K Financial assets included in prepayments,

oA & EE Y /i\ﬁ B E (FfsE22) other receivables and other assets (note 22) 15,969,089

ARG Wi R gt 2 ) R I (B 5 38) Due from related companies (note 38) 9,916,396

% BR i B 4 (B 8 23) Restricted cash (note 23) 1,905,468

B AT A7 3 (F 53 23) Pledged deposits (note 23) 63,920

B4 KB & S5 E Y (M 5E23) Cash and cash equivalents (note 23) 1,215,294

st Total 29,332,837

Eof:. §ER Financial liabilities

i 4 8% B A B

W 1Y 4 B AL AR

Financial

liabilities at
amortised cost

AR ¥ T
RMB’000
M A AR (K RE1s) Lease liabilities (note 15) 6,410
B 5y WEAS R IE S M A SR A8 (B 5 24) Trade and bills payables (note 24) 16,349,689
T A L Ath B AT BIE K E T A9 42l Financial liabilicies included in other payables and
B1E (Ff gk 2s) accruals (note 25) 15,173,991
TS ERAT B A A R (B 5 27) Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (note 27) 27,827,899
8 o S UE (i 5k 28) Senior notes (note 28) 24,514,674
B j & (Kt 5k 29) Corporate bonds (note 29) 5,098,535
BMEAREI( Kﬁ #E32) Perpetual capital securities (note 32) 1,412,671
Wﬁﬁ B 5 2 m) 3k IE (B 51 38) Due to related companies (note 38) 5,375,738
At Total 95,759,607

IERINEKEBRAT
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CIRE RN SR 4R T H 39 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(#8) (Continued)
—EHZ =+ -H=+—H 31 December 2023
& E E Financial assets
152 B B LA BN TEFIA
Bl B 1Y 4 B &M EE Mgt

Financial assets

at fair value

Financial assets through profit
at amortised cost or loss Total
ARBFIL ARYFIT AR T8
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
BATEFTABSEMEM  Financial assets at fair value through
B profit or loss - 2,701 2,701
B 5 RE AR (Fff 5t 21) Trade receivables (note 21) 574,284 = 574,284
FEA TSI - HAREY  Financial assets included in prepayments,
TR JH A A 4 other receivables and other assets
%F Kﬁuizz (note 22) 17,361,685 - 17,361,685
JOE WSz 8 B s ) 2 (f 3E38)  Due from related companies (note 38) 10,281,064 = 10,281,064
5 PR i B 4 ( KH u£ 23) Restricted cash (note 23) 3,187,254 - 3,187,254
B 3K (W 5k 23) Pledged deposits (note 23) 131,395 = 131,395
B4 KB 4S5 EW (H5E23) Cash and cash equivalents (note 23) 1,716,960 = 1,716,960
st Total 33,252,642 2,701 33,255,343
4B i £ Financial liabilities
2 4 61 I A
B M 1 < il 2 £
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
AR ¥T o
RMB’000
ML A | (B E1s) Lease liabilities (note 15) 24,319
5 5 M A SR H B e A 4% (B 5E24) Trade and bills payables (note 24) 17,734,022
T A At AT I K E ST B & fl Financial liabilities included in other payables and
£ 15 ( Bﬁﬁa“EZS) accruals (note 25) 11,735,326
wh B SR AT B HAth £ 3k (K 5% 27) Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (note 27) 29,000,479
T%f'ﬁm (B 5% 28) Senior notes (note 28) 24,162,213
N Al fE SR (B 5E29) Corporate bonds (note 29) 4,953,741
K A8 AR T 5 ( [fﬁ 7E32) Perpetual capital securities (note 32) 1,391,908
JHE A5 B W 2 =] B (BfF 5 38) Due to related companies (note 38) 5,608,784
At Total 94,610,792
_FFR
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40.

Eof N N A o (W /N
15 )& %
e B AT (A 5028 - (AL 45 BB 25 10

fil T ELAh o A4 B Rl T H B0 MR T
EHEAFEWT

40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial

instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably

approximate to fair values, are as follows:

R T A AR
Carrying amounts Fair values
2024 2023 2024 2023
AR¥Fx ARWEFLT AR¥FLT AR¥FFIL
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
4l R Financial assets
AN FHFF ATE LR Financial assets at fair value
4 Rl K through profit or loss = 2,701 = 2,701
4x il £ 1R Financial liabilities
A ERAT S Al A 3K Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings 27,827,899 29,000,479 27,880,301 29,023,892
ket Corporate bonds 5,098,535 4,953,741 715,542 2,516,379
e R Senior notes 24,514,674 24,162,213 774,238 785,380
T B AT Perpetual capital securities 1,412,671 1,391,908 21,565 19,506
HE Total 58,853,779 59,508,341 29,391,646 32,345,157

EHEC A B e R e EY
C A7k~ ZIRFBL &~ B 5 e
WeEk I~ E 5 BE A K E B R A 5
%~ AT AT BOH At YR
Fo At & FE 1 < B E - wEA A
JE A5 3K TH K B R B9 & A 1R
DA % i, B ARF IR Wt 2 W) BROH B
- (B BEL RGBT (B AR o - T R R
%55 T H A9 2 30 ) IR B -

A 45 T B R P el B AR B A
o ARMESMLAAFHEFE
A I3 e AR o B S A L R 1) S
B B ME R - A Hol A &
FR P 43 B 4 Wl TR Y 5 )
P E R A Al (B AY E A B
il (L phy B 5 0 A S I o AR
R B AR R S R B &
o A A SR AT T R o
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Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, pledged deposits, restricted cash, trade receivables, trade
and bills payables, financial assets included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets, financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals, and amounts due from/to related companies
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term

maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance manager is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The finance manager
reports directly to the chief financial officer. At each reporting date,
the finance department analyses the movements in the values of
financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief
financial officer. The valuation results are discussed with the audit

committee twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used

to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings have
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using
rates currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities. The Group’s own non-performance
risk for interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as at 31

December 2024 was assessed to be insignificant.

The fair values of senior notes, perpetual capital securities and
corporate bonds, excluding Zhenro Bond V, are based on market
prices. The fair value of Zhenro Bond V has been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and

remaining maturities.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices. The fair value of unlisted fund investments is based on
the market approach by reference to quoted market prices,

maximising the use of observable market data where it is available.

_ MR
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40.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy

of the Group’s financial instruments:
Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had no financial assets

measured at fair value.

As at 31 December 2023

i LA Hg st 2 AP E
Fair value measurement using
WY HEAWBE HAARWE
ZWAE AR AR
(5% — &%) (6 —#k) (%6 = #%)
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs HEt
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
AREFIT AR¥ETFIT AR¥TILT ARKTIL
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
o5 F{E s A 25 Financial assets at fair value
1 4 il & through profit or loss = 2,701 = 2,701
AREF P X _WE+ A=+ The Group had no financial liabilities measured at fair value as at 31

— Eiitﬂﬁ1£171’“’/\¥{ﬁ%+%ﬁ@§é
AR (CF =4 )

ﬁ"zl-‘ﬁ o B — AR AR 2 [

Ay 22 V- (E w8 2 - T
EE@%E&IE%&%%E%&Z%A

B (CF =4 ) -
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December 2024 (2023: Nil).

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3
for both financial assets and financial liabilities (2023: Nil).
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:
As at 31 December 2024

6 H DA T Bk st B2 A PR

Fair value measurement using

W B EOABIE EAAW B

ZHE EOABEE K ABRE
(%8 —#%) (%8 —#%) (% =)
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs A5t
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
AR¥ T AR¥TL AR¥TT AR¥TI
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
FHEERAT L HoAth  Interest-bearing bank and
(R other borrowings - 27,880,301 - 27,880,301
NGRS Corporate bonds 591,642 123,900 - 715,542
By Senior notes 774,238 - - 774,238
KB AR S Perpetual capital securities 21,565 - — 21,565
st Total 1,387,445 28,004,201 - 29,391,646
MW_E_=ZF+_H=1T—H As at 31 December 2023
AU T EE s ' 2 AV E
Fair value measurement using
HHW Y ERABIE ERAAE
ZHRE WAEIE AR
(5 —#%) (55 —#)) (55 =#R)
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs )
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARBETT ARBFLT AR¥TT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
FHEERAT L HAth  Interest-bearing bank and
X other borrowings — 29,023,892 — 29,023,892
NGIEEE Corporate bonds 2,392,479 123,900 = 2,516,379
B Senior notes 785,380 - - 785,380
KA AT S5 Perpetual capital securities 19,506 - - 19,506
Mt Total 3,197,365 29,147,792 - 32,345,157
—BCMEER
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B i B E & Jm By o — i s o AL
P 3 L J g L R LR ST R o AR
5 OR 1R A BB AT AT 22 B 1 AT
Al T o FE g At R
S Je B LR > HARA AT -

@ ARk

A S8 B T B T A R A )
Ja\ g = 5 B B S ik 3R B RE 27
Fiv 4 09 A 45 B EE SR AT &
il £ BCA B o A< 42 Sl 4 iR
F AT AR & T B b M) 3R
B o 4R M6 F B RAT AR
A I A A o

W FZE+F A =+ —
H > i 72 B 8 3 Ath 5 & 4 FF
AN B BN SR AT A K A
R ETFHR 19 o B AR 4
A AR A BE Y R B I T A A e
DN # N R 55,317,000
JE( & =4 AR
55,880,000 JC) °

(b) b I B Bt

A 45 [ T B 22 By BN R B e
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41.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments mainly include cash and
bank balances, trade receivables, and trade and other payables, which
arise directly from its operations. The Group has other financial assets
and liabilities such as interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
senior notes, corporate notes, perpetual capital securities, financial
instruments at fair value through profit or loss, amounts with related
companies and other receivables. The main purpose of these financial

instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
Generally, the Group introduces conservative strategies on its risk
management. The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial
instruments for trading purposes. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are

summarised below.

(a) Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to risk for changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings as set out in note 27 to the financial
statements. The Group does not use derivative financial
instruments to hedge interest rate risk. The Group manages its

interest cost using variable rate bank borrowings.

As at 31 December 2024, if the interest rate of bank
borrowings had increased/decreased by 1% and all other
variables held constant, the profit before tax for the year of the
Group would have decreased/increased by approximately
RMB55,317,000 (2023: RMB55,880,000).

(b) Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arise from transactions by operating units in currencies other
than the units’ functional currencies. In addition, the Group
has currency exposures from its financial assets and senior

notes.
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the US$
and RMB exchange rates, with all other variables held constant,
of the Group’s profit before tax (arising from US$ and RMB
denominated financial instruments) and the Group’s equity (due

to changes in the fair value of forward currency contracts)

% 70 BE K B 1 i A
EFACFE) W/ (W)
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in in profit
US$ rate before tax
% AR #Fr
% RMB’000
R U4 2024
(TPNY -SSP ¥ If the RMB weakens against US$ 5% (581,643)
(PN TSP X If the RMB strengthens against US$ +5% 581,643
S 2023
(PN TS v If the RMB weakens against US$ -5% (1,200,764)
(PN ST If the RMB strengthens against US$ +5% 1,200,764

fis F Ja i

A S A SR R AT L AR T
RZHE=ZTETHE AL
BMeBRBNARBZUGSE
METHBEZREFAERR
BHEEIET o AL > BEUKIA
RBR TR AL EE > A
TR % MR 2 Ja B Sl AN K
B LR A B AR R
WatEz 2 HmE > REMRE
B LD B AR A e A
EHAEHETHEEY-

(c)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not
significant. For transactions that are not denominated in the
functional currency of the relevant operating unit, the Group
does not offer credit terms without the specific approval of the
Head of Credit Control.

B FFRK
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-
end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts

presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 December 2024

1248 A #
fr B 5 18 4 3 FEO0 4R B R
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
BB BB BB i 5 - Ei
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total

ARWEFLE ARWFLT ANRWEFT ARWFLZ ARWTL
RMB’000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB’000

2 5y W 5k TH Trade receivables = = = 262,670 262,670
FEATE A BOE Financial assets
At 105 I T included in
oA & prepayments,
4l & A other receivables
—1Ew# and other assets
— Normal 15,969,089 - - - 15,969,089
JE e B Wt /N ] 3K Due from related
companies = = = 9,916,396 9,916,396
3 PR i B 4 Restricted cash 1,905,468 - = - 1,905,468
E K41 A7 3K Pledged deposits 63,920 - - - 63,920
Bla KBl 4% {HY)  Cashand cash
equivalents 1,215,294 - - - 1,215,294
5t Total 19,153,771 - - 10,179,066 29,332,837

EFRMEREEBRAT
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(c) % FH EL FRAE (#5) (c) Credit risk (Continued)
B K\ i e A 46 P ik Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)
R B (41)
R_EFE_=F+_"_H=+—H As at 31 December 2023
121 F 78 1
5 B 2 IE R
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
HoMEER B PR FEEER i 5 12 st
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
ANRHTT ARETIE ARWETT AR¥TLT ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
B o ME W KA Trade receivables — - - 574,284 574,284
Fh A TE A FOH Financial assets
At 1 i TE B included in
HoAth ¥ E 1 prepayments, other
& & receivables and
~IE® other assets —
Normal 17,361,685 = = - 17,361,685
JE WS B Wt /A W 3K Due from related
companies = = — 10,281,064 10,281,064
7 B il B 4 Restricted cash 3,187,254 - - - 3,187,254
B & 77 3K Pledged deposits 131,395 - - - 131,395
B KB &% EY)  Cashand cash
equivalents 1,716,960 — — — 1,716,960
st Total 22,397,294 = — 10,855,348 33,252,642

ok

A% 45 [ AR % TE I A5 Bk 4R
B W (E & R 5
& S M iR T B % i
Bff 521 B 2% - M M EOKfE
F 4 R B o

i wE A TEA BT A R
e T T B H At Y <
Sl AR ) L Sl e R
HHUR 724 4 B A5 T
JE B ) R e R LA AR K R
W A ZEF e EE 2
ERERPHATIER] -

sk

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified

approach for impairment, information based on the ECLs is disclosed in

note 21 to the financial statements. There is no significant concentration

of credit risk.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other

receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal” when they are

not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial

assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

— B UFEFER
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ASE B 2 5 8 T R
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, lease liabilities,
corporate bonds, senior notes and proceeds from asset-backed
securities. Cash flows are being closely monitored on an

ongoing basis.

A5 T A R R S AR The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the
Bl B AT 3R SR B AR end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
FEAE BT undiscounted payments, is as follows:
WER 3WMAMAN 3E1R2fHH L4EM B A5t
Less than 3 to 12 Over
On demand 3 months months 1 year Total

ARWFLE ARWTFLT ANRWTFT ARWEFLZ ARWTL
RMB’000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB’000

e gl K 31 December 2024
+=—H=+—H
FHEERAT L H A Incerest-bearing bank
R and other
borrowings 24,458,511 627,054 3,644,229 1,106,536 29,836,330
UNEGIKiE s Corporate bonds 1,112,499 43,467 340,089 3,971,172 5,467,227
iR Senior notes 24,774,696 - - — 24,774,696
KA AT Perpetual capital
securities 1,750,150 - - - 1,750,150
& A E Lease liabilities - 388 1,288 5,273 6,949
Z 5 FE A 3K E L E Trade and bills
i S payables 16,349,689 - - - 16,349,689
FT A At A 3K JE Financial liabilities
H 45 Rl B 1R included in other
payables 15,737,159 3,270 175,935 1,408,582 17,324,946
JEEAST BRI B /A F] 3K JH Due to related
companies 70,481 5,309,451 = - 5,379,932
st Total 84,253,185 5,983,630 4,161,541 6,491,563 100,889,919

IERINEKEBRAT
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

R OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
(d) iﬁ ﬁjj g é? EL Fﬁ (#8) (d) Liquidity risk (Continued)
A 4R R R E W OR RS AR The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the
BT BRH Y & Rl A AR end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
FIE DA T - (8 undiscounted payments, is as follows: (Continued)
AR ESHEEER Y Please refer to note 2.1 for analysis of going concern basis of
Mro w2 WM EE2.1 o preparation.
BESR 3AMA 3=E12fA 1Lk Bt
Less than 3to12 Over
On demand 3 months months 1 year Total
ANR¥TFT ARBFLT AR¥ETT AR¥FIT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
e 31 December 2023
t+-A=+—H
AR ERAT L HoAth  Interest-bearing bank
ft 7K and other borrowings 18,161,889 4,279,476 5,273,425 3,392,174 31,106,964
N FEMES Corporate bonds 1,176,000 3,653 - 4,437,706 5,617,359
e B Senior notes 12,715,387 16,069,276 = — 28,784,663
KA E A Perpetual capital
securities 1,548,750 — — — 1,548,750
LER=K Lease liabilities —~ 6,913 9,688 12,746 29,347
B 5 BT E & Trade and bills
JRE A SR 98 payables 17,734,022 = = — 17,734,022
T A o Ath B 4F ZIE - Financial liabilicies

9 < Al B

included in other

payables 11,563,413 1,131,487 932,319 372,082 13,999,301
JRE 4F BE B 2 7] #KJE Due to related

companies 66,031 5,560,057 = = 5,626,088
BTt Total 62,965,492 27,050,862 6,215,432 8,214,708 104,446,494
e) BAREH (e) Capital management

AEEE AN EEBE
Ty PR B A 4 ) A AE 0 A
Rt EAR LRS-
DA S R 36 85 300 08 A R A
wARAL -

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its

business and maximise shareholders’ value.

— B UFEFER
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(e)

Capital management (Continued)

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net
debt divided by total equity. The Group includes, within net
debt, trade and bills payables, other payables and accruals,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, corporate bonds,
senior notes, perpetual capital securities, lease liabilities and
amounts due to related companies, less cash and cash
equivalents. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting

periods were as follows:

TR YL —E-=
+ZA=+—H +-A=t—H
31 December 31 December

2024 2023
A R ¥ Fii A R ¥F e
RMB’000 RMB’000
Z 5 MEAT I S HEAS 2298 Trade and bills payables 16,349,689 17,734,022
At JE A R E K ME S A Other payables and accruals 15,173,991 11,735,326
w1 SR AT B HoAth A 2K Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 27,827,899 29,000,479
NI Corporate bonds 5,098,535 4,953,741
B Senior notes 24,514,674 24,162,213
K AE G AT Perpetual capital securities 1,412,671 1,391,908
T £ 15 Lease liabilities 6,410 24,319
JRE A ] B ) 5 IR Due to related companies 5,375,738 5,608,784
W B e KRB ESEY Less: Cash and cash equivalents 1,215,294 1,716,960
5 5 A Net debt 94,544,313 92,893,832
HE 25 48 %8 Total equity (2,279,785) 6,151,529
AR R RS TR Capital and net debt 92,264,528 99,045,361
BEAER Gearing ratio 102% 94%
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WREoEAF—H_+—H AR
A E i BRI AE (KA AR A F]
45.73% B\ BFAT I O 19 48 B i oK)
W T A0 5R A R B R i o
HHEESEAAR BN A %
HE—HZ+—HZAHE-

RoEREZHA AR ARF
B i » 1E #E 17 2 F UL & fERoYue
Limited ([ RoYue]) [ 7 # A ° RoYue
By A% N ) PR RO (B 2 A R H
B FEA AL R B BT RO BY
43.29%) > HOBK % A B R 2 E B
B HHESHALARBRE —%
“HEZATARZAE -

42.

BTGRP aE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NE+ZA=+—H

31 December 2024

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 21 January 2025, the Company announced that Mr. OU
Zongrong (the controlling shareholder holding 45.73% of the issued
shares of the Company) was subject to constraint measures due to his
alleged breach of laws involving criminal offence. For details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 21 January 2025.

On 18 February 2025, the Company announced that proceedings to
appoint liquidators for RoYue Limited (“RoYue”) are ongoing.
RoYue is the controlling shareholder of the Company, which, as at
the date of this report, held approximately 43.29% of the total issued
shares of the Company, and is wholly-owned by Mr. OU Zongrong.
For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
18 February 2025.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ECME+ZA=+—H

31 December 2024

43, A0\ W) B R DL R 43, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY
TR AR > A B AR 2 ] BB R

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company

KMERWT - at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
—EZ YL =
2024 2023
AR¥Fx AR EFo
RMB’000 RMB’000
Ik ik B B A NON-CURRENT ASSETS
NEBERENRE Investments in joint ventures 1 1
ESN & T Property, plant and equipment 7 7
HEHIE T A = Total non-current assets 8 8
B & CURRENT ASSETS
HEe KRB E&5EY Cash and cash equivalents 2,748 2,797
TEAH R T~ L A R i R TE Prepayments, other receivables and other
HoAth ¥ assets 15,776 15,169
JRRE Wiz R Bt 2 ) K I Due from related companies 16,919 16,112
JRRE 5z A T 2 ) R I Due from subsidiaries 24,479,294 26,333,468
HAET B A Total current assets 24,514,737 26,367,546
i B A CURRENT LIABILITIES
FF R ERAT B H At £ 3K Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 1,852,767 1,824,769
At R ASS I K RE ST Orther payables and accruals 6,758,198 4,360,958
JRE ASF TR W 2 m) K Due to related companies 88,362 83,617
JREAF B ) 2 =) B IE Due to subsidiaries 2,188,056 2,158,545
B EE Senior notes 24,790,905 24,434.118
KA AT Perpetual capital securities 1,412,671 1,391,908
A B AR Total current liabilities 37,090,959 34,253,915
i B £ A NET CURRENT LIABILITIES (12,576,222) (7,886,369)
AR 7 O B AR TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES (12,576,214) (7,886,361)
£ fif 3 5 Net liabilities (12,576,214) (7,886,361)
B £ EQUITY
A Share capital 282 282
it 45 Reserves (12,576,496) (7,886,643)
O s Ak HE 55 4R RH Deficiency in assets/total equity (12,576,214) (7,886,361)
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43. A 2 w6 B 5K DL )

44.

SRR M EE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NFE+=—A=+—H

31 December 2024

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY (Continued)

Bff 5 Note:
AN AR RE R AR A summary of the Company’s equity is as follows:
REE 54 % B
Jit A% Ji Byt 161 PR B i A faft ffi 5t
Exchange
Share Share Retained fluctuation
capital premium profits reserve Total
AREFIE AR¥FIT AR¥FIr AREFLT AR¥ETFIL
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
W E =4 Balance at 1 January 2023
—H—HW4 282 3,696,478 (7,492,862) (270,283) (4,066,385)
A TN 42 T e 48 A0 A Total comprehensive
loss for the year - = (3,691,358) = (3,691,358)
i, Y B fe A Exchange fluctuation reserve = = = (128,618) (128,618)
/S S B Balance at 31 December
TZA=+—H%&  2023and 1 January 2024
—E o
—H— H &5k 282 3,696,478 (11,184,220) (398,901) (7,886,361)
A TN 42 TH e 48 A0 Total comprehensive
loss for the year — - (4,431,790) — (4,431,790)
UREIL A Exchange fluctuation reserve - - - (258,063) (258,063)
ey 11V Balance at 31 December
TZHA=Z1T—HM® 2024
#h i 282 3,696,478 (15,616,010) (656,964) (12,576,214)
11k v B4 5 R 3k 44. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL

HERERGR _F_HFE=A=+AN
FI e o Sl 452 HE 1) 5 A B B R o

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 28 March 2025.
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FIVE YEARS’ FINANCIAL SUMMARY

BRET-H=Z+—HIL&EE
Year ended 31 December

SEONE —ERoSE B oK R —H R CFE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

ANR¥FIE ANREFT ARWTLT AR¥TLE AREKETI

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

i %8 Revenue 33,416,906 38,774,935 25,895,478 36,992,368 36,126,089

R (1) /A (Loss)/Profic for the year (7,539,046) 9,485,562)  (14,617,223) 1,195,513 3,558,934

N EHER NEAS (Loss)/Profit for the year
R (EH) / T attributable to owners
of the parent (6,829,835) (8,467,942) (12,877,046) 809,005 2,650,744
wt+—HAH=+—H
As at 31 December

SRONE RS SFOFE DEFE R TE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

AR¥FIL AREFT AREEFL AR¥TLE ARKTI

RMB’000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000

FREEE Non-current assets 16,811,768 18,602,851 20,954,039 27,030,605 22,145,787

T E Current assets 96,570,399 134,584,778 173,512,253 226,811,001 199,239,714

A Total assets 113,382,167 153,187,629 194,466,292 253,841,606 221,385,501

FhE AR Non-current liabilities 6,223,813 7,638,146 6,634,440 41,365,530 51,523,998

B A Current liabilities 109,438,139 139,397,954 170,352,195 171,533,565 132,258,549

BEAE Total liabilities 115,661,952 147,036,100 176,986,635 212,899,095 183,782,547

THE 45 A0 Total equity (2,279,785) 6,151,529 17,479,657 40,942,511 37,602,954
TN AR ANELS  Total equity attributable to

HE 7 40 owners of the parent (11,207,328) (3,888,963) 4,758,934 19,354,196 19,576,267
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